
CITY OF WOODBURN 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA 
SEPTEMBER 23, 2019– 7:00 P.M. 

ERIC SWENSON, MAYOR 
DEBBIE CABRALES, COUNCILOR WARD 1 

LISA ELLSWORTH, COUNCILOR WARD II 
ROBERT CARNEY, COUNCILOR WARD III 

SHARON SCHAUB, COUNCILOR WARD IV 
MARY BETH CORNWELL, COUNCILOR WARD V 

ERIC MORRIS, COUNCILOR WARD VI 

CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS – 270 MONTGOMERY STREET 

This facility is ADA accessible. If you need special accommodation, please contact the City Recorder at 503-980-
6318 at least 24 hours prior to this meeting. 

**Habrá intérpretes disponibles para aquéllas personas que no hablan Inglés, previo acuerdo.  
Comuníquese al (503) 980-2485.** 

September 23, 2019 Council Agenda Page i 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND FLAG SALUTE

2. ROLL CALL

3. ANNOUNCEMENTS AND APPOINTMENTS

Announcements:
None.

Appointments:
None.

4. WOODBURN POLICE DEPARTMENT SWEARING-IN CEREMONY

5. 15 MINUTE BREAK

6. COMMUNITY/GOVERNMENT ORGANIZATIONS

None.

7. PROCLAMATIONS/PRESENTATIONS

Proclamations:
None.

Presentations:
None.

8. COMMUNICATIONS
None.

9. BUSINESS FROM THE PUBLIC – This allows the public to introduce items for Council
consideration not already scheduled on the agenda. Comment time will be
limited to 3 minutes.



September 23, 2019 Council Agenda Page ii 

10. CONSENT AGENDA – Items listed on the consent agenda are considered routine
and may be adopted by one motion.  Any item may be removed for discussion
at the request of a Council member.

A. Woodburn City Council minutes of September 9, 2019 1 
Recommended Action:  Approve the minutes.

B. Crime Statistics through August 2019 4 
Recommended Action: Receive the report.

11. TABLED BUSINESS

None.

12. PUBLIC HEARINGS

None.

13. GENERAL BUSINESS – Members of the public wishing to comment on items of general
business must complete and submit a speaker’s card to the City Recorder prior to
commencing this portion of the Council’s agenda.  Comment time will be limited to
3 minutes.
A. Catholic Community Services Foundation’s request to implement the

state law process for a property tax exemption for nonprofit
corporations providing low-income housing

9 

Recommended Action: Consider the request of Catholic Community
Services Foundation (CCSF) for implementation of the state law
“Local Option” process, allowing eligible nonprofit housing
organizations to apply for a property tax exemption.

B. Council Bill No. 3108 – An Ordinance adopting an updated
Transportation System Plan and associated Woodburn
Comprehensive Plan text amendments (LA 2018-01)

62 

Recommended Action: Adopt the updated Transportation System
Plan (TSP) and Associated Woodburn Comprehensive Plan text
amendments (LA 2018-01).

C. Council Bill No. 3109 –  A Resolution authorizing application for- and
acceptance of a Department of Land Conservation and
Development Technical Assistance Grant; demonstrating support for
the grant project; and authorizing the City Administrator to sign and
execute all necessary documents to that effect.

180 

Recommended Action: Adopt the Resolution authorizing staff to
apply for Technical Assistance Grant funding from DLCD for the OR
219 and Butteville Road Intersection Planning Project



September 23, 2019 Council Agenda Page iii 

D. Option to Purchase Property at 970 Cascade Drive Funded Through
the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program

184 

Recommended Action: Approve the Option to Purchase Real
Property Agreement for 970 Cascade Drive and authorize the City
Administrator to exercise the Option in the event CDBG funding is
awarded.

E. Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Love INC for 
Governance of the “Woodburn Family Resource Center” Funded
through the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program

199 

Recommended Action: Authorize the City Administration to sign the
MOU between the City and Love INC for the management of a
Woodburn Family Resource Center funded through the CDBG
program.

F. Intergovernmental Agreement with the City of Silverton for Building
Division services

216 

Recommended Action: Make a motion to authorize the City
Administrator to sign a new Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with
the City of Silverton for building inspection and plan review services.

14. PLANNING COMMISSION OR ADMINISTRATIVE LAND USE ACTIONS – These are
Planning Commission or Administrative Land Use actions that may be called up
by the City Council.

None.

15. CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT

16. MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS

17. EXECUTIVE SESSION

None.

18. ADJOURNMENT

COUNCIL GOALS 2019-2021 



September 23, 2019 Council Agenda Page iv 

         Thematic Goals 

1. Create an inclusive environment where residents participate and are engaged in the community (that is vibrant, safe 
and active).

2. Promote an environment that encourages sustainable economic health maximizing our geographic, workforce,
cultural and community assets.

              Strategic Goals 

3. Create an inclusive environment where Woodburn residents want to participate and are engaged in the community. 

4. Develop innovative funding sources to help support the completion of capital improvement projects.

5. Grow and support strategic partnerships for economic health.

6. Explore the development of a non-profit consolidation facility.

7. Improve Communication and Coordination with School District on matters of mutual interest.

8. Completion of the First Street remodel.

9. Completion of Phase 1 & 2 of the Community Center Project including the formation of an ad hoc steering committee 
to review and recommend design.

10. Creation of the Dick Jennings Community Leadership Academy.

11. Develop a strategy to limit PERS liability.

12. Establishment of a Woodburn 20 year community-visioning plan.



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
SEPTEMBER 9, 2019 

Page 1 - Council Meeting Minutes, September 9, 2019 

  
 DATE  COUNCIL CHAMBERS, CITY HALL, CITY OF WOODBURN, COUNTY OF 

MARION, STATE OF OREGON, SEPTEMBER 9, 2019 
 

CONVENED   The meeting convened at 7:01 p.m. with Mayor Swenson presiding. 
 

 ROLL CALL 
Mayor Swenson Present  
Councilor Carney Present 
Councilor Cornwell Present 
Councilor Schaub Absent 
Councilor Morris Present 
Councilor Ellsworth Present 
Councilor Cabrales Present 
 
Staff Present: City Administrator Derickson, City Attorney Shields, Police Chief Ferraris,  
Economic Development Director Johnk, Project Management Director Liljequist, Operations 
Director Stultz, Community Development Director Kerr, Human Resources Director Gregg, 
Assistant City Attorney Granum, Communications Coordinator Moore, City Recorder Pierson 

 
  

 APPOINTMENTS 
Community Center Citizens Advisory Committee 
Carney/Ellsworth… appoint Brianna Spencer. The motion passed unanimously. 

  
 WOODBURN POLICE DEPARTMENT APPOINTMENT 

Chief Ferraris introduced the City Council to Austin Solterbeck who was recently hired as the 
Support Services Manager for the police department.  
 
Mayor Swenson called for a 15-minute break.  

 
 PROCLAMATION 

Mayor Swenson read a proclamation declaring September as National Preparedness Month. 
 
 BUSINESS FROM THE PUBLIC 
 Dagmar Kinne spoke to the City Council about her efforts cleaning up Woodburn Pond and 

described the issues that she has seen there. She stated that she understands that this property 
is outside of city limits but she would like to see some sort of collaboration between the 
county, the city and the Fish and Wildlife Department.  

 
 CONSENT AGENDA  

A. Woodburn City Council minutes of August 26, 2019, 
B. Building Activity for August 2019. 
Carney/Ellsworth… adopt the Consent Agenda. The motion passed unanimously. 

  
  

1



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
SEPTEMBER 9, 2019 

Page 2 - Council Meeting Minutes, September 9, 2019 

PUBLIC HEARING 
A Public Hearing to consider input on a legislative amendment on updated Transportation 
System Plan (“TSP”) and related text amendments to the Comprehensive Plan; LA 2018-04. 
Mayor Swenson declared the hearing open at 7:35 p.m. for the purpose of hearing public input 
on a legislative amendment on updated Transportation System Plan (“TSP”) and related text 
amendments to the Comprehensive Plan; LA 2018-04. Community Development Director 
Kerr provided a staff report. Matt Hughart and Molly McCormick from Kittelson & 
Associates provided information on the Transportation System Plan update. Mayor Swenson 
asked if anyone from the public would like to speak on this subject. No members of the public 
wished to speak in either support or opposition of the legislative amendment on updated 
Transportation System Plan (“TSP”) and related text amendments to the Comprehensive Plan; 
LA 2018-04. Mayor Swenson declared the hearing closed at 7:50 p.m.  Carney/Ellsworth… 
staff prepare an ordinance adopting the TSP and incorporating related text amendments into 
the Comprehensive Plan.  
 
COUNCIL BILL NO. 3106 - A RESOLUTION INITIATING LEGISLATIVE 
AMENDMENTS TO THE WOODBURN DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE 
Community Development Director Kerr provided a staff report. Carney introduced Council 
Bill No. 3106. City Recorder Pierson read the bill by title only since there were no objections 
from the Council. On roll call vote for final passage, the bill passed unanimously. Mayor 
Swenson declared Council Bill No. 3106 duly passed. 
 

 COUNCIL BILL NO. 3107 - A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING EXECUTION OF A 
COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE CITY OF 
WOODBURN AND THE AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY, AND 
MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES (AFSCME) LOCAL 642 FOR A CONTRACT 
BEGINNING JULY 1, 2019 AND ENDING JUNE 30, 2022 

 Carney introduced Council Bill No. 3107. City Recorder Pierson read the bill by title only 
since there were no objections from the Council.  On roll call vote for final passage, the bill 
passed unanimously.  Mayor Swenson declared Council Bill No. 3107 duly passed. 

 
 WOODBURN-GERVAIS ENTERPRISE ZONE 5-YEAR TAX ABATEMENT 

AGREEMENT WITH IVANOV INVESTMENT GROUP, LLC (I & E 
CONSTRUCTION)  

 Economic Development Director Johnk provided a staff report. Carney/Ellsworth… 
authorize an agreement with Ivanov Investment Group, LLC for property tax abatement for 
Five (5) years under the Woodburn-Gervais Enterprise Zone. The motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
 CITY ADMINISTRATOR’S REPORT 
 The City Administrator reported the following:  
 

− Hispanic Heritage Month Celebration will be taking place Sunday, September 15 
and provided a flyer for the event to the City Council.  
 

− The Mayor’s monitor has been moved to be lower and he wants to see if Councilors 

2



COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 
SEPTEMBER 9, 2019 

Page 3 - Council Meeting Minutes, September 9, 2019 

prefer the lower screen.  He stated that adding the ability to view the agenda and 
packet on those screens is being considered as well.  
 

− Greeters will be taking place at City Hall on Friday, September 13.  
  
 MAYOR AND COUNCIL REPORTS 
  
 Councilor Carney stated that he is excited to see that winter is coming.  
 
 Councilor Morris asked if the agenda could be tabbed so that there is a link that takes you 

directly to a specific agenda item as well as making searchable. He added that the building 
report needed to be rotated as it was hard to read.  

  
 Councilor Ellsworth stated that she enjoyed the last City Council Meeting.  
 
 Mayor Swenson stated that the City received a letter from the Mayor in El Paso, TX thanking 

them for the City’s support after the recent tragedy there.  He added that he went on a hot air 
balloon ride over Woodburn.  

 
 ADJOURNMENT 

Morris/Ellsworth… meeting be adjourned.  The motion passed unanimously.   
The meeting adjourned at 9:18 p.m. 

 
 
APPROVED                                                            
                      ERIC SWENSON, MAYOR 

 
 
ATTEST                                                                               
               Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
               City of Woodburn, Oregon 

3



9/18/2019 Woodburn Police Department
MONTHLY ARRESTS BY OFFENSES 

2019 Year to Date

2
0
6
0

10
0
0
0
1
0
2
0
1
9
0
3
5
9
1
0
0
1
3
2
1
0
0
0

45
0
1
0
6
2
1
0
1
0
0
1
7
0
1
2
1
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
2
2

1
0
1
2
9
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
6
0

10
6
6
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

26
0
0
0
2
0
2
0
0
0
0
1
2
0
4
2
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1
0
4
0
1
0
1
0
3
0
1
0
0
8
0
3
8

13
1
2
2
0
0
3
3
1
0
0

37
1
0
1
3
1
1
0
0
5
0
0
5
0
3
2
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
1
0
0

3
1
0
0
9
1
0
0
0
0
4
0
1
5
2
5
5

16
2
0
0
0
2
1
0
0
1
1

37
0
0
0
5
0
5
0
0
1
0
0
4
0
3
0
3
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

5
0
3
0

10
0
0
1
4
0
1
0
0
5
0

14
9

10
1
1
0
0
1
2
1
0
0
0

38
0
0
1
3
2
2
0
0
2
0
2
7
0
5
5
0
0
0
1
0
1
0
0
0
0

2
0
2
0

11
0
0
0
1
1
0
0
1
3
0

13
8

23
1
0
0
1
1
1
2
2
0
0

36
0
0
0
2
2
2
1
0
0
1
4
6
0
2
1
1
0
1
0
1
2
0
0
1
0

6
2
2
0
9
0
0
1
2
0
2
1
6

10
0

12
6

22
2
4
0
1
0
4
0
0
0
0

51
0
0
0
3
1
5
0
0
1
0
4

10
0
5
4
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1
2
0
0

14
0
0
0
2
0
5
0
0
4
0

11
9

16
0
1
0
1
0
1
0
0
0
0

39
0
0
1
2
1
5
0
1
1
0
1
3
1
3
1
1
1
1
0
2
1
1
0
0
0

21
5

18
2

73
1
1
2

13
1

16
1
9

50
2

71
56

115
9
8
2
4
7

14
7
3
1
1

309
1
1
3

26
9

23
1
2

10
1

13
44

1
26
17

8
1
2
1
3
4
3
2
3
2SEX CRIME - INCEST

SEX CRIME - FORCIBLE SODOMY
SEX CRIME - EXPOSER
SEX CRIME - CONTRIBUTE TO SEX DELINQUENCY
RUNAWAY
ROBBERY - OTHER
ROBBERY - CONV.STORE
ROBBERY - CAR JACKING
ROBBERY - BUSINESS
RESTRAINING ORDER VIOLATION
RECKLESSLY ENDANDERING
RECKLESS DRIVING
PROSTITUTION - ENGAGE IN
OTHER
MOTOR VEHICLE THEFT
MINOR ON PREMISES
MINOR IN POSSESSION
KIDNAP - FOR ADDITIONAL CRIMINAL PURPOSE
INVASION OF PERSONAL PRIVACY
INTIMIDATION /OTHER CRIMINAL THREAT
IDENTITY THEFT
HIT AND RUN-MISDEMEANOR
HIT AND RUN FELONY
GARBAGE LITTERING
FURNISHING
FUGITIVE ARREST FOR ANOTHER AGENCY
FRAUD - WIRE
FRAUD - NOT SUFFICIENT FUNDS CHECK
FRAUD - CREDIT CARD/AUTOMATIC TELLER MACHINE
FRAUD - BY DECEPTION/FALSE PRETENSES
FORGERY/COUNTERFEITING
FORCIBLE RAPE
FAIL TO DISPLAY OPERATORS LICENSE
ESCAPE FROM YOUR CUSTODY
ELUDE
DWS/REVOKED-MISDEMEANOR
DRUG LAW VIOLATIONS
DRIVING UNDER INFLUENCE
DISORDERLY CONDUCT
CUSTODY - PROTECITVE
CUSTODY - MENTAL
CURFEW
CRIMINAL MISTREATMENT
CRIME DAMAGE-NO VANDALISM OR ARSON
CHILD NEGLECT
BURGLARY - RESIDENCE
BURGLARY - OTHER STRUCTURE
BURGLARY - BUSINESS
ATTEMPTED MURDER
ASSAULT SIMPLE
ARSON
ANIMAL ORDINANCES
ANIMAL CRUELTY
AGGRAVATED ASSAULT

TotalAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJanCHARGE DESCRIPTION

Page 1 of 2

4



9/18/2019 Woodburn Police Department
MONTHLY ARRESTS BY OFFENSES 

2019 Year to Date

1
0
1
1
0
0
0
1
4
5
0
2

10
18

1
1
1
1
1
0
0

0
0
0
0
1
1
0
0
1
1
1
8

11
3
1
0
0
1
0
2
1

0
1
0
0
1
0
0
0
3
0
0
7
8
9
2
2
5
1
1
1
0

0
0
0
1
0
0
0
1
0
2
0
5
7
6
0
0
1
1
1
4
0

0
0
0
0
2
0
0
0
0
1
0

12
8
7
0
1
1
0
0
3
0

0
1
1
2
0
2
0
1
0
7
0
5
4
6
0
1
1
2
1
4
0

0
1
0
0
0
1
1
1
1
1
0

13
17
12

0
1
0
0
0
3
2

0
0
0
0
0
1
1
0
2
2
0
9
8

10
2
1
2
0
0
1
0

1
3
2
4
4
5
2
4

11
19

1
61
73
71

6
7

11
6
4

18
3WEAPON - SHOOTING IN PROHIBITED AREA

WEAPON - POSSESS ILLEGAL
WEAPON - EX FELON IN POSSESSION
WEAPON - CARRY CONCEALED
VEHICLE RECOVERD FOR OTHER AGENCY
VANDALISM
UNAUTHORIZED ENTRY INTO MOTOR VEHICLE
TRESPASS
TRAFFIC VIOLATIONS
THEFT - SHOPLIFT
THEFT - PURSE SNATCH
THEFT - OTHER
THEFT - FROM MOTOR VEHICLE
THEFT - BUILDING
THEFT - BICYCLE
STOLEN PROPERTY - RECEIVING,BUYING,POSSESSING
STALKER
SEX CRIME - SEXUAL ASSAULT WITH AN OBJECT
SEX CRIME - OTHER
SEX CRIME - NON-FORCE RAPE
SEX CRIME - MOLEST (PHYSICAL)

TotalAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJan

178 115 157 146 172 174 231 172 1,3452019 Total
TotalAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJan

187 111 138 136 147 101 162 155 11372018 Total
135 169 176 166 164 143 152 155 12602017 Total

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

2017 2018 2019

1,260 1,137
1,345

Year

A
rr

es
ts

Arrests / Year

Page 2 of 2

5



Woodburn Police Department
MONTHLY CRIMINAL OFFENSES 

2019 Year to Date

9/18/2019

3
0
3
1

12
0
2
2
8
0

16
1
1

10
0
3
5
9
1
1
0
1
1
0
2
9
0
2
3
0
0
1
0

27
0
1
1

23
6
1
0
1
0
0

19
8

20
6
3
2
0
2
2
0
0
0
0

4
0
1
2
8
0
1
1
2
0

14
0
0
6
0
6
7
7
1
1
0
0
0
0
1
2
0
5
2
0
0
0
0

18
0
0
1
8
5
0
0
0
0
0

18
6

12
3
4
2
0
6
3
0
0
0
0

2
0
3
0
7
0
1
3
5
0

15
0
0
9
0
5
8

15
1
1
2
0
0
0
1
7
0
6
2
0
0
0
0

28
1
0
1

13
3
1
0
0
2
0

25
13

8
7
4
0
0
3
0
0
0
0
0

4
1
0
0

14
1
0
1
6
0

10
0
1
5
1
5
5
9
2
2
0
0
0
0
3
3
0
2
2
0
1
0
0

26
0
0
0

19
3
6
0
0
1
0

21
9

12
5
2
0
0
5
3
0
0
0
0

5
1
2
0

13
0
3
4

14
0

15
0
0
5
0

11
9

11
1
1
0
0
0
0
4
4
0
4
0
0
0
1
0

29
1
0
3

19
4
2
1
0
1
0

23
15
12

9
1
0
0
6
1
1
0
1
1

4
0
1
0

18
0
2
1
7
2

18
0
1
3
0

12
8

14
0
0
0
0
1
0
1
4
0
4
5
0
0
1
0

31
0
0
0

15
2
3
0
0
0
1

29
21
21

7
4
0
0
2
2
0
1
0
1

6
3
2
0

12
0
0
2
7
0

14
1
2

10
0
9
6

22
2
3
0
0
1
0
1
8
1
2
2
1
0
0
0

40
0
0
1

16
1
2
0
0
1
0

13
6

15
11

3
0
0
7
1
0
2
0
0

3
1
0
1

17
0
2
3
5
1

16
0
0
4
0

15
9

12
0
1
0
0
1
1
3
3
1
3
2
0
0
1
1

25
0
0
0

15
8
7
0
2
1
0

19
11
16

3
3
1
1
3
1
1
0
0
1

31
6

12
4

101
1

11
17
54

3
118

2
5

52
1

66
57
99

8
10

2
1
4
1

16
40

2
28
18

1
1
4
1

224
2
1
7

128
32
22

1
3
6
1

167
89

116
51
24

5
1

34
13

2
3
1
3

AGGRAVATED ASSAULT
ANIMAL CRUELTY
ANIMAL ORDINANCES
ARSON
ASSAULT SIMPLE
ATTEMPTED MURDER
BURGLARY - BUSINESS
BURGLARY - OTHER STRUCTURE
BURGLARY - RESIDENCE
CHILD NEGLECT
CRIME DAMAGE-NO VANDALISM OR ARSON
CRIMINAL MISTREATMENT
CURFEW
CUSTODY - MENTAL
CUSTODY - PROTECITVE
DISORDERLY CONDUCT
DRIVING UNDER INFLUENCE
DRUG LAW VIOLATIONS
DWS/REVOKED-MISDEMEANOR
ELUDE
ESCAPE FROM YOUR CUSTODY
EXPLOSIVES
FAIL TO DISPLAY OPERATORS LICENSE
FAILURE TO REGISTER AS SEX OFFENDER
FORCIBLE RAPE
FORGERY/COUNTERFEITING
FRAUD - ACCOUNT CLOSED CHECK
FRAUD - BY DECEPTION/FALSE PRETENSES
FRAUD - CREDIT CARD/AUTOMATIC TELLER MACHINE
FRAUD - IMPERSONATION
FRAUD - NOT SUFFICIENT FUNDS CHECK
FRAUD - OF SERVICES/FALSE PRETENSES
FRAUD-OTHER
FUGITIVE ARREST FOR ANOTHER AGENCY
FURNISHING
GARBAGE LITTERING
HIT AND RUN FELONY
HIT AND RUN-MISDEMEANOR
IDENTITY THEFT
INTIMIDATION /OTHER CRIMINAL THREAT
INVASION OF PERSONAL PRIVACY
KIDNAP - FOR ADDITIONAL CRIMINAL PURPOSE
MINOR IN POSSESSION
MINOR ON PREMISES
MISCELLANEOUS
MOTOR VEHICLE THEFT
NON CRIMINAL DOMESTIC DISTURBANCE
OTHER
PROPERTY - FOUND LOST MISLAID
PROPERTY RECOVER FOR OTHER AGENCY
PROSTITUTION - ENGAGE IN
RECKLESS DRIVING
RESTRAINING ORDER VIOLATION
ROBBERY - BUSINESS
ROBBERY - CAR JACKING
ROBBERY - CONV.STORE
ROBBERY - OTHER

TotalAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJanCHARGE DESCRIPTION

Page 1 of 2 6



Woodburn Police Department
MONTHLY CRIMINAL OFFENSES 

2019 Year to Date

9/18/2019

0
0
0
1
2
1
2
1
1
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0

25
2

14
1
1

12
11

8
3

16
5
1
1
1
1

0
1
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
0
0
1
1
0
1
2
1

18
2
7
1
1

14
6
6
0
8
3
1
0
0
3

0
1
0
0
0
0
1
2
0
0
1
1
0
0
0
5
0

27
1

16
1
0

22
11
10

2
13

5
1
1
1
1

0
3
0
1
0
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
0
0
6
3
1
8
1

24
0
0

21
8
8
1

12
3
1
1
4
0

0
4
0
0
0
0
2
1
0
3
0
2
0
0
8
1
0

15
3

23
1
2

24
9

12
0

17
2
0
0
3
1

1
5
0
0
0
0
2
0
0
0
0
0
1
0
1
4
1

14
2

29
0
1

17
6

14
1

13
6
2
1
5
1

0
0
1
1
0
0
2
1
0
0
0
0
2
0
3
1
2

10
1

19
0
0

20
19
13

1
15

0
0
0
1
4

0
2
1
1
1
0
1
1
0
0
0
0
1
1
3
0
0

19
3

17
0
1

16
11
15

2
20

0
1
0
3
2

1
16

2
4
3
1

11
6
1
3
2
4
5
1

23
16

5
136

15
149

4
6

146
81
86
10

114
24

7
4

18
13

ROBBERY - RESIDENCE
RUNAWAY
SEX CRIME - CONTRIBUTE TO SEX DELINQUENCY
SEX CRIME - EXPOSER
SEX CRIME - FORCIBLE SODOMY
SEX CRIME - INCEST
SEX CRIME - MOLEST (PHYSICAL)
SEX CRIME - NON-FORCE RAPE
SEX CRIME - OTHER
SEX CRIME - PORNOGRAPHY/OBSCENE MATERIAL
SEX CRIME - SEXUAL ASSAULT WITH AN OBJECT
STALKER
STOLEN PROPERTY - RECEIVING,BUYING,POSSESSING
SUICIDE
THEFT - BICYCLE
THEFT - BUILDING
THEFT - COIN OP MACHINE
THEFT - FROM MOTOR VEHICLE
THEFT - MOTOR VEHICLE PARTS/ACCESSORIES
THEFT - OTHER
THEFT - PICKPOCKET
THEFT - PURSE SNATCH
THEFT - SHOPLIFT
TRAFFIC VIOLATIONS
TRESPASS
UNAUTHORIZED ENTRY INTO MOTOR VEHICLE
VANDALISM
VEHICLE RECOVERD FOR OTHER AGENCY
WEAPON - CARRY CONCEALED
WEAPON - EX FELON IN POSSESSION
WEAPON - POSSESS ILLEGAL
WEAPON - SHOOTING IN PROHIBITED AREA

TotalAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJan

322 292 355 317 330 307 317 321 2,5612017 Total

409 284 317 342 316 309 311 308 2,5962018 Total

330 235 325 297 371 374 352 346 2,6302019 Total  
TotalAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJan

0

400

800

1200

1600

2000

2400

2800

2017 2018 2019

2,561 2,596 2,630

YEAR

O
F

F
E

N
S

E
S

Offenses / Year

Page 2 of 2 7



Woodburn Police Department
ORDINANCE VIOLATIONS 

2019 Year to Date

9/18/2019

38

0

66

2

1

34

0

141

29

1

39

0

0

30

0

99

44

0

50

1

2

51

0

148

36

0

34

0

1

45

0

116

50

2

18

6

2

40

87

205

38

0

48

2

1

74

34

197

48

1

38

1

0

68

17

173

80

0

51

4

4

60

8

207

363

4

344

16

11

402

146

1,2862019 Total 

Ordinance - Tall Grass

Ordinance - Oth Violation

Ordinance - Land Use Violations

Ordinance - Abate Graffiti

Ordinance - Abandoned Vehicles

Ordiinance - Abate/Nuisances

Animal Complaint

TotalAugJulJunMayAprMarFebJanOrdinance Discription

176 133 156 182 223 167 140 205 1,3822018 Total

94 126 176 177 290 284 175 170 1,4922017 Total   

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

2017 2018 2019

1,312
1,182 1,067

COMBINED TOTAL - CODE ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS

V
IO

L
A

T
IO

N
S

Ordinance Violations / Code Enforcement Officers

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

2017 2018 2019

1,492 1,382 1,286

YEAR TOTALS FOR ALL OFFICERS

V
IO

L
A

T
IO

N
S

Ordinance Violations / Year

1
8



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator _X_____ City Attorney ____X__ Finance ___X__ 

 September 23, 2019 
 
TO:  Honorable Mayor and City Council 
 
FROM: Scott Derickson, City Administrator 

N. Robert Shields, City Attorney 
 
SUBJECT: Catholic Community Services Foundation’s request to implement the state 

law process for a property tax exemption for nonprofit corporations 
providing low-income housing 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 

Consider the request of Catholic Community Services Foundation (CCSF) for 
implementation of the state law “Local Option” process, allowing eligible nonprofit 
housing organizations to apply for a property tax exemption.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
 

Over the course of several months, City staff, the Mayor and the Council President 
have been discussing CCSF’s proposal that the City of Woodburn adopt the state law 
Local Option, allowing Woodburn nonprofit affordable housing organizations to apply 
for and receive a local property tax exemption. CCSF’s proposal is now advancing to 
the City Council for presentation and consideration.  
 
Attached are the following Exhibits submitted by CCSF:  
 

Exhibit 1 - A letter, dated August 27, 2019, from CCSF requesting that the   
             City of Woodburn adopt the state law Local Option, allowing   
                 nonprofit organizations to apply for property tax exemption for   
                 low income housing units; 
 
Exhibit 2 - A one-page Overview of Villa Esperanza;  
 
Exhibit 3 - A two-page summary of Historical and Current Data regarding CCSF    
                 and the Fostering Hope Initiative; 
 
Exhibit 4 - City of Eugene Code implementing the state law Local Option; and 
 
 
Exhibit 5 - City of Salem Enabling Ordinance (Ordinance Bill No. 29-17)  
                 implementing the state law Local Option.   

 

9



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
September 23, 2019 
Page 2 
 
 
In addition to the Exhibits submitted by CCSF, staff believes that the following Exhibits 
would be helpful to the City Council:   
 

Exhibit 6 - City of Salem Property Tax Exemption Application Form (Sample)   
 
Exhibit 7 - City of Salem Resolution Approving Property Tax Exemptions (Sample) 
 
Exhibit 8 - City of Salem Staff Report Regarding Property Tax Exemptions (Sample) 
 

Exhibit 9 - ORS 307.540 to ORS 307.548 
 

DISCUSSION: 
 

ORS 307.540 to ORS 307.548 
 
In 1985, the Oregon legislature enacted the Nonprofit Corporation Low Income 
Housing Tax Exemption “Local Option” process (ORS 307.540 to ORS 307.548; see 
attached Exhibit 9).  Although there have been modifications over the last 35 years, 
something that has remained consistent is that implementation of this tax exemption 
requires the exercise by the City of a state law “Local Option.” The state law Local 
Option can be exercised by the adoption of an Enabling Ordinance allowing eligible 
nonprofits to apply for a property tax exemption.  
 
Key Provisions of ORS 307.540 to ORS 307.548 
 
The state law (ORS 307.540 to ORS 307.548) can be summarized as follows:   
 

• The statute is applicable to cities and counties (ORS 307.540 (1)). 
• What constitutes “low income” is specified in the statute (ORS 307.540 (2)). 
• The statute now “sunsets” (ceases to exist) in 2029. 
• State mandated criteria are specified for the exemption (ORS 507.541). 
• The exemption only applies to the City’s tax levy unless taxing districts whose 

governing boards agree to the policy of exemption under ORS 307.540 to 
307.548, when combined with the City of Woodburn’s rate of taxation, equal 51 
percent or more of the total combined rate of taxation on the property. In this 
situation, the exemption shall apply to the tax levy of all taxing districts. 

• The corporation seeking the exemption must file an application for exemption 
for each tax year showing it meets the criteria (ORS 307.545).      

 
Enactment and Application of an Enabling Ordinance 
 
If the City Council decides it wants to implement the state law Local Option, in 
accordance with the CCSF proposal, the first step would be to direct staff to draft an 

10



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
September 23, 2019 
Page 3 
 
 
Enabling Ordinance.  The City of Salem Enabling Ordinance is straightforward and 
could be used as a model (see Exhibit 5).  If the City Council were to enact an 
Enabling Ordinance, this ordinance would constitute “municipal legislation” that must 
be applied fairly and evenly to all qualifying nonprofit providers of low income 
housing. The Enabling Ordinance would establish specified requirements (based upon 
the state statute) for any eligible nonprofit housing organization to meet. If the 
organization met the requirements, then it would be entitled to receive a property tax 
exemption.  The only discretion provided to the City Council is whether the applicant 
has met the criteria or not.  
 
Councilors should know that future nonprofit housing organizations who construct new 
properties or acquire existing properties, would be eligible to apply for and receive a 
property tax exemption if they meet established criteria. For instance, the Economic 
and Community Development staff has met with representatives of a nonprofit 
housing organization that is proposing approximately 285 units of affordable housing in 
Woodburn. This project is in the preliminary phase and no land use application has yet 
been filed.  However, should it come to fruition, it would likely be eligible for a property 
tax exemption under the Local Option process. 
 
Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs):  
 
Since understanding the property tax exemption process can be challenging, staff 
believed that including some FAQs could be helpful. 
 
Question 1:  What is the applicable process under state law for the City Council to 
grant a property tax exemption for a nonprofit corporation providing low-income 
housing? 
 
Answer:  If the City Council decides to implement this tax exemption under the Local 
Option provided by state law, the City must first adopt an Enabling Ordinance with 
certain mandatory provisions (ORS 307.540 to 307.548). Deciding to draft an Enabling 
Ordinance is a policy decision for the City Council.  Staff would draft an Enabling 
Ordinance if a majority of the City Council voted to do this.    
 
Question 2:  What provisions would an Enabling Ordinance contain?   
 
Answer:  If a majority of the City Council makes the policy decision to proceed with an 
Enabling Ordinance, staff recommends using the City of Salem ordinance (see Exhibit 
5) as a model. It is straightforward and consistent with the state law.   
 
Question 3:  Would an Enabling Ordinance govern the tax exemption for a particular 
property?   

11



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
September 23, 2019 
Page 4 
 
 
 
Answer:  Yes, in the sense that the provisions of the Enabling Ordinance (and the state 
law) govern eligibility for a property tax exemption.  However, both the Enabling 
Ordinance and ORS 307.545 require that the corporation seeking the property tax 
exemption file an application.  If the property tax exemption application is granted by 
the City, the City Council would pass a resolution specifying the real property where 
the exemption applies. 
 
Question 4:  Would the property tax exemption for a specific property automatically 
be renewed for the next tax year? 
 
Answer:  No.  As mentioned, the applicable statute requires that each property tax 
exemption be requested one tax year at a time.  To comply with the statute, the City 
of Salem Enabling Ordinance requires that the nonprofit corporation annually certify to 
the City that it continues to qualify for the exemption.   
   
Question 5:  If an Enabling Ordinance is enacted, how are the other taxing districts 
affected?   
 
Answer:  This is specifically answered by ORS 307.543.  The exemption provided by the 
Enabling Ordinance only applies to the tax levy of the City of Woodburn, unless taxing 
districts whose governing boards agree to the policy of exemption under ORS 307.540 
to 307.548, when combined with the City of Woodburn’s rate of taxation, equal 51 
percent or more of the total combined rate of taxation on the property. In this 
situation, the exemption shall apply to the tax levy of all taxing districts. 
  
Question 6:  Can the property tax exemption be specifically conditioned by the City 
Council so that the rent of tenants in low-income housing is reduced or will the 
exemption just benefit the nonprofit corporation? 
 
Answer: No. The qualifying nonprofit corporation is the recipient of the property tax 
exemption pursuant to the state statute.  The City cannot legally require the nonprofit 
corporation to reduce tenant rent.    
 
Question 7:  Is it possible for the City Council to grant a property tax exemption for only 
a certain percentage of the tax due? 
 
Answer:  No.  Pursuant to the state law, a property tax exemption (for the entire 
amount of City tax) must be granted or denied.   
 

12



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
September 23, 2019 
Page 5 
 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Currently, CCSF operates Villa Esperanza, a 16 unit multi-family affordable housing 
complex located in Woodburn.  According to CCSF, Villa Esperanza’s current property 
tax bill totals is $1,824.65 with the City of Woodburn property tax allocation being 
$548.71. This is based on a Marion County Property Tax Assessment created prior to 
CCSF improvements of approximately $2 million. CCSF estimates that their new 
assessed value will increase their annual property tax costs to upwards of $25,000 
annually. Because a new appraised value and property tax assessment has not yet 
occurred, the exact future property tax liability associated with Villa Esperanza is not 
yet known.  
 
Additionally, if an Enabling Ordinance were enacted by the City Council, it is likely that 
other nonprofit housing entities (such as the 285 unit project mentioned above) could 
be granted property tax exemptions.  The future financial impact of the property tax 
exemptions for these other qualified entities cannot yet be calculated.   
 
 

13



Exhibit 1

14



Exhibit 1 
Page 1 of 2

15



Exhibit 1 
Page 2 of 2

16



Exhibit 2

17



Exhibit 2 
Page 1 of 1

18



Exhibit 3

19



Exhibit 3 
Page 1 of 2

20



Exhibit 3 
Page 2 of 2

21



Exhibit 4

22



Exhibit 4 
Page 1 of 4

23



Exhibit 4 
Page 2 of 4

24



Exhibit 4 
Page 3 of 4

25



Exhibit 4 
Page 4 of 4

26



Exhibit 5

27



Exhibit 5 
Page 1 of 7

28



Exhibit 5 
Page 2 of 7

29



Exhibit 5 
Page 3 of 7

30



Exhibit 5 
Page 4 of 7

31



Exhibit 5 
Page 5 of 7

32



Exhibit 5 
Page 6 of 7

33



Exhibit 5 
Page 7 of 7

34



Exhibit 6

35



Exhibit 6 
Page 1 of 14

36



Exhibit 6 
Page 2 of 14

37



Exhibit 6 
Page 3 of 14

38



Exhibit 6 
Page 4 of 14

39



Exhibit 6 
Page 5 of 14

40



Exhibit 6 
Page 6 of 14

41



Exhibit 6 
Page 7 of 14

42



Exhibit 6 
Page 8 of 14

43



Exhibit 6 
Page 9 of 14

44



Exhibit 6 
Page 10 of 14

45



Exhibit 6 
Page 11 of 14

46



Exhibit 6 
Page 12 of 14

47



Exhibit 6 
Page 13 of 14

48



Exhibit 6 
Page 14 of 14

49



Exhibit 7

50



Exhibit 7 
Page 1 of 2

51



Exhibit 7 
Page 2 of 2

52



Exhibit 8

53



Exhibit 8 
Page 1 of 2

54



Exhibit 8 
Page 2 of 2

55



Exhibit 9

56



Exhibit 9 
Page 1 of 5

57



Exhibit 9 
Page 2 of 5

58



Exhibit 9 
Page 3 of 5

59



Exhibit 9 
Page 4 of 5

60



Exhibit 9 
Page 5 of 5

61



Page - 1 -  Council Bill No. 3108 
    Ordinance No. 2575 
 

 COUNCIL BILL NO. 3108 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2575 
 

AN ORDINANCE ADOPTING AN UPDATED TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PLAN AND 
ASSOCIATED WOODBURN COMPREHENSIVE PLAN TEXT AMENDMENTS (LA 2018-
04) 

 
WHEREAS, ORS 197.175 requires cities to prepare, adopt and implement 

Comprehensive Plans consistent with statewide planning goals adopted by the 
Land Conservation and Development Commission; and 

  
WHEREAS, Oregon Statewide Planning Goal 12 requires cities, counties 

and the state to create a transportation system plan that takes into account all 
relevant modes of transportation: mass transit, air, water, rail, highway, bicycle 
and pedestrian; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City applied for and received a grant from the State’s 

Transportation and Growth Management Program to complete an update to 
the City’s Transportation System Plan (“TSP”) with associated Comprehensive 
Plan text amendments; and   

 
WHEREAS, on August 9, 2019, the Planning Commission in conformance 

with WDO 4.01.09B. and 4.01.10B. held a public hearing and recommended 
approval of the TSP and certain text amendments to the Comprehensive Plan; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, on September 9, 2019, the City Council held a public hearing, 

reviewed the record, accepted testimony and requested this Ordinance 
effecting the amendment (LA 2018-04); NOW, THEREFORE, 
 

THE CITY OF WOODBURN ORDAINS AS FOLLOWS: 
 

Section 1.  The Woodburn Transportation System Plan (September 2019) is 
hereby adopted as an element of the City’s Comprehensive Plan as provided 
in Exhibit A which is attached hereto and incorporated herein.   
 

Section 2.   The former Woodburn Transportation System Plan (October 
2005) is hereby repealed and replaced.  

 
Section 3. The Comprehensive Plan is amended as specified in Exhibit B 

which is attached hereto and incorporated herein.   
 

62



Page - 2 -  Council Bill No. 3108 
    Ordinance No. 2575 
 

Section 4. For purposes of the Comprehensive Plan amendment (See 
Exhibit B), all new text is shown as underline (i.e. new text) and all deleted text is 
shown as stricken (i.e. deleted text). After this ordinance amendment is 
adopted, the Community Development Director shall correct the 
Comprehensive Plan to incorporate all revisions contained herein.  
 

Section 5.  The legislative action taken by the Ordinance is explained and 
justified by the Findings and Analysis in Exhibit C which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein. 

 
 
Approved as to form:      
 City Attorney  Date 
 
 
 Approved:   
  Eric Swenson, Mayor 
 
Passed by the Council   

 

Submitted to the Mayor   

Approved by the Mayor   

Filed in the Office of the Recorder   

 
ATTEST:   
  Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
  City of Woodburn, Oregon 
 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

63



Exhibit A

64



Transportation System Plan

FINAL | SEPTEMBER 2019

Exhibit A 
Page 1 of 102

65



Exhibit A 
Page 2 of 102

66



WOODBURN 
TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM 

PLAN 

Prepared For: 
City of Woodburn 
270 Montgomery Street 
Woodburn, Oregon 97071 
(503) 982-5246

Prepared By: 
Kittelson & Associates, Inc. 
851 SW 6th Avenue, Suite 600 
Portland, OR 97204 
(503) 228-5230

FINAL 
September 2019 

This Project is partially funded by a grant from the Transportation and Growth Management 
(“TGM”) Program, a joint program of the Oregon Department of Transportation and the Oregon 

Department of Land Conservation and Development. This TGM grant is financed, in part, by 
federal Fixing America’s Surface Transportation Act (“FAST Act”), local government, and the State 
of Oregon funds. 

The contents of this document do not necessarily reflect views or policies of the State of Oregon. 

Exhibit A 
Page 3 of 102

67



Acknowledgements 
The development of the Woodburn Transportation System Plan was guided by the Project 
Management Team (PMT) a Technical Advisory Committee, and a volunteer Citizen Advisory 
Committee (CAC). The City of Woodburn would like to thank each of these individuals who 
devoted their time, expertise, and insight into the development of the plan. 

Project Management Team (PMT) 

⚫ Chris Kerr, City of Woodburn

⚫ Eric Liljequist, P.E., City of Woodburn

⚫ Michael Duncan, ODOT

Citizens Advisory Committee (CAC) 

⚫ Dawn Cole – Estates Officer

⚫ Mark Hester – Business Representative

⚫ Kari Pankey – Parks Board

⚫ Charlie Piper – Planning Commission Chairperson

⚫ Sharon Schaub – City Councilor

⚫ Peter Skei – Industrial Property Representative

⚫ Sheryl Southwell – Industrial Property Representative

⚫ Elias Villegas – Chemeketa College

⚫ John Zobrist - Citizen

Consultant Team Members 

⚫ Matt Hughart, AICP, Kittelson & Associates, Inc.

⚫ Molly McCormick, Kittelson & Associates, Inc.

⚫ Julia Kuhn, P.E., Kittelson & Associates, Inc.

⚫ Adrienne DeDona, JLA Public Involvement

⚫ Clinton “CJ” Doxsee, Angelo Planning Group

⚫ Darci Rudzinski, AICP, Angelo Planning Group

Exhibit A 
Page 4 of 102

68



Table of Contents 
INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................................................... 9 

WHY CREATE A TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PLAN?....................................................................................................... 9 

WOODBURN 2019 ..................................................................................................................................................... 9 

TSP UPDATE PROCESS............................................................................................................................................... 13 

TSP ORGANIZATION ................................................................................................................................................. 14 

SETTING THE VISION FOR WOODBURN’S TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM ....................................................... 17 

GOALS AND OBJECTIVES ........................................................................................................................................... 17 

MOTOR VEHICLE SYSTEM ................................................................................................................................ 23 

FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM ....................................................................................................................... 23 

ROADWAY PLAN ...................................................................................................................................................... 29 

FREIGHT PLAN ........................................................................................................................................................... 37 

TRAFFIC SAFETY PLAN ................................................................................................................................................ 41 

LOCAL STREET CONNECTIVITY PLAN .......................................................................................................................... 42 

TRANSIT SYSTEM ................................................................................................................................................ 47 

EXISTING TRANSIT SERVICE ......................................................................................................................................... 47 

TRANSIT PLAN PROJECTS AND PROGRAMS ................................................................................................................ 51 

PEDESTRIAN SYSTEM ......................................................................................................................................... 57 

PEDESTRIAN FACILITIES ............................................................................................................................................... 57 

PEDESTRIAN PLAN PROJECTS ..................................................................................................................................... 59 

BICYCLE SYSTEM ............................................................................................................................................... 71 

BICYCLE FACILITIES .................................................................................................................................................... 71 

BICYCLE PLAN PROJECTS .......................................................................................................................................... 73 

OTHER TRAVEL MODES ..................................................................................................................................... 81 

TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS (TSMO) PLAN ............................................................ 81 

RAIL PLAN ................................................................................................................................................................. 85 

AIR TRANSPORTATION ............................................................................................................................................... 85 

MARINE TRANSPORTATION ........................................................................................................................................ 85 

PIPELINE .................................................................................................................................................................... 85 

FUNDING............................................................................................................................................................ 89 

FUNDING PROGRAMS AND REVENUE ........................................................................................................................ 89 

PLANNED TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM COST SUMMARY ............................................................................................... 91 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS ....................................................................................................................................... 95 

Exhibit A 
Page 5 of 102

69



List of Tables 
TABLE 1: FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION COMPARISON BY JURISDICTION ....................................................................... 27 

TABLE 2: ROADWAY PLAN PROJECTS ............................................................................................................................ 31 

TABLE 3: TRAFFIC SAFETY PROJECTS .............................................................................................................................. 41 

TABLE 4: TRANSIT PLAN.................................................................................................................................................. 51 

TABLE 5: PEDESTRIAN PLAN PROJECTS .......................................................................................................................... 60 

TABLE 6: BICYCLE PLAN PROJECTS ................................................................................................................................ 73 

TABLE 7: TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT PROGRAM STRATEGIES ............................................................... 82 

TABLE 8: LAND USE PROJECTS ....................................................................................................................................... 83 

TABLE 9: ACCESS MANAGEMENT PROJECTS ................................................................................................................. 84 

TABLE 10: RAIL PROJECTS ............................................................................................................................................. 85 

TABLE 11: CITY OF WOODBURN REVENUE HISTORY ....................................................................................................... 89 

TABLE 12: POTENTIAL GRANT SOURCES AND PARTNERING OPPORTUNITIES ................................................................... 90 

TABLE 13: POTENTIAL NEW FUNDING SOURCES FOR CONSIDERATION BY THE CITY OF WOODBURN .............................. 90 

TABLE 14: PLANNED TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM COST SUMMARY................................................................................... 91 

Exhibit A 
Page 6 of 102

70



List of Figures 
FIGURE 1: REGIONAL MAP............................................................................................................................................ 11 

FIGURE 2: FUNCTIONAL ROADWAY CLASSIFICATION ..................................................................................................... 24 

FIGURE 3: ROADWAY PLAN PROJECTS .......................................................................................................................... 35 

FIGURE 4: FREIGHT ROUTES ........................................................................................................................................... 39 

FIGURE 5: TRAFFIC SAFETY PROJECTS ............................................................................................................................ 43 

FIGURE 6: LOCAL STREET CONNECTIVITY ....................................................................................................................... 44 

FIGURE 7: EXISTING TRANSIT FACILITIES .......................................................................................................................... 49 

FIGURE 8: PEDESTRIAN PLAN PROJECTS ........................................................................................................................ 67 

FIGURE 9: BICYCLE PLAN PROJECTS ............................................................................................................................. 77 

 

 

 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 7 of 102

71



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 8 of 102

72



 
 
  

1INTRODUCTION 
Why Create a Transportation System Plan? 

Woodburn 2019 
TSP Update Process 

TSP Organization 

Exhibit A 
Page 9 of 102

73



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 10 of 102

74



INTRODUCTION 

WHY CREATE A TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM PLAN? 
The Woodburn Transportation System Plan (TSP) is a long-range plan that sets the vision for the 
city’s transportation system, facilities and services to meet state, regional, and local needs for 
the next 20 years. The TSP was developed through community and stakeholder input and is 
based on the system’s existing needs, opportunities, and anticipated available funding. The plan 

also serves as the Transportation Element of the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan. The purpose of 
the 2019 TSP update is to address regulatory changes that have occurred in the region since the 
previous 2005 TSP, as well as to provide an updated list of projects to address local transportation 
needs and deficiencies. 

  

Pedestrians in Downtown Woodburn Playground Located Along the Existing 
Section of Mill Creek Greenway 

The TSP addresses compliance with new or amended Federal, State, and local plans policies, 
and regulations including the Oregon Transportation Plan (OTP), the State’s Transportation 

Planning Rule (TPR), the Oregon Highway Plan (OHP), and presents the investments and priorities 
for the Pedestrian, Bicycle, Transit, and Motor Vehicle System. 

WOODBURN 2019 
As shown in Figure 1, the City of Woodburn lies in the Willamette Valley in Marion County, 
approximately 30 miles south of Portland and approximately 20 miles north of Salem. Initially 
starting as land purchased for a tree nursery, construction of the railroad led to rapid 
development and incorporation as a city in 1889. Further growth occurred as additional tracks 
and I-5 were constructed. Based on information from the Portland State University Population 
Research Center (PRC), Woodburn has an estimated 2016 population of 24,795 people, 
comprising 7.4% of Marion County’s 333,950 residents. The community is known for its tourism, 
local events, and young and diverse population. Big attractions include the Woodburn Premium 
Outlets, several golf courses, Tulip Festival, Fiesta Mexicana, and the Woodburn Dragstrip with 
over 4.5 million visitors to the area each year.   

Exhibit A 
Page 11 of 102

75



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 12 of 102

76



ß/26

Woodburn

Adair Village

Albany

Amity

Aumsville

Aurora

Barlow

Canby

Carlton

Dallas

Detroit

Donald

Dundee
Estacada

Gates

Gervais

Idanha

Independence

Jefferson

Keizer

Lafayette

Lyons

McMinnville

Mill City

Millersburg

Molalla

Monmouth

Newberg

Salem

Scio

St. Paul

Sublimity
Turner

Hubbard

Mt. Angel

Scotts Mills

Oregon
City

Wilsonville

Stayton

Dayton

Silverton

vÍÎ99W

vÍÎ213

vÍÎ22

vÍÎ226

vÍÎ233

vÍÎ221

vÍÎ99E vÍÎ173

vÍÎ51

vÍÎ224vÍÎ219

vÍÎ99EB

vÍÎ47

vÍÎ154

vÍÎ551

vÍÎ211

vÍÎ194

vÍÎ153

vÍÎ164

vÍÎ223

vÍÎ18

vÍÎ214

§̈¦5

Woodburn TSP Update September 2019

¯

Figure

1

H:
\21

\21
07

1 -
 W

oo
db

urn
 TS

P U
pd

ate
\gi

s\T
SP

\01
 R

eg
ion

al 
Ma

p.m
xd

 - m
mc

co
rm

ick
 -  

5:2
4 P

M 
9/1

6/2
01

9

Coordinate System: NAD 1983 Oregon Statewide Lambert Feet Intl
Data Source: City of Woodburn

Regional Map
Woodburn, Oregon

Marion County

Exhibit A 
Page 13 of 102

77



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

Exhibit A 
Page 14 of 102

78



TSP UPDATE PROCESS 
The TSP update process began with a review of local, regional, and statewide plans and policies 
that guide land use and transportation planning in the city. Goals and objectives were then 
developed collaboratively with the project’s Citizens Advisory Committee (CAC) to guide the 
evaluation of the existing and future transportation system conditions as well as the 
development of planned improvements. An inventory of the multimodal transportation system 
was conducted to serve as the basis for the existing and future conditions analyses. The existing 
and future condition analyses focused on identifying gaps and deficiencies in the multimodal 
transportation system based on current and forecast future performances. For each gap and 
deficiency, a solution, or set of potential solutions, was identified to address the system needs. 
The solutions were then evaluated to determine the preferred solutions, which were prioritized 
through the public involvement process and organized into planned project lists. The 
culmination of the TSP update process is this document, which presents the plans and solutions 
identified to address the existing and future gaps and deficiencies in the city’s transportation 

system. 

Committees 
The project team developed the TSP update in close coordination with city staff, along with 
representatives from the local community. One formal committee, referred to as the Citizens 
Advisory Committee (CAC), had a significant role in the TSP update process. The CAC consisted 
of local residents with an interest in transportation. The CAC provided technical guidance and 
coordination throughout the project. CAC members reviewed and commented on technical 
memorandums and participated in committee meetings and community meetings. The CAC 
served as the voice of the community and the caretakers of the goals and objectives of the TSP 
update. 

Public Involvement 
The Woodburn TSP is the result of a collaboration among various public agencies, the 
community, and the project team of city staff, Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT), 
and consultants. The public involvement process consisted of continuous face-to-face 
interactions at multiple events. These events included three drop-in style and three on-line open 
houses spaced over the course of key project milestones. A detailed summary of the open 
house outreach methods and feedback is provided in the technical companion document to 
the TSP. At the deliverable level, the project was supported by Citizens Advisory Committee 
(CAC) made up of interested citizens, business representatives, and Planning Commission 
members. 

 

Exhibit A 
Page 15 of 102

79



  
Open House #1  Open House #1  

  
Open House #3  Open House #3  

TSP ORGANIZATION 
The Woodburn TSP is comprised of the main TSP summary document (Volume I) and a volume of 
supporting technical appendices and other supporting documentation (Volume II). Volume I 
(this document) is organized into the following sections: 

⚫ Chapter 1 – Introduction 

⚫ Chapter 2 – Setting The Vision for Woodburn’s Transportation System 

⚫ Chapter 3 – Motor Vehicle System 

⚫ Chapter 4 – Transit System 

⚫ Chapter 5 - Pedestrian System  

⚫ Chapter 6 – Bicycle System 

⚫ Chapter 7 – Other Travel Modes 

⚫ Chapter 8 – Funding and Implementation Outline 

⚫ Chapter 9 – Glossary of Terms 

Volume II (under separate cover) contains the technical memorandums prepared during the 
development of the TSP including the detailed data and technical analyses that informed the 
plan.   

Exhibit A 
Page 16 of 102

80



  

2 THE VISION FOR TRANSPORTATION 
Setting the Vision for Woodburn’s Transportation System 

Goals and Objectives 
 

Exhibit A 
Page 17 of 102

81



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 18 of 102

82



SETTING THE VISION FOR WOODBURN’S 

TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM 
Setting a vision for a city’s transportation system is an essential first step in maintaining the existing 

system and establishing the framework to accommodate potential growth. The public 
involvement process for the TSP provided a forum for the community to express their vision for 
the future of Woodburn’s transportation network. The community advisory committee and other 

community members expressed a desire for a transportation system that maintains community 
livability, enhances existing transportation infrastructure, increases safety for all users, and 
provides a framework for potential growth. 

GOALS AND OBJECTIVES 
The project team developed goals and objectives for the TSP update to help guide the review 
and documentation of the preferred future Woodburn transportation system. As described in 
Technical Memorandum #6: Preferred Alternatives, the goals and objectives through a range of 
evaluation criteria that were applied to select preferred alternatives and priority rankings among 
the identified projects. In compliance with state, regional, and local planning requirements, the 
goals and objective below emphasize a multimodal system that supports all modes and users.   

Goal 1 – Multimodal Mobility 

Provide a multimodal transportation system that avoids or reduces a reliance on one form of 
transportation and minimizes energy consumption and air quality impacts. 

Objective 1A 

Develop an expanded intracity bus transit system that provides added service and route 
coverage to improve the mobility and accessibility of the transportation disadvantaged 
and to attract traditional auto users to use the system. 

Objective 1B 

Develop a plan for providing travel options between Woodburn and Portland or Salem, 
including intercity bus service and potential bus/carpool park-and-ride facilities. 

Objective 1C 

Develop a comprehensive low stress network of bicycle lanes and routes that link major 
activity centers such as residential neighborhoods, schools, parks, commercial areas, 
and employment centers. 

Exhibit A 
Page 19 of 102

83



Objective 1D 

Develop a comprehensive network of sidewalks and off-street pathways that improve 
pedestrian mobility within neighborhoods and link residential areas to schools, parks, 
commercial areas, and employment centers. 

Objective 1E 

Maintain adequate intersection and roadway capacity on the key east-west and north-
south arterials. 

Goal 2 – Connectivity 

Provide an interconnected street system that is adequately sized to accommodate existing and 
projected traffic demands in the Woodburn area. 

Objective 2A 

Verify and Incorporate the relevant strategies and infrastructure projects from the existing 
TSP, I-5/OR 214 IAMP, and 99E Refinement Plan 

Objective 2B 

Identify new east-west and north-south collector/minor arterial streets within the City to 
relieve traffic demands on Oregon 219/214, 211, and 99E, and coordinate with Marion 
County to construct the street connections needed outside of the urban growth 
boundary (UGB). 

Objective 2C 

Develop updated street design standards for arterials, collectors, and local streets. 

Goal 3 – Safety 

Provide a transportation system that enhances the safety and security of all transportation 
modes in the Woodburn area. 

Objective 3A 

Address existing and potential future safety issues by identifying high collision locations 
and locations near schools or with a history of fatal, severe injury, and/or 
pedestrian/bicycle-related crashes and developing strategies to address those issues. 

Exhibit A 
Page 20 of 102

84



Objective 3B 

Identify street and railroad crossings in need of improvement, as well as those that should 
be closed or relocated. 

Objective 3C 

Develop a plan for designated truck routes through the City, and a plan to handle truck 
and rail hazardous cargoes 

Goal 4 – Strategic Investment 

Provide a financially sustainable transportation system through responsible stewardship of assets 
and financial resources. 

Objective 4A 

Identify new and innovative funding sources for transportation improvements 

Objective 4B 

Preserve and maintain the existing transportation system assets to extend their useful life. 

Goal 5 – Land Use and Transportation Integration 

Review and update land use standards and ordinances to create a balanced built environment 
where existing and planned land uses are supported by an efficient multi-modal transportation 
system. 

Objective 5A 

Identify a range of potential Transportation Demand Management (TDM) strategies that 
can be used to improve the efficiency of the transportation system by shifting single-
occupant vehicle trips to other modes and reducing automobile reliance at times of 
peak traffic volumes. 

Objective 5B 

Identify revisions to the Woodburn Zoning Ordinance for compliance with the 
Transportation Planning Rule 

 

 

 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 21 of 102

85



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 22 of 102

86



 
 

  

3 MOTOR VEHICLE SYSTEM 
Functional Classification System 

Roadway Plan 
Freight Plan 

Traffic Safety Plan 
Local Street Connectivity Plan 

 

Exhibit A 
Page 23 of 102

87



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 24 of 102

88



MOTOR VEHICLE SYSTEM  
Streets serve a majority of all trips within Woodburn across all travel modes. In addition to 
motorists in private vehicles, pedestrians, bicyclists, and public transit riders use streets to access 
areas locally and regionally. This section summarizes the updated functional classification 
system, roadway plan, freight plan, safety plan, and local street connectivity plan that make up 
Woodburn’s motor vehicle system.  

FUNCTIONAL CLASSIFICATION SYSTEM 
A street’s functional classification defines its role in the transportation system and reflects desired 
operational and design characteristics such as right-of-way requirements, pavement widths, 
pedestrian and bicycle features, and driveway (access) spacing standards.  

Figure 2 illustrates the functional classification of streets within Woodburn, which includes the 
following designations as defined by the current Woodburn TSP: 

⚫ Freeways – The primary function of the interstate is mobility, because freeways connect 
major cities, regions within Oregon, and other states, and serve as major freight routes. 
The freeway should provide “safe and efficient high-speed continuous flow.” The 

freeway has full access control with access limited to the interchange. Only motorized 
vehicle traffic is served. 

⚫ Major Arterials – Primary functions are to serve local and through traffic as it enters and 
leaves the urban area, connect Woodburn with other urban centers and regions, and 
provide connections to major activity centers within the UGB. Emphasis should be on 
traffic flow, pedestrian and bicycle movements. On-street bicycle lanes and sidewalks 
should be provided.  

⚫ Minor Arterials – Primary functions are to connection major activity centers and 
neighborhoods within the UGB and to support the major arterial system. Minor arterials 
should have a higher degree of access, shorter trip lengths, lesser traffic volumes, and 
lower travel speeds than major arterials. Like major arterials, emphasis should be on 
traffic flow, pedestrian and bicycle movements. On-street bicycle lanes and sidewalks 
should be provided. 

⚫ Service Collector - Primary function is to provide connections between neighborhoods 
and major activity centers and the arterial street system. Some degree of access is 
provided to adjacent properties, while maintaining circulation and mobility for all users. 
Service collectors carry lower traffic volumes at slower speeds than major and minor 
arterials. On-street bicycle lanes and sidewalks should be provided.  

 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 25 of 102

89



⚫ Access Streets – Primary function is to connect residential neighborhoods with service 
collectors or arterials. On-street parking and access to adjacent properties is prevalent. 
Slower speeds should be provided to ensure community livability and safety for 
pedestrians and cyclists. In many cases, cyclists can “Share the road” with motor 

vehicles because of low traffic volumes and speeds. Sidewalks or pathways should be 
provided for pedestrians. 

⚫ Local Streets – Primary function is to provide direct access to adjacent land uses. Short 
roadway distances, slow speeds, and low traffic volumes characterize local streets. 
Cyclists can share the road with motor vehicles. Sidewalks or pathways should be 
provided for pedestrians. 

 

 

Table 1 summarizes the functional classifications of the major arterial, minor arterial, and service 
collector streets within Woodburn and identifies the overlapping ownership/maintenance and 
jurisdictional relationships that exist.  

The functional classifications used in local TSPs should be consistent with other regional planning 
efforts. As shown in Table 1, there are several streets that currently have conflicting 
classifications. 

  

  

School Bus Woodburn Public Library 

Exhibit A 
Page 26 of 102

90



§̈¦5

vÍÎ99E

vÍÎ219

vÍÎ99E
vÍÎ219

vÍÎ214 vÍÎ211

vÍÎ214

TRAC
YL

N

CA
NBYLP

MILL ST

RYE ST

KOI LN

VERA LN

HIGH
ST

PLUM LN

N 2N
D ST

STARK ST

IDAHO DR

BR
YA

N 
ST

TULIP AV

HI
GHW

AY
 9

9E
 H

Y

OATS ST

RAILROAD

OR
EGON LP

JORY ST

OGLE
 S

T

HA
W

LE
Y 

STEL
AN

A 
W

Y

C A
S

C
A

D
E

DR

S M

IT
H

DR

DE
ER

R
UN

C
H

ATE
A

U
D

R

OXFORD ST

JANSEN WY

TU

RNBERRY AV

TU KWILA DR

ROY
AV

NAT
IO

NAL
 W

Y

AZTEC DR

SANTIAM DR

CAMAS ST

W
IL

LO
W

AV

S
A

LL
A

L 
R

D
W

HITNEY LN

HA
ZE

LN
U

T
D

R

S
T A

N
FI

E
LD

R
D

JAMES
ST

BLAINE ST

E
V

ER
G

RE
EN

R
D

GEORGE ST

MCNAUGHT RD

KIN
G W

Y

TOMLIN AV

W
O

R
K

M
A

N
D

R

MCKINLEY ST

KOENER RD

G
RE

EN
VIE W

DRN 3R
D ST

LAUREL AV

HO OPER ST

LE
AR

Y 
RD

EL
M

S
T

E C
LA

C
K

A
M

A
S

C
R

M
C

LA
U

G
H

LI
N

D
R

N 1S
T S

T

EAST LINCOLN RD

W
C

L A
C

K
A

M
AS

CR

ELLIOTT PRAIRIE RD

COMMERCE W
Y

SERRES LN

S
C

A
S

C
A

D
E

D
R

EAST HARDCASTLE RD

B
O

O
N

E
S

 F
E

R
R

Y 
R

D

GESCHWILL LN

S
 C

O
LU

M
B

IA
 D

R

219

DIMMICK LN

STAFNEY LN

MOLALLA RD

U
N

IO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
D

FR
ONT S

T

AR
N

E
Y 

R
D

MEADOW DR

CROSBY RD

B
U

TT
E

V
IL

LE
 R

D

INGALLS LN

PARR RD

JENSEN RD

BELLE PASSI RD

CARL RD

WILCO HY

A
R

B
O

R
G

R
O

V
E

R
D

LE BRUN RD

BROW
N S

T

PA
R

K 
AV

HARRISON ST

AS
TO

R
W

Y

W
HAYES ST

OR
E

G
O

N
W

Y

LINCOLN ST

TUKWILA DR

N 5T
H S

T

E CLEVELAND ST

G
AT

CH
S

T

HAZELNUT DR

HARDCASTLE AV

COOLE
Y R

D

ST
U

BB
 R

D

WOODLAND AV

STA
CY

ALL
IS

ON
W

Y

PROGRESS W
Y

S P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

MT HOOD AV

WILCO HY

NEWBERG HY

N P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

PA
RR

RD

N FR
ONT S

T

E BLAINE ST

A 
ST

HI
GHW

AY
99

E
HY

FR
ONT S

T

JUDY ST

RYE ST

TIE

R
RA

LY
NN

DR

U
M

PQ
U

A 
R

D

CARL RDEAGLE DR

JANSEN WY

STARK ST

TULIP AV

T E N
O

AK
S

LN

MIL LER
FA

R
M

R
D

M
ER

ID
IA

N
DR

BU
T T

E
VI

L L
E

R
D

SM
IT

H
D

R

SA
LL

AL
 R

D

W
IL

LO
W

AV

W LINCOLN ST

VANDERBECK LN

ALEXANDRAAV JU
NE

 W
Y

BOONES
FE

RRY RD

MYRTLE ST

PA
NA S

T

COUNTRY CLUB RD

KING WY

PR
IN

CE
TO

N
R

D

MAYANNA D R

IRO NWOOD TR

LE
AR

Y 
RD

HERMANSON
ST

N 6T
H S

T

MOLALLA RD

A

R NEY LN

N 1S
T S

T

N 2N
D S

T

REED AV

HIGH
ST

ST LOUIS
RD

CROSBY RD

M
O

U
NT

AI
N 

VI
EW

 L
N

DIMMICK LN

LINFIELD AV

KOI LN

UNIO
N SCHOOL R

D

OGLE
 S

T

EAST LINCOLN RD

OATS ST

BLY
LP

JORY ST

AR
BO

R
 G

R
O

VE
 R

D

R
O

YAV

CAMAS ST

WHITN EY
LN

GEORGE ST

KOENER

RD

219

RA
N

DO
LP

H
R

D

HOOP ER ST

AL
SEA LP

EL
M

 S
T

WCL
A

CK
AM

A
S

CR
AR

N
EY

 R
D

SERRES LN

S
CA

S
CA

DE
DR

GESCHWILL LN

S 
C

O
LU

M
BI

A 
D

R

STAFNEY LN

INGALLS LN

JENSEN RD

BELLE PASSI RD

LE BRUN RD

W HAYES ST

WOODLAND AV

LINCOLN ST

B
RO

W
N

S
T

G
AT

C
H

ST

PARR RD

E CLEVELAND ST

HARDCASTLE AV

ST
ACY

AL
LIS

ON
W

Y

ARNE Y RD

COOLE
Y 

RD

AS
TO

R
 W

Y

PROGRESS W
Y

ST
U

B
B 

R
D

BO
ON

ES
FE

RR
Y R

D

YOUNG ST

N FRONT ST

S S
ET

TL
EM

IER
AV

S FRONT ST

EV
ER

GREEN RD

N
SE

TT
LE

MI
ER

AV

MT HOOD AV N P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

MOLALLA RD
BU

TT
EV

ILL
E R

D

S P
ACIF

IC 
HY

vÍÎ219

§̈¦5

Woodburn TSP Update September 2019

¯

Figure

2

Existing Roadway 
Freeway

Major Arterial

Minor Arterial

Service Collector

Access Street

Future Roadway
Future Major Arterial

Future Minor Arterial

Future Service Collector

Future Access Street

Future Local Industrial

City Boundary

Urban Growth Boundary

H:
\21

\21
07

1 -
 W

oo
db

urn
 TS

P U
pd

ate
\gi

s\T
SP

\02
 Fu

nc
tio

na
l R

oa
dw

ay
 C

las
sif

ica
tio

n.m
xd

 - m
mc

co
rm

ick
 -  

5:2
5 P

M 
9/1

6/2
01

9

Coordinate System: NAD 1983 HARN StatePlane Oregon North FIPS 3601 Feet Intl
Data Source: City of Woodburn, Oregon Department of Transportation

Functional Roadway Classification
Woodburn, Oregon

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 Feet

Note: Future roadway alignments are approximate and subject to further refinement.

Exhibit A 
Page 27 of 102

91



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

Exhibit A 
Page 28 of 102

92



Table 1: Functional Classification Comparison by Jurisdiction 

Roadway Jurisdiction 

Functional Classification 
Consistent 
between 

Jurisdictions? Woodburn 
Marion 
County Federal 

Butteville Road  
(north of OR 219 and south of OR 219) 

County Minor Arterial 
Major 

Collector 
Major 

Collector 
No 

Butteville Road  
(segment where aligned with OR 219) 

ODOT Minor Arterial  Minor Arterial Yes 

OR 219 (Butteville Road to Woodland 
Avenue) 

ODOT Major Arterial  Minor Arterial No 

OR 219 (Woodland Avenue to I-5) ODOT Major Arterial  
Principal 
Arterial 

No 

Woodland Avenue City Access Street  
Major 

Collector 
No 

Arney Road City/Private 
Service 

Collector 
 

Major 
Collector 

No 

I-5 ODOT Freeway  Interstate Yes 

OR 214 (I-5 to OR 99E) ODOT Major Arterial  
Principal 
Arterial 

Yes 

OR 214 (OR 99E to UGB east limits) ODOT Major Arterial  Minor Arterial No 

Stacy Allison Way City 
Service 

Collector 
 Local No 

Center Street City 
Service 

Collector 
 Local No 

Evergreen Road (OR 219 to Boean 
Lane) 

City Minor Arterial  
Major 

Collector 
No 

Evergreen Road (Boean Lane to end 
of road) 

City Minor Arterial  Local No 

Harvard Drive City Access Street  Local No 

Stubb Road County Access Street 
No 

Designation 
Local No 

Parr Road County/City 
Service 

Collector 
Major 

Collector 
Major 

Collector 
No 

Hayes Street City 
Service 

Collector 
 

Major 
Collector 

No 

Oregon Way City Access Street  
Major 

Collector 
No 

Astor Way City Access Street  
Major 

Collector 
No 

Country Club Road City Access Street  
Major 

Collector 
No 

Boones Ferry Road/Settlemier Avenue  
(north of Parr Road) 

County/City Minor Arterial Arterial Minor Arterial Yes 

Boones Ferry Road/Settlemier Avenue  
(south of Parr Road) 

County/City Minor Arterial 
Major 

Collector 
Minor Arterial Yes 

Exhibit A 
Page 29 of 102

93



Roadway Jurisdiction 

Functional Classification 
Consistent 
between 

Jurisdictions? Woodburn 
Marion 
County Federal 

Tukwila Drive City Access Street  
Major 

Collector 
No 

Hazelnut Drive City Access Street  
Major 

Collector 
No 

5th Street City Access Street  
Major 

Collector 
No 

Harrison Street City 
Service 

Collector 
 

Major 
Collector 

No 

Lincoln Street County/City 
Service 

Collector 
Local 

Major 
Collector 

No 

Garfield Street City Minor Arterial  Minor Arterial Yes 

Young Street City Minor Arterial  Minor Arterial Yes 

Cleveland Street City 
Service 

Collector 
 

Major 
Collector 

No 

Front Street City Minor Arterial  Minor Arterial Yes 

Industrial Avenue City 
Service 

Collector 
 

Major 
Collector 

No 

Progress Way City 
Service 

Collector 
 

Major 
Collector 

No 

OR 211 ODOT Major Arterial  Minor Arterial Yes 

Park Avenue City Access Street  
Major 

Collector 
No 

Hardcastle Avenue County/City 
Service 

Collector 
No 

Designation 
Major 

Collector 
No 

Gatch Street City Access Street  
Major 

Collector 
No 

Brown Street City 
Service 

Collector 
 

Major 
Collector 

No 

OR 99E  
(north of OR 214 and south of Young 
Street) 

ODOT Major Arterial  Minor Arterial No 

OR 99E (segment where aligned with 
OR 214) 

ODOT Major Arterial  
Principal 
Arterial 

No 

Cooley Road County 
Service 

Collector 
Local 

Major 
Collector 

No 

Roadway Cross-section Standards  
A functional classification system as shown in Figure 2  has to work together with roadway cross-
section standards to allow for standardization of key characteristics within roadway 
classifications while also providing some flexibility based on context. A roadway’s cross-section 
and design will vary between streets and between segments based on adjacent land uses and 
demands, but the overall street network should also be considered. The Woodburn 

Exhibit A 
Page 30 of 102

94



Development Ordinance Section 3.01.041 contains the current roadway cross-sections standards 
for the city that work together with the identified functional classification system shown in Figure 
2.  

ROADWAY PLAN 

Roadway Facilities 
The roadway facility types that are currently utilized or that are recommended through the 
roadway plan projects are described below.  

Turn Lanes 

Separate left- and right-turn lanes, as well as two-way left-turn lanes (TWLTL) can provide 
separation between slowed or stopped vehicles waiting to turn and through vehicles. The design 
of turn lanes is largely determined based on a traffic study that identifies the storage length 
needed to accommodate vehicle queues. Turn lanes are commonly used at intersections where 
the turning volumes warrant the need for separation. 

Traffic Signals 

Traffic signals allow opposing streams of traffic to proceed in an alternating pattern. National 
and state guidance indicates when it is appropriate to install traffic signals at intersections. When 
used, traffic signals can effectively manage high traffic volumes and provide dedicated times in 
which pedestrians and cyclists can cross roadways. Because they continuously draw from a 
power source and must be periodically re-timed, signals typically have higher maintenance 
costs than other types of intersection control. Signals can improve safety at intersections where 
signal warrants are met, however, they may result in an increase in rear-end crashes compared 
to other solutions. Signals have a significant range in costs depending on the number of 
approaches, how many through and turn lanes each approach has, and if it is located in an 
urban or rural area. The cost of a new traffic signal ranges from approximately $250,000 in rural 
areas to $500,000 in urban areas. 

Signal Timing/Phasing Modifications 

Signal retiming and optimization offers a relatively low-cost option to increase system efficiency. 
Retiming and optimization refers to updating timing plans to better match prevailing traffic 
conditions and coordinating signals. Timing optimization can be applied to existing systems or 
may include upgrading signal technology, such as signal communication infrastructure, signal 
controllers, or cabinets. Signal retiming can reduce travel times and be especially beneficial to 
improving travel time reliability. In high pedestrian or desired pedestrian areas, signal retiming 
can facilitate pedestrian movements through intersections by increasing minimum green times 
to give pedestrians time to cross during each cycle, which may create additional delay for other 

1 https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo 

Exhibit A 
Page 31 of 102

95

https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo


intersection users. Signals can also facilitate bicycle movements with the inclusion of bicycle 
detectors. 

Signal upgrades often come at a higher cost than signal timing and phasing modifications and 
usually require further coordination between jurisdictions. However, upgrading signals provides 
the opportunity to incorporate advanced signal systems to further improve the efficiency of a 
transportation network. Strategies include coordinated signal operations across jurisdictions, 
centralized control of traffic signals, adaptive or active signal control, and transit or freight signal 
priority as further described in the Transportation System Management and Operations (TSMO) 
section. These advanced signal systems can reduce delay, travel time, and the number of stops 
for transit, freight, and other vehicles. In addition, these systems may help reduce vehicle 
emissions and improve travel time reliability. 

Roundabouts 

Roundabouts are circular intersections where entering vehicles yield to vehicles already in the 
circle. They are designed to slow vehicle speeds to 20 to 30 mph or less before they enter the 
intersection, which promotes a more comfortable environment for pedestrians, bicyclists, and 
other non-motorized users. Roundabouts have fewer conflict-points and have been shown to 
reduce the severity of crashes, as compared to signalized intersections. Roundabouts can be 
more costly to design and install when compared to other intersection control types, but they 
have a lower operating and maintenance cost than traffic signals. Topography must be 
carefully evaluated in considering a roundabout, given that slope characteristics at an 
intersection may render a roundabout infeasible. The cost of a new roundabouts ranges from 
approximately $2 million to $4 million depending upon the number of lanes and the slope 
conditions. 

 

 

Traffic Signal 

 

Roundabout 

Through Lanes 

When the demand per lane on a roadway segment has reached saturation, a potential solution 
is to construct additional through lanes. Although this theoretically adds capacity to the corridor, 

Exhibit A 
Page 32 of 102

96



added lanes can allow latent demand from the system to show an increase in demand. Added 
lanes may also create induced demand where drivers see that roadway as less of a barrier with 
its increased capacity, drawing in additional new demand and potentially maintaining or 
worsening the rate of congestion. 

When a roadway does not have a consistent number of travel lanes per direction along a 
corridor, an added through lane may provide a consistent cross-section allowing for less 
weaving by vehicles traveling the corridor.  

Roadway Plan Projects 
The projects developed for the roadway plan are summarized in Table 2 and shown in Figure 3. 
These projects are intended to address existing and projected future transportation system 
needs for motor vehicles as well as all other modes of transportation that depend on the 
roadway system for travel, such as pedestrians, bicyclists, transit users, and truck freight. 

Table 2: Roadway Plan Projects 

Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate2 

R1 

Southern OR 
219/Butteville 
Road 
Intersection 

State/ 
County  

Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Enhanced traffic control (traffic signal, 
roundabout, or other appropriate geometric 
enhancements) in coordination with ODOT 

High  $2,750,000 

R2 
OR 219 from 
Butteville Road 
to Willow Road 

State Street design 

Widen roadway to include two lanes in each 
direction and a two-way left-turn lane (in 
conjunction with pedestrian and bicycle 
facility improvements) in coordination with 
ODOT 

High 

 $1,700,000  
(Cost 

includes B1 
and P1) 

R3 
OR 214 from 
Cascade Drive 
to OR 99E 

State Street design 

Widen roadway to include two lanes in each 
direction and a two-way left-turn lane, 
including changes to signal timing as 
appropriate, in coordination with ODOT (and 
in conjunction with bicycle facility 
improvements) 

Medium 

 
$20,300,000  

(Cost 
includes B2)  

R4 
OR 99E from 
Lincoln Street to 
south UGB 

State Street design 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan, widen roadway to provide a 
continuous two-way left-turn lane and wider 
shoulders, including changes to signal timing 
as appropriate, in coordination with ODOT 
(and in conjunction with pedestrian and 
bicycle facility improvements) 

Medium 

 
$12,300,000 

(Cost 
includes B3, 
B4, P3, and 

P4) 

R5 

Parr Road from 
western UGB to 
western City 
Boundary  

County Street design 
Upgrade to Service Collector urban 
standards including bicycle and pedestrian 
enhancements 

Low 

 $01  
(Project 
includes 
B21 and 

P15) 

R6 
Butteville Road 
from OR 219 to 
southern UGB 

County Street design 
Upgrade to Minor Arterial urban standards 
including bicycle and pedestrian 
enhancements 

Low 

$01  
(Project 

includes B7 
and P6) 

Exhibit A 
Page 33 of 102

97



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate2 

R7 

Brown Street 
from Comstock 
Avenue to end 
of roadway 

City Street design 
Upgrade to Service Collector urban 
standards including bicycle and pedestrian 
enhancements 

Low 

$01  
(Project 
includes 

P20) 

R8 

OR 214/I-5 
Southbound 
Ramp 
Intersection 

State 
Traffic signal 
timing 

Investigate corridor signal timing and 
coordination adjustments in coordination 
with ODOT 

Medium  $15,000 

R9 

OR 214/I-5 
Northbound 
Ramp 
Intersection 

State 
Traffic signal 
timing 

Investigate corridor signal timing and 
coordination adjustments in coordination 
with ODOT 

Medium  $15,000 

R10 

OR 
214/Evergreen 
Road 
Intersection 

State 
Traffic signal 
timing 

Investigate corridor signal timing and 
coordination adjustments in coordination 
with ODOT 

Medium  $15,000 

R11 

OR 214/Oregon 
Way/Country 
Club Road 
Intersection 

State 
Traffic signal 
timing 

Investigate corridor signal timing and 
coordination adjustments in coordination 
with ODOT 

Medium  $15,000 

R12 
OR 214/Front 
Street Ramp 
Intersection 

State Traffic control 

Install intersection capacity improvement 
such as traffic signal (if warranted), turn 
lanes, or roundabout in coordination with 
ODOT 

Medium  $1,000,000 

R13 
OR 214/Park 
Street 
Intersection 

State Traffic control 

Install intersection capacity improvement 
such as traffic signal (if warranted), turn 
lanes, or roundabout in coordination with 
ODOT 

Medium  $1,000,000 

R14 
OR 214/OR 
211/OR 99E 
Intersection 

State  
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Install a second left-turn lane on the 
southbound approach, install a second 
receiving lane on the east leg, and update 
signal timing in coordination with ODOT 

Medium  $900,000 

R15 

Parr Road/ 
Settlemier 
Avenue 
Intersection 

City Traffic control 
Install intersection capacity improvement 
such as traffic signal (if warranted), turn 
lanes, or roundabout 

Low  $500,000 

R16 

OR 
99E/Hardcastle 
Avenue 
Intersection 

State 
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Reconfigure the westbound approach to 
incorporate one left-turn lane and one thru-
right turn lane in coordination with ODOT 

Medium  $50,000 

R17 
OR 99E/Lincoln 
Street 
Intersection 

State 
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Install a shared through-right turn lane on the 
eastbound approach and reconfigure the 
existing approach lane as a separate left-
turn lane in coordination with ODOT 

Medium  $500,000 

R18 
OR 99E/Young 
Street 
Intersection 

State 
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan, install a third westbound lane to 
provide separate left, thru, and right turn 
lanes in coordination with ODOT. Implement 
protected-permissive left-turn phasing on the 
eastbound and westbound approaches.   

Medium  $550,000 

Exhibit A 
Page 34 of 102

98



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate2 

R19 

OR 
99E/Cleveland 
Street 
Intersection 

State Traffic control 

Install intersection capacity improvement 
such as traffic signal (if warranted), turn 
lanes, or roundabout in coordination with 
ODOT. Consideration should be given to 
railroad preemption and the proximity to the 
signalized intersection at OR 99E and Young 
Street.  

Medium  $1,000,000 

R20 Ben Brown Lane City New roadway 
Extend Ben Brown Lane to Evergreen Road 
as an Access Street  

Medium  $5,100,000  

R21 Evergreen Road City New roadway Extend south to Parr Road High  $4,750,000  

R22 Stacy Allison 
Way 

City New roadway Extend south to UGB Medium  $7,300,000  

R23 Brown Street City New roadway Extend south to the South Arterial Medium  $800,000  

R24 Woodland 
Avenue 

City New roadway Extend west to Butteville Road  Medium  $2,450,000  

R25 

East-west 
Connection in 
Southwest 
Woodburn  

City New roadway 
Construct a new Local Industrial Street 
connecting the southern extensions of Stacy 
Allison Way and Evergreen Road 

Medium  $1,800,000   

R26 

Stubb Road 
from Harvard 
Drive to Parr 
Road 

County 
Street design 
and new 
roadway 

Upgrade the existing roadway to Access 
Street standards and extend north to 
Harvard Drive including bicycle and 
pedestrian enhancements 

Medium  $1,900,000   

R27 

North-south 
Connection in 
Southwest 
Woodburn 

City New roadway 
Construct a new Access Street connecting 
Hayes Street to Stubb Street 

Medium  $5,150,000   

R28 

OR 
99E/Industrial 
Avenue 
Intersection 

State/City 
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Evaluate the intersection layout, control, 
signing, and striping, including any sight 
distance constraints in coordination with 
ODOT 

Medium  $100,000   

R29 South Arterial City New roadway 
Construct the Southern Arterial from 
Evergreen Road to OR 99E (2 lanes) 

Medium 
 

$12,250,000 

R30 
Woodland 
Avenue Curve 
Modification 

City 
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Modify the intersection layout to address 
truck turning movement constraints 

Medium $100,000 

R31 

George 
Street/Hillsboro 
Silverton 
Highway 
Intersection 

State/City 
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan, close vehicular access to George 
Street from Hillsboro Silverton Highway when 
future local street access is provided to the 
east  

Medium $60,000 

TOTAL High Priority Costs $9,200,000 

TOTAL Medium Priority Costs $74,670,000 

TOTAL Low Priority Costs $500,000 

TOTAL Program Costs (20 years) $84,370,000 

1. Project to be funded by others 

2. The cost estimates presented to not include costs associated with right-of-way acquisition due to its high variability 
depending on location, parcel sizes, and other characteristics.   

Exhibit A 
Page 35 of 102

99



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 36 of 102

100



!!!

!!!

!!! !!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
§̈¦5

vÍÎ99E

vÍÎ219

vÍÎ99E
vÍÎ219

vÍÎ214 vÍÎ211

vÍÎ214

AUD
RE

Y
W

Y

HI
G

HW
AY

99
E

HY

A 
STBARLEY ST

FR
ONT S

T

C
O

R
BY

 S
T

JUDY ST

RYE ST

DAHLIA

ST

TIE
R R

A
LY

N
N

D
R

AZTEC DR

U
M

P
Q

U
A 

R
D

CARL RD

JOHNSON ST

GARFIELD ST

DELL
MOOR W

Y

CONSTITUTION AV

EAGLE DR
JANSEN WY

STARK ST

BR
YA

N 
ST

HA
W

LE
Y 

ST

TULIP AV

TE
N

O
A

KS
LN

E BLAINE ST

RAINIER RD

M
IL

LE
R

FA
R

M
R

D

BO
ONE

S
FE

RRY
RD

M
E

R
ID

IA
N

DR

B
U

TT
E

V
IL

LE
 R

D

SM
ITH

D
R

CROSBY RD

LAUREL AV

EAST HARDCASTLE RD

S
A

LL
A

L 
R

D

W
IL

LO
W

AV

E
LA

N
A

DR

W LINCOLN ST

TOMLIN AV

VA NDERBECK LN

M
C

K
E

E
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
R

D

TROON AV

HA
ZE

LN
U

T
DR

JU

NE
W

Y

MYRTLE ST

PA
NA S

T

ALEXANDRA AV

OAK ST

LE
AS

U
RE

 S
T

BROADWAY ST

FINZER WY

KING WY

P
R

IN
C

E
T O

N
R

D

DOUD S
T

PA
RK

CR

M AYANNA DR

ARLINGTON AV

A
S

TO
R

W
Y

M
C

LA
UG

H
LI

N
D

R

IRONWOOD TR

WILSO N ST

GRANT ST

S 3 RD
ST

W HAYES ST

TUKW ILA DR

LE
AR

Y 
RD

HER
M

AN
SO

N
ST

N 6T
H S

T

CHURCH ST

ARNEY LN

N 1S
T S

T

N 2N
D ST

W
A

LTO
N

W
Y

STEVEN ST

Q
U

IN
N

 R
D

COUN
TR

YCLUB TR

M
AR

SH
AL

L 
ST

W ILCO HY

M
O

UN
TA

IN
 V

IE
W

 L
N

N
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

REED AV

D
E

ER
RUN

CO
UN

TR
Y

LN

RAYJG
LA

TT CR

OXFORD ST

N 3R
D ST

PORTLA
ND

RD

U
N

IO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
D

TH
O

M
P

S
O

N
 R

D

ST LOUIS RD

C
A

R
O

L 
ST

LINDA ST

MOLALLA RD

MCKINLEY ST

TRACY

LN

H
AL

L 
ST

BRADLEY ST

DIMMICK LN

LINFIELD AV

H
A

R
VA

R
D

D
R

CASCADE
D

R

GRE E NV
IE

W
DR

VINE AV

KOI LN

PU

BLICRD

PLUM LN

OGLE
 S

T

EAST LINCOLN RD

MEADOW DR

PA
LM

AV

OATS ST

RAILROAD

BLY
LP GOUDY GARDENS LNDEXTER LP

JORY ST

WHITNE Y
LN

EL
AN

A 
W

Y

COMMERCE W
Y

C
H

A TE
A

U
D

R

BLAINE ST

TU

RNBERRY AV

A
R

B
O

R
 G

R
O

VE
 R

D

ROY
AV

NAT
IO

NAL
 W

Y

SANTIAM DR

CAMAS ST

E
VE

R
G

RE
EN

R
D

GEORGE ST

MCNAUGHT RD

KOENER R
D

219

R
A

N
D

O
LP

H
 R

D

HO OPER ST

AL
SE

ALP

EL
M

 S
T

E

C
LA

C
K

A
M

A
S

C
R

W
C

LA
C

K
A

M
A

S
CR

DECONINCK RD

ARNEY RD

SERRES LN

S
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

GESCHWILL LN

S
 C

O
LU

M
B

IA
 D

R

STAFNEY LN

INGALLS LN

PARR RD

JENSEN RD

BELLE PASSI RD

LE BRUN RD
PINE

C R

SHALIMAR
LP

HAZELNUT DR

HARDCASTLE AVW HAYES ST

W LINCOLN ST

LINCOLN ST

OR
EG

O
N

W
Y

PA
RK

AV

BR
O

W
N

S
T

G
AT

CH
ST

PARR RD

E CLEVELAND ST

ST
ACY

AL
LIS

ON
W

Y

H
AR

VA
R

D
 D

R

AR
NEY

RD

COOLE
Y R

DW
O

O
D

LA
ND

AV

COUNTRY CLUB RD

AS
TO

R
 W

Y

N 5T
H S

T

PROGRESS W
Y

INDUSTRIAL AV

ST
U

BB
 R

D

EAST LINCOLN RD

BO
ON

ES
FE

RR
YR

D

NEWBERG HY

S P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

MT HOOD AV

N P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

S S
ET

TL
EM

IER
 AV YOUNG ST

EV
ER

GREEN RD

GARFIELD ST

N S
ET

TL
EM

IER
AV

MOLALLA RD

BU
TT

EV
ILL

E R
D

S FRONT S
T

N FR
ONT S

T

R8 R9 R10
R11

R12
R13

R14

R15

R16

R17

R18
R19

R28

R1

R30

R31

R23

R26

R21

R24

R25

R22

R20 R27

R29

R4

R3

R7

R2

R6

R5

R26

Woodburn TSP Update September 2019

¯

Figure

3

!!! Intersection - Geometric Considerations

!!! Traffic Control/Traffic Signal Timing

New Roadway

Roadway Widening/Modernization

City Boundary

Urban Growth Boundary

H:
\21

\21
07

1 -
 W

oo
db

urn
 TS

P U
pd

ate
\gi

s\T
SP

\03
 R

oa
dw

ay
 Pl

an
 E

lem
en

ts.
mx

d -
 m

mc
co

rm
ick

 -  
5:2

6 P
M 

9/1
6/2

01
9

Coordinate System: NAD 1983 HARN StatePlane Oregon North FIPS 3601 Feet Intl
Data Source: City of Woodburn, Oregon Department of Transportation

Roadway Plan Elements
Woodburn, Oregon

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 Feet

Note: All new roadway alignments are approximate and subject to further refinement.

Exhibit A 
Page 37 of 102

101



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

Exhibit A 
Page 38 of 102

102



FREIGHT PLAN 
Efficient truck movement plays a vital role in the economical movement of raw materials and 
finished products. The designation of freight routes provides for this efficient movement while at 
the same time maintaining neighborhood livability, public safety, and minimizing maintenance 
costs of the roadway system. Per the Oregon Highway Plan (OHP), the only designated freight 
route in Woodburn is I-5. In addition, OR 214 is designated a National Network Truck Route per 
ODOT TransGIS information online. Freight routes are shown on Figure 4, identifying freight routes 
and freight ways throughout Woodburn that facilitate the movement of freight in the city.  

National Highway System Routes 
The National Highway System (NHS)is designated by the US Department of Transportation 
Federal Highway Administration and includes roadways that are “important to the nation’s 

economy, defense, and mobility.”2 Within Woodburn, I-5 is part of the Eisenhower Interstate 
System and OR 219, OR 214, and OR 99E are classified as MAP-21 NHS Principal Arterials.   

2 https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/planning/national_highway_system/  

Exhibit A 
Page 39 of 102

103

https://www.fhwa.dot.gov/planning/national_highway_system/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 40 of 102

104



§̈¦5

vÍÎ99E

vÍÎ219

vÍÎ99E
vÍÎ219

vÍÎ214 vÍÎ211

vÍÎ214

AUD
RE

Y
W

Y

A 
ST

HI
GHW

AY
99

E
HY

FR
ONT S

T

C
O

R
BY

 S
T

JUDY ST

RYE ST

DAHLIA

ST

TI
E

RR
A

LY
N

N
D

R

AZTEC DR

U
M

P
Q

U
A 

R
D

CARL RD

JOHNSON ST

GARFIELD ST

DELL
MOOR W

Y

CONSTITUTION AV

EAGLE DR
JANSEN WY

STARK ST

BR
YA

N 
ST

HA
W

LE
Y 

ST

TULIP AV

TE
N

O
A

KS
LN

E BLAINE ST

RAINIER RD

M
IL

LE
R

FA
R

M
R

D

M
E

R
ID

IA
N

DR

B
U

TT
E

V
IL

LE
 R

D

SM
ITH

D
R

CROSBY RD

LAUREL AV

EAST HARDCASTLE RD

S
A

LL
A

L 
R

D

W
IL

LO
W

AV

E
LA

NA
D

R

W LINCOLN ST

TOMLIN AV

VANDERBECK LN

M
C

K
E

E
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
R

D

TROON AV

HA
ZE

LN
U

T
D

R

JU

NE
W

Y

BO
ONE

S
FE

RRY
RD

MYRTLE ST

PA
NA S

T

ALEXANDRA AV

OAK ST

LE
AS

U
RE

 S
T

BROADWAY ST

FINZER WY

KING WY

P
R

IN
C

E
TO

N
RD

DOUD S
T

PA
RK

CR

M AYANNA DR

ARLINGTON AV

AS
TO

R
W

Y

M
C

LA
UG

H
LI

N
D

R

IRONWOOD TR

WILSO N ST

GRANT ST

S 3RD
ST

W HAYES ST

TUKW ILA DR
LE

AR
Y 

RD

HER
M

AN
SO

N
ST

N 6T
H S

T

CHURCH ST

MOLALLA RD

ARNEY LN

N 1S
T S

T

N 2N
D ST

W
A

LTO
N

W
Y

STEVEN ST

Q
U

IN
N

 R
D

M
AR

SH
AL

L 
ST

WILCO HY

N
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

REED AV

D
E

ER
RUN

CO
UN

TR
Y

LN

RAYJG
LA

TT CR

OXFORD ST

N 3R
D ST

PORTLA
ND

RD

ELLIOTT PRAIRIE RD

TH
O

M
P

S
O

N
 R

D

C
A

R
O

L 
ST

ST LOUIS
R

D

LINDA ST

MCKINLEY ST

TRAC
Y

LN

M
O

UN
TA

IN
 V

IE
W

 L
N

H
AL

L 
ST

BRADLEY ST

DIMMICK LN

LINFIELD AV

H
A

R
V A

R
D

D
R

CASCADE
D

R

GREE NV
IE

W
DR

VINE AV

KOI LN

PU

BLICRD

PLUM LN

U
N

IO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
D

OGLE
 S

T

EAST LINCOLN RD

MEADOW DR

PA
LM

AV

OATS ST

RAILROAD

BLY
LP GOUDY GARDENS LNDEXTER LP

JORY ST

W
O

RK
M

A
N

DR

EL
AN

A 
W

Y

COMMERCE W
Y

C
HATE

A
U

DR

BLAINE ST

TU

RNBERRY AV

A
R

B
O

R
 G

R
O

VE
 R

D

ROY
AV

NAT
IO

NAL
 W

Y

SANTIAM DR

CAMAS ST

W

HITNEY LN

GEORGE ST

MCNAUGHT RD

KOENER RD

219

R
A

N
D

O
LP

H
 R

D

HO OPER ST

AL
SE

ALP

EL
M

 S
T

E

C
LA

C
K

A
M

A
S

CR

W
C

L A
C

K
A

M
A

S
C

R
A

R
N

E
Y 

R
D

SERRES LN

S
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

GESCHWILL LN

S
 C

O
LU

M
B

IA
 D

R

STAFNEY LN

INGALLS LN

PARR RD

JENSEN RD

BELLE PASSI RD

LE BRUN RD

PINE

C R

SHALIMAR
LP

HAZELNUT DR

HARDCASTLE AVW HAYES ST

LINCOLN ST

O
RE

G
O

N
W

Y

PA
RK

AV

BR
O

W
N

ST

G
AT

CH
ST

PARR RD

E CLEVELAND ST

STA
CY

AL
LIS

ON
W

Y

H
AR

VA
R

D
 D

R

AR
NEY

RD

COOLE
Y R

D

HARRISON ST

W
O

O
DL

A
ND

AV

AS
TO

R
 W

Y

N 5T
H S

T

PROGRESS W
Y

INDUSTRIAL AV

ST
U

BB
 R

D

EAST LINCOLN RD

BO
ON

ES
FE

RR
Y R

D

NEWBERG HY

S P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

MT HOOD AV

N P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

S S
ET

TL
EM

IER
 AV YOUNG ST

EV
ER

GREEN RD

GARFIELD ST

N S
ET

TL
EM

IER
AV

MOLALLA RD
BU

TT
EV

ILL
E R

D

S FRONT S
T

N FR
ONT S

T

Woodburn TSP Update September 2019

¯

Figure

4

ODOT Routes
Freight Route

National Network Truck Route

City of Woodburn Routes
Truck Route

Truck Way

Future Truck Route

Future Truck Way

City Boundary

Urban Growth Boundary

H:
\21

\21
07

1 -
 W

oo
db

urn
 TS

P U
pd

ate
\gi

s\T
SP

\04
 Fr

eig
ht 

Ro
ute

s.m
xd

 - m
mc

co
rm

ick
 -  

5:2
8 P

M 
9/1

6/2
01

9

Coordinate System: NAD 1983 HARN StatePlane Oregon North FIPS 3601 Feet Intl
Data Source: City of Woodburn, Oregon Department of Transportation

Freight Routes
Woodburn, Oregon

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 Feet

Note: Future roadway alignments are approximate and subject to future refinement.

Exhibit A 
Page 41 of 102

105



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

Exhibit A 
Page 42 of 102

106



TRAFFIC SAFETY PLAN 
Traffic safety has a significant impact on how people use the transportation system within 
Woodburn, particularly in areas where real or perceived safety risks prevent people from using 
more active travel modes, such as walking, biking, and taking transit. Table 3 identifies the traffic 
safety projects that will be included in the Woodburn TSP update. Additional safety projects and 
improvements are identified as part of the pedestrian, bicycle, and transit plans later in the 
document, in addition to the safety-related projects already discussed in the roadway plan 
previously in this section. Figure 5 illustrates the traffic safety plan projects. 

Table 3: Traffic Safety Projects 

Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate2 

S1 
Southern OR 
219/Butteville 
Road 

State/County 
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Enhanced traffic control (traffic signal, 
roundabout, or other appropriate 
geometric enhancements) if/when 
warranted and in coordination with ODOT 

High 
Cost 

included in 
R1 

S2 

Northern OR 
214/Butteville 
Road 
Intersection 

State/County 
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Enhanced traffic control (traffic signal, 
roundabout, or other appropriate 
geometric enhancements) if/when 
warranted and in coordination with ODOT 

Medium  $500,000 to 
$2,000,0001 

S3 

Front 
Street/Lincoln 
Street 
Intersection 

City Intersection 
Enhanced signs and pavement markings 
(e.g. stop signs, warning signs, and/or 
beacons) 

Medium  $50,000  

S4 

Front 
Street/Young 
Street/Garfield 
Street 
Intersection 

City 
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Evaluate the intersection layout, signing, 
and striping in correlation to the railroad 
tracks. Provide clarification for westbound 
drivers trying to proceed through the 
intersection  

High  $100,000  

S5 OR 99E City Lighting 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan, update roadway lighting to meet 
ODOT roadway lighting standards in 
coordination with ODOT 

Medium  $2,150,000  

S6 

OR 99E access 
between 
Young Street 
and Cleveland 
Street 

State  Intersection 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan and in coordination with ODOT: 

Restrict left-turn movements and eventually 
close the Silverton Avenue intersection on 
OR 99E and vacate the segment of 
Silverton Avenue between OR 99E and 
Birds Eye Avenue 

Restrict left-turn movements onto Birds Eye 
Avenue from Hillsboro Silverton Highway 
and eventually close the Birds Eye Avenue 
intersection on Hillsboro Silverton Highway 
and vacate the segment of Birds Eye 
Avenue between Hillsboro Silverton 
Highway and Silverton Avenue 

Medium  $60,000  

Exhibit A 
Page 43 of 102

107



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate2 

S7 OR 99E/Tomlin 
Avenue 

State 
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Evaluate the intersection layout, signing, 
and striping in coordination with ODOT, 
including any sight distance constraints. 
Consider restricting the southbound left-
turn movement 

High  $100,000  

S8 
Butteville 
Road/Parr 
Road 

County 
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Modify intersection to address existing sight 
distance and geometric limitations  

Medium  $1,000,000   

S9 City-wide 
State/ 

County/City 
Study 

Evaluate traffic safety along OR 99E, OR 
219/OR214, Front Street, Evergreen Road, 
and other key corridors to identify 
appropriate countermeasures 

Low  $100,000  

S10 
Settlemier 
Avenue/Hayes 
Street 

City  
Intersection - 
geometric 
considerations 

Enhanced traffic control (traffic signal, 
roundabout, or other appropriate 
geometric enhancements) 

High 
$500,000 to 
$2,000,0001 

TOTAL High Priority Costs $2,200,000 

TOTAL Medium Priority Costs $5,260,000 

TOTAL Low Priority Costs $100,000 

TOTAL Program Costs (20 years) $7,560,000 

1. A cost estimate range is provided to allow for a design project to determine the appropriate intersection control using 
additional data, such as right-of-way information and surrounding environmental conditions. $500,000 is the planning-
level cost estimate if a traffic signal is determined, and $2,000,000 is the planning-level cost estimate if a roundabout is 
determined. The higher cost estimate was included in all totals.  

2. The cost estimates presented to not include costs associated with right-of-way acquisition due to its high variability 
depending on location, parcel sizes, and other characteristics.  

LOCAL STREET CONNECTIVITY PLAN  
As indicated above, the street system within Woodburn is largely built-out. Therefore, there are 
limited opportunities for new arterial, Service Collector, or Access Streets. However, there are 
opportunities for new local streets in select areas throughout the city that could improve access 
and circulation for all travel modes. 

Figure 6 illustrates the general location of the local street connections identified for the 
Woodburn TSP update. Roadway alignments for each connection are not provided as they are 
anticipated to be determined as part of future development. Costs are not provided for these 
projects as they are anticipated to be constructed by future development. Any local street 
connectivity projects that are desired to be city-initiated projects should be identified as a high 
priority and included in the cost-constrained plan. 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 44 of 102

108



!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!
!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

§̈¦5

vÍÎ99E

vÍÎ219

vÍÎ99E
vÍÎ219

vÍÎ214 vÍÎ211

vÍÎ214

AUD
RE

Y
W

Y

HI
G

HW
AY

99
E

HY

A 
STBARLEY ST

FR
ONT S

T

C
O

R
BY

 S
T

JUDY ST

RYE ST

DAHLIA

ST

TI
E

RR
A

LY
N

N
D

R

AZTEC DR

U
M

P
Q

U
A 

R
D

CARL RD

JOHNSON ST

GARFIELD ST

DELL
MOOR W

Y

CONSTITUTION AV

EAGLE DR
JA

NSEN WY

STARK ST

BR
YA

N 
ST

HA
W

LE
Y 

ST

TULIP AV

TE
N

O
A

KS
LN

E BLAINE ST

RAINIER RD

M
IL

LE
R

FA
R

M
R

D

M
E

R
ID

IA
N

DR

B
U

TT
E

V
IL

LE
 R

D

BO
ONE

S
FE

RRY
RD

SM
ITH

D
R

CROSBY RD

LAUREL AV

EAST HARDCASTLE RD

S
A

LL
A

L
R

D

W
IL

LO
W

AV

E
L A

N
A

D
R

W LINCOLN ST

TOMLIN AV

VANDERBECK LN

M
C

K
E

E
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
R

D

TROON AV

HA
ZE

LN
U

T
D

R

JU

NE
W

Y

MYRTLE ST

PA
NA S

T

ALEXANDRA AV

OAK ST

LE
AS

U
RE

 S
T

BROADWAY ST

FINZER WY

KING WY

P
R

IN
C

E
T O

N
R

D

DOUD S
T

PA
RK

CR

M AYANNA DR

ARLINGTON AV

AS
TO

R
W

Y

M
C

LA
UG

H
LI

N
D

R

IRONWOOD TR

WILSO N ST

GRANT ST

S 3RD
ST

W HAYES ST

TUKW ILA DR

LE
AR

Y 
RD

HE
RM

AN
SO

N
ST

N 6T
H S

T

CHURCH ST

ARNEY LN

N 1S
T S

T

N 2N
D ST

W
A

LTO
N

W
Y

STEVEN ST

Q
U

IN
N

 R
D

COUN
TR

YCLUB TR

M
AR

SH
AL

L 
ST

WILCO HY

M
O

UN
TA

IN
 V

IE
W

 L
N

N
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

REED AV

D
E

ER
RUN

CO
UN

TR
Y

LN

RAYJG
LA

TT CR

OXFORD ST

N 3R
D ST

PORTLA
ND

RD

TH
O

M
P

S
O

N
 R

D

U
N

IO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
D

ST LOUIS RD

C
A

R
O

L 
ST

LINDA ST

MOLALLA RD

MCKINLEY ST

TRACY

LN

H
AL

L 
ST

BRADLEY ST

DIMMICK LN

LINFIELD AV

H
A

R
VA

R
D

D
R

CASCADE
D

R

GRE E NVI
EW

DR

VINE AV

KOI LN

PLUM LN

OGLE
 S

T

EAST LINCOLN RD

MEADOW DR

PA
LM

AV

OATS ST

RAILROAD

BLY
LP GOUDY GARDENS LNDEXTER LP

JORY ST

WHITNE Y
LN

EL
AN

A 
W

Y

COMMERCE W
Y

C
H

ATE
A

U
D

R

BLAINE ST

TU

RNBERRY AV

A
R

B
O

R
 G

R
O

VE
 R

D

ROY
AV

NAT
IO

NAL
 W

Y

SANTIAM DR

CAMAS ST

E
VE

R
G

RE
EN

R
D

GEORGE ST

MCNAUGHT RD

KOENER R
D

219

R
A

N
D

O
LP

H
 R

D

HO OPER ST

AL

SEALP

EL
M

 S
T

E

C
LA

C
K

A
M

A
S

C
R

W
C

LA
C

K
A

M
A

S
CR

DECONINCK RD

ARNEY RD

SERRES LN

S
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

GESCHWILL LN

S
 C

O
LU

M
B

IA
 D

R

STAFNEY LN

INGALLS LN

PARR RD

JENSEN RD

BELLE PASSI RD

LE BRUN RD
PINE

C R

SHALIMAR
LP

HAZELNUT DR

HARDCASTLE AVW HAYES ST

LINCOLN ST

O
RE

G
O

N
W

Y

PA
RK

AV

BR
O

W
N

S
T

G
AT

CH
ST

PARR RD

E CLEVELAND ST

ST
ACY

AL
LIS

ON
W

Y

H
AR

VA
R

D
 D

R

AR
NEY

RD

COOLE
Y R

D

HARRISON ST

W
O

O
D

L A
N

D
AV

COUNTRY CLUB RD

AS
TO

R
 W

Y

N 5T
H S

T

PROGRESS W
Y

INDUSTRIAL AV

ST
U

BB
 R

D

EAST LINCOLN RD

BO
ON

ES
FE

RR
YR

D

NEWBERG HY

S P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

MT HOOD AV

N P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

S S
ET

TL
EM

IER
 AV YOUNG ST

EV
ER

GREEN RD

NS
ET

TL
EM

IER
AV

MOLALLA RD

BU
TT

EV
ILL

E R
D

S FRONT S
T

N FR
ONT S

T

S1

S2

S3

S4S6

S7

S8

S10

S5

Woodburn TSP Update September 2019

¯

Figure

5

!!! Intersection

!!! Intersection - Geometric Considerations

Safety Study Corridor

Lighting

Future Roadway 

City Boundary

Urban Growth Boundary

H:
\21

\21
07

1 -
 W

oo
db

urn
 TS

P U
pd

ate
\gi

s\T
SP

\05
 Tr

aff
ic 

Sa
fet

y P
lan

 El
em

en
ts.

mx
d -

 m
mc

co
rm

ick
 -  

5:2
9 P

M 
9/1

6/2
01

9

Coordinate System: NAD 1983 HARN StatePlane Oregon North FIPS 3601 Feet Intl
Data Source: City of Woodburn, Oregon Department of Transportation

Traffic Safety Plan Elements
Woodburn, Oregon

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 Feet

Note: Future roadway alignments are approximate and subject to further refinement.

Exhibit A 
Page 45 of 102

109



ä
ä

ä
ä

ä

ää
ä

ä
ä

ä

ää

ä

ä
ä

ä

ä

ä
ä

ä

ä

ä

ä
ääää ää

ä

ä
ä ä

ä

ä

ä

ä
ää

ä

ä

ä

ä

ä

ä
ä ä

ä

ä

ä

ä

ä

ää

ää

ä
ää

ä

§̈¦5

vÍÎ99E

vÍÎ219

vÍÎ99E
vÍÎ219

vÍÎ214 vÍÎ211

vÍÎ214

)
)

AUD
RE

Y
W

Y

A 
ST

HI
GHW

AY
99

E
HY

FR
ONT S

T

C
O

R
BY

 S
T

JUDY ST

RYE ST

DAHLIAST

TI
E

R
R

A
LY

N
N

DR

AZTEC DR

U
M

P
Q

U
A 

R
D

CARL RD

JOHNSON ST

GARFIELD ST

DELL
MOOR W

Y

CONSTITUTION AV

EAGLE DR
JANSEN WY

STARK ST

BR
YA

N 
ST

HA
W

LE
Y 

ST

TULIP AV

TE
N

O
A

KS
LN

E BLAINE ST

RAINIER RD

M
IL

LE
R

FA
R

M
R

D

M
E

R
ID

IA
N

DR

B
U

TT
E

V
IL

LE
 R

D

SM
ITH

D
R

CROSBY RD

LAUREL AV

EAST HARDCASTLE RD

S
A

LL
A

L 
R

D

W
IL

LO
W

AV

E
LA

N
A

D
R

W LINCOLN ST

TOMLIN AV

VANDERBECK LN

M
C

K
E

E
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
R

D

TROON AV

H
AZ

E
LN

U
T

D

R

JU

NE
W

Y

BOONES
FE

RRY RD

MYRTLE ST

PA
NA S

T

OAK ST

LE
AS

U
RE

 S
T

BROADWAY ST

FINZER WY

KING WY

P
R

IN
C

E
TO

N
RD

DOUD S
T

PA
RK

CR

M AYANNA DR

ARLINGTON AV

AS
TO

R
W

Y

M
C

LA
U

G
H

LI
N

D
R

IRONWOOD TR

WILSO N ST

GRANT ST

S 3RD
ST

W HAYES ST

TUKW ILA DR
LE

AR
Y 

RD

HE
RM

AN
SO

N
ST

N 6T
H S

T

CHURCH ST

JONAH P L

ARNEY LN

N 1S
T S

T

N 2N
D ST

MOLALLA RD

W
A

LTO
N

W
Y

STEVEN ST

Q
U

IN
N

 R
D

M
AR

SH
AL

L 
ST

WILCO HY

N
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

REED AV

D
E

ER
RUN

RAYJG
LA

TT
CR

N 3R
D S

T

PORTLA
ND

RD

TH
O

M
P

S
O

N
 R

D

ELLIOTT PRAIRIE RD

C
A

R
O

L 
ST

ST LOUIS
R

D

LINDA ST

MCKINLEY ST

M
O

UN
TA

IN
 V

IE
W

 L
N

H
AL

L 
ST

BRADLEY ST

DIMMICK LN

LINFIELD AV

H
A

R
V A

R
D

D
R

CASCADE
D

R

GRE E NV
IE

W
DR

VINE AV

KOI LN

JAMES
ST

PLUM LN

U
N

IO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
D

OGLE
 S

T

EAST LINCOLN RD

MEADOW DR

PA
LM

AV

OATS ST

RAILROAD

BLY
LP GOUDY GARDENS LNDEXTER LP

JORY ST

EL
AN

A 
W

Y

COMMERCE W
Y

BLAINE ST

TU

RNBERRY AV

A
R

B
O

R
 G

R
O

VE
 R

D

ROY
AV

NAT
IO

NAL
 W

Y

SANTIAM DR

CAMAS ST

W

HITNEY LN

GEORGE ST

MCNAUGHT RD

KOENER RD

219

R
A

N
D

O
LP

H
 R

D

HO OPER ST

AL
SE

ALP

EL
M

 S
T

E

C
LA

C
K

A
M

A
S

C
R

W
C

LA
C

K
A

M
A

S
CR

A
R

N
E

Y 
R

D

SERRES LN

S
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

GESCHWILL LN

S
 C

O
LU

M
B

IA
 D

R

STAFNEY LN

INGALLS LN

PARR RD

JENSEN RD

BELLE PASSI RD

LE BRUN RD

SHALIMAR
LP

HAZELNUT DR

HARDCASTLE AVW HAYES ST

LINCOLN ST

O
RE

G
O

N
W

Y

PA
RK

AV

BROW
N

ST

G
AT

CH
S

T

PARR RD

E CLEVELAND ST

ST
ACY

AL
LIS

ON
W

Y

H
AR

VA
R

D
 D

R

AR
NEY

RD

COOLE
Y R

D

HARRISON ST

W
O

O
DL

A
ND

AV

AS
TO

R
 W

Y

N 5T
H S

T

PROGRESS W
Y

INDUSTRIAL AV

ST
U

BB
 R

D

EAST LINCOLN RD

BO
ON

ES
FE

RR
Y R

D

NEWBERG HY

S P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

MT HOOD AV

N P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

S S
ET

TL
EM

IER
 AV YOUNG ST

EV
ER

GREEN RD

GARFIELD ST

N S
ET

TL
EM

IER
AV

MOLALLA RD

BU
TT

EV
ILL

E R
D

S FRONT S
T

N FR
ONT S

T

Woodburn TSP Update September 2019

¯

Figure

6

ä Future Local Street Connection

Future Roadway

City Boundary

Urban Growth Boundary

H:
\21

\21
07

1 -
 W

oo
db

urn
 TS

P U
pd

ate
\gi

s\T
SP

\06
 Lo

ca
l S

tre
et 

Co
nn

ec
tiv

ity
 Pl

an
.m

xd
 - m

mc
co

rm
ick

 -  
5:4

6 P
M 

9/1
6/2

01
9

Coordinate System: NAD 1983 HARN StatePlane Oregon North FIPS 3601 Feet Intl
Data Source: City of Woodburn, Oregon Department of Transportation

Local Street Connectivity Plan
Woodburn, Oregon

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 Feet

Note: Future roadway alignments are approximate and subject to further refinement.

Exhibit A 
Page 46 of 102

110



 

 

 

  

4 TRANSIT SYSTEM  
Existing Transit Service 

Transit Plan Projects and Programs 

Exhibit A 
Page 47 of 102

111



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 48 of 102

112



TRANSIT SYSTEM   
Public transportation can provide important connections to destinations for people that do not 
drive or bike and can provide an additional option for all transportation system users. Transit 
complements walking, bicycling, or driving trips: users can walk to and from transit stops and 
their homes, shopping or work places, people can drive to park-and-ride locations to access a 
bus, or people can bring their bikes on transit vehicles and bicycle from a transit stop to their 
final destination. 

EXISTING TRANSIT SERVICE 
The transit system within Woodburn consists of fixed-route and paratransit services as well as 
school and shuttle bus service.  

Fixed-Route Service 
Public transportation in Woodburn today is provided by Woodburn Transit Service, Cherriots 
Regional, and Canby Area Transit, as described below. Figure 7 shows the existing transit 
facilities.  

Woodburn Transit Service  

Woodburn Transit Service operates a fixed-route bus line in Woodburn, providing connections 
throughout town as shown in Figure 7. As shown, fixed-route transit service is provided along the 
major east-west corridors linking neighborhoods to all major retail and commercial areas. The 
route also connects to the Woodburn Memorial Transit Facility located off of OR 214. Service is 
provided from 7:00 AM to 7:00 PM at approximately 1-hour headways.  

Cherriots Regional 

Cherriots Regional operates the 10X Woodburn/Salem Express bus line that provides weekday 
service between Salem and Woodburn along the 99E corridor. Stops are located along Front 
Street, OR 214, Settlemier Avenue and Downtown Woodburn. Cherriots Regional also operates 
the 20X N. Marion Co./Salem Express bus line that provides weekday services between Salem, 
Silverton, and Woodburn. Stops are located along OR 214 and 99E. The service operates 
Monday – Friday from 7:30 AM – 7:00 PM with 2 to 2.5 hour headways. 

Canby Area Transit 

Canby Area Transit (CAT) operates the Route 99 bus line which provides daily bus service 
between Woodburn and Canby along the 99E corridor. The Woodburn stop is located near the 
99E/OR 214 intersection. The service operates Monday – Friday from 6:30 AM – 8:00 PM with 
headways that range from 1 to 2.5 hours.  

  

Exhibit A 
Page 49 of 102

113



Dial-A-Ride Service 
Woodburn provides Dial-A-Ride service for people with disabilities and the elderly living within 
Woodburn who are not able to utilize the fixed route bus. The service operates Monday - Friday 
from 7:00 AM - 7:00 PM and utilizes a fully accessible van.  The van provides door to door service 
for any purpose to any location within the Woodburn City limits.  

The Dial-A-Ride program also arranges for volunteer drivers to take elderly Woodburn residents 
and those with disabilities to medical appointments in all areas between Portland and Salem.   
Requests for service must be made at least one day in advance. 

Other Services 

Greyhound 

The Greyhound bus service provides a regional transportation option, with buses to Portland 
from Woodburn three times per day. The station is located on Front Street and is open from 9 
a.m. to 8 p.m. everyday. 

Park-and-Rides 

The Woodburn Memorial Transit Facility (Park& Ride) is located off of Evergreen Road north of OR 
214. Woodburn Transit Service regularly stops at the park & ride facility. The Cascades POINT bus 
service, operated by MTR Western in partnership with ODOT, makes 2 daily northbound stops 
and 2 daily southbound stops at the new transit facility.  Riders can buy tickets to go as far as 
Eugene to the south, and Portland to the north.  Schedule and ticket information is available at 
the website and the Amtrak Cascades site. 

 

 

Woodburn Memorial Transit Center 

 

Bus 
 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 50 of 102

114



IIIü

§̈¦5

vÍÎ99E

vÍÎ219

vÍÎ99E
vÍÎ219

vÍÎ214 vÍÎ211

vÍÎ214

AU
DR

EY
W

Y

HI
GHW

AY
99

E
HY

A 
STBARLEY ST

FR
ONT S

T

C
O

R
BY

 S
T

JUDY ST

RYE ST

DAHLIA

ST

TIE
RR

A
LY

N
N

D
R

AZTEC DR

U
M

P
Q

U
A

R
D

CARL RD

JOHNSON ST

GARFIELD ST

CONSTITUTION AV

EAGLE DR
JANSEN WY

STAR K ST

BR
YA

N 
ST

HA
W

LE
Y 

ST

TULIP AV

TE
N

O
A

KS
LN

BO
ONE

S
FE

RRY
RD

E BLAINE ST

RAINIER RD

M
IL

LE
R

FA
R

M
R

D

M
E

R
ID

IA
N

DR

B
U

TT
E

V
IL

LE
 R

D

SM
ITH

DR

CROSBY RD

LAUREL AV

EAST HARDCASTLE RD

S
A

LL
A

L
R

D

W
IL

LO
W

AV

E
LA

N
A

D
R

W LINCOLN ST

TOMLIN AV

VA NDERBECK LN

M
C

K
E

E
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
R

D

TROON AV

HA
ZE

LN
U

T
D

R

JU

NE
W

Y

MYRTLE ST

PA
NA S

T

ALEXANDRA AV

OAK ST

LE
AS

U
RE

 S
T

BROADWAY ST

FINZER WY

KING WY

P
R

IN
C

E
T O

N
R

D

DOUD S
T

PA
RK

CR

M AYANNA DR

ARLINGTON AV

A
S

TO
R

W
Y

M
C

LA
U

G
H

LI
N

D
R

IRONWOOD TR

WILSO N ST

GRANT ST

S 3 RD
ST

W HAYES ST

TUKW ILA DR

LE
AR

Y 
RD

HE
RM

AN
SO

N
ST

N 6T
H S

T

ARNEY LN

N 1S
T S

T

N 2N
D ST

W
A

LTO
N

W
Y

STEVEN ST

Q
U

IN
N

 R
D

COUN
TR

YCLUB TR

M
AR

SH
AL

L 
ST

WILCO HY

M
O

UN
TA

IN
 V

IE
W

 L
N

N
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

REED AV

HIGH
ST

D
E

ER
RUN

CO
UN

TR
Y

LN

RAYJ
G

LA
TT CR

U
N

IO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
D

OXFORD ST

N 3R
D ST

PORTLA
ND

RD

TH
O

M
P

S
O

N
 R

D

ST LOUIS RD

C
A

R
O

L 
ST

LINDA ST

MOLALLA RD

MCKINLEY ST

TRAC
Y

LN

H
AL

L 
ST

BRADLEY ST

DIMMICK LN

LINFIELD AV

H
A

R
VA

R
D

D
R

CASCADE
D

R

GRE E NV
IE

W
DR

VINE AV

KOI LN

PU

BLICRD

PLUM LN

OGLE
 S

T

EAST LINCOLN RD

MEADOW DR

PA
LM

AV

OATS ST

RAILROAD

BLY
LP GOUDY GARDENS LNDEXTER LP

JORY ST

W
O

RK
M

A
N

DR

EL
AN

A 
W

Y

COMMERCE W
Y

C
H

ATE
A

U
D

R

BLAINE ST

TU

RNBERRY AV

A
R

B
O

R
 G

R
O

VE
 R

D

ROY
AV

NAT
IO

NAL
 W

Y

SANTIAM DR

CAMAS ST

S
T A

N
FI

E
LD

R
D

E
VE

R
G

RE
EN

R
D

GEORGE ST

MCNAUGHT RD

KOENER RD

219

R
A

N
D

O
LP

H
 R

D

HO OPER ST

AL
SE

ALP

EL
M

 S
T

E

C
L A

C
K

A
M

A
S

C
R

W
C

LA
C

K
A

M
A

S
C

R

DECONINCK RD

GESCHWILL LN

ARNEY RD

SERRES LN

S
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

S
 C

O
LU

M
B

IA
 D

R

STAFNEY LN

INGALLS LN

PARR RD

JENSEN RD

BELLE PASSI RD

LE BRUN RD
PINE

C R

SHALIMAR
LP

HAZELNUT DR

HARDCASTLE AVW HAYES ST

W LINCOLN ST

LINCOLN ST

O
RE

G
O

N
W

Y

PA
RK

AV

BR
O

W
N

ST

G
AT

CH
ST

PARR RD

E CLEVELAND ST

STA
CY

ALL
IS

ON
W

Y

H
AR

VA
R

D
 D

R

AR
NEY

RD

COOLE
Y R

D

HARRISON ST

W
O

O
DL

A
ND

AV

COUNTRY CLUB RD

AS
TO

R
W

Y

N 5T
H S

T

PROGRESS W
Y

INDUSTRIAL AV

ST
U

BB
 R

D

EAST LINCOLN RD

BO
ON

ES
FE

RR
Y R

D

NEWBERG HY

S P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

MT HOOD AV

N P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

S S
ET

TL
EM

IER
 AV YOUNG ST

EV
ER

GR
EE

NRD

GARFIELD ST

N S
ET

TL
EM

IER
AV

MOLALLA RD

BU
TT

EV
ILL

E R
D

S FRONT S
T

N FR
ONT S

T

Woodburn TSP Update September 2019 

¯

Figure

7

Woodburn Transit Stops

Woodburn City Transit Loop

Canby Area Transit (CAT) Stops

Canby Area Transit (CAT) Routes

Cherriots Transit Stops

Cherriots Tranist Routes

IIIü Park N' Ride Lots

City Boundary

Urban Growth Boundary

H:
\21

\21
07

1 -
 W

oo
db

urn
 TS

P U
pd

ate
\gi

s\T
SP

\07
 Ex

ist
ing

 Tr
an

sit
 Fa

cili
tie

s.m
xd

 - m
mc

co
rm

ick
 -  

5:4
7 P

M 
9/1

6/2
01

9

Coordinate System: NAD 1983 HARN StatePlane Oregon North FIPS 3601 Feet Intl
Data Source: City of Woodburn, Oregon Department of Transportation

Existing Transit Routes and Facilities
Woodburn, Oregon

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 Feet

Exhibit A 
Page 51 of 102

115



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

Exhibit A 
Page 52 of 102

116



TRANSIT PLAN PROJECTS AND PROGRAMS 
Public transit service within Woodburn is provided by Woodburn Transit Service, supplemented 
by regional service provided by Cherriots Regional and Canby Area Transit. In addition to 
coordinating as needed with local and regional transit agencies to help implement their 
planned service enhancements, the City of Woodburn can support improved transit service by 
providing easy and safe walking and bicycling connections between key roadways, 
neighborhoods, and local destinations; by providing amenities, such as shelters and benches, at 
transit stops; by encouraging an appropriate mix and density of uses that support public transit; 
and by providing and planning for park-and-ride locations. Table 4 summarizes the transit plan 
identified for Woodburn. 

Table 4: Transit Plan 

Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate 

T1 
Woodburn 
Fleet 

Woodburn 
Transit/City 

Coordinate with Woodburn Transit to deliver service 
enhancements funded through the STIF:  
 
Purchase of Category B and C vehicles (1 each) for use in 
the City's expanded transit services. (100% funding level 
2020-21) 

Medium  $5,000 

T2 
Woodburn 
Fleet 

Woodburn 
Transit/City 

Coordinate with Woodburn Transit to deliver service 
enhancements funded through the STIF:  
 
Purchase a Category B vehicle that will replace the second 
oldest full-size vehicle in the WTS fleet; will be used for the 
City's existing local fixed route circulator. (130% funding level 
2021)  

Medium  $5,000 

T3 
Woodburn 
Fixed Route 

Woodburn 
Transit/City 

Coordinate with Woodburn Transit to deliver service 
enhancements funded through the STIF:  
 
Addition of weekend service for Woodburn Transit Service 
fixed route and paratransit services (Sat. 9am-5pm, 
Sun.9am-3pm) by up to 2,156 revenue hours (FY20-21). 
(100% funding level 2020-21) 

Medium  $5,000 

T4 
Woodburn 
Fixed Route 

Woodburn 
Transit/City 

Coordinate with Woodburn Transit to deliver service 
enhancements funded through the STIF:  
 
Modify the existing 60-minute fixed route loop; add an 
additional 30-minute route that will serve high frequency 
stops on weekdays (7am-7pm) within the Woodburn city 
limits. Total additional service will be up to 6,192 revenue 
hours (FY20-21). (100% funding level 2020-21) 

Medium  $5,000 

T5 
Woodburn 
Fixed Route 

Woodburn 
Transit/City 

Coordinate with Woodburn Transit to deliver service 
enhancements funded through the STIF:  
 
Modify the existing 60-min. fixed route by adding a new 30 
min. route that serves high frequency stops (up to 1,456 
revenue hours); this service will operate Saturdays (9am-
5pm) and Sundays (9am-3pm). Also includes Dial-a-Ride 
(DAR) service. (130% funding level 2020-21) 

Medium  $5,000 

Exhibit A 
Page 53 of 102

117



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate 

T6 
Woodburn 
Fixed Route 

Woodburn 
Transit 

Increase frequency of existing route to 30 minutes Medium $01 

T7 
Woodburn 
Fixed Route 

Woodburn 
Transit 

Convert existing route to two-way operations Medium $01 

T8 City-wide 
Woodburn 
Transit/City 

Work with Woodburn Transit as growth occurs to provide 
new or re-routed service to other areas of Woodburn 
including: 

• Parr Road via an extension of Evergreen Road 
• Crosby Road 
• Butteville Road 
• The employment center southwest of the I-5/OR 

214 interchange 
• Woodburn Industrial Park along the Progress Way 

and Industrial Avenue corridors 
• Gateway subarea between Front Street and Mill 

Creek 
• Neighborhoods in southeast Woodburn 

Medium  $5,000 

T9 
Woodburn 
Company 
Stores 

Woodburn 
Transit/City 

Coordinate with Woodburn Transit to establish a free shuttle 
between the Woodburn Company Stores and Downtown 
Woodburn, hourly during peak shopping and entertainment 
hours 

Medium  $5,000 

T10 City-wide 
Woodburn 
Transit/City 

Coordinate with Woodburn Transit and major employers to 
establish a peak-only employer shuttle 

Medium  $5,000 

T11 

Urban and 
Rural Cherriots 
Regional 
Services 

Cherriots/City 

Coordinate with Cherriots to deliver service enhancements 
funded through the STIF:  
 
Expand service for up to 7,557 revenue hours on urban & 
rural Regional services. Includes startup costs for hiring new 
employees, and coordination of schedules with connecting 
services. Also establishes a Youth fare category (ages 6-
18).(100% funding level 2020-21) 

Medium  $5,000 

T12 
Keizer to 
Wilsonville 

Cherriots/City 

Coordinate with Cherriots to deliver service enhancements 
funded through the STIF:  
 
Establish one new Regional route from Keizer to Wilsonville 
with a stop at the Woodburn Memorial Park and Ride. 
Increase service on weekdays by 30 percent on urban & 
rural Regional services by up to 5,245 revenue hours. (130% 
funding level 2020-21) 

Medium  $5,000 

T13 

Urban and 
Rural Cherriots 
Regional 
Services 

Cherriots/City 

Coordinate with Cherriots to deliver service enhancements 
funded through the STIF:  
 
Add Saturday service to urban & rural Cherriots Regional 
services with up to 3,919 revenue hours of new service 
(FY20-21). Includes coordination of schedules with other 
connecting services. (100% funding level 2020-21) 

Medium  $5,000 

Exhibit A 
Page 54 of 102

118



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate 

T14 

Urban and 
Rural Cherriots 
Regional 
Services 

Cherriots/City 

Coordinate with Cherriots to deliver service enhancements 
funded through the STIF:  
 
Add 30 percent more Saturday service to urban & rural 
Regional services by up to 215 revenue hours (FY20-21). In 
FY21, adds 6 holidays to the same routes. Includes 
coordination of schedules with connecting services. (130% 
funding level 2020-21) 

Medium  $5,000 

T15 City-wide 
Woodburn 
Transit/ 
Cherriots/City 

Coordinate transfers between the different agency services 
in Woodburn 

Medium  $5,000 

T16 Woodburn Cherriots/City 
Coordinate with Cherriots to provide a stop in Woodburn for 
SMART Route 1X, providing service to WES station in 
Wilsonville and downtown Salem 

Medium  $5,000 

T17 
Woodburn to 
Portland 

Cherriots/City 

Coordinate with Cherriots to consider further new service 
connections for Woodburn including: 

• Service to Portland - connect to TriMet via the 
Tualatin Park-and-Ride, directly into downtown 
Portland,  or the MAX Orange Line light rail service. 

• Demand-responsive service to Hubbard one day 
per week 

Medium  $5,000 

T18 City-wide 
Woodburn 
Transit/ 
Cherriots 

Evaluate all bus stops to verify static bus route information 
signage is visible and accessible and that bike racks are 
available at major bus stops 

Medium  $25,000 

T19 
Stop 755016: 
Walmart 

Woodburn 
Transit 

New shelter Low  $5,000 

T20 
Stop 20419: 
Garfield Street 

Woodburn 
Transit 

New shelter Low  $5,000 

T21 City-wide 
Woodburn 
Transit 

Investigate transferring the paratransit system to a local 
social service agency 

Low  $5,000 

TOTAL High Priority Costs $0 

TOTAL Medium Priority Costs $100,000 

TOTAL Low Priority Costs $15,000 

TOTAL Program Costs (20 years) $115,000 

1. Project to be funded by others. 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 55 of 102

119



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 56 of 102

120



 
 

 

 

  

5 PEDESTRIAN SYSTEM 
Pedestrian Facilities 

Pedestrian Plan Projects 

Exhibit A 
Page 57 of 102

121



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 58 of 102

122



PEDESTRIAN SYSTEM 
Woodburn’s pedestrian system consists of sidewalks, pedestrian crossings, and multi-use paths. A 
majority of city streets currently have sidewalks on at least one side of the roadway. The 
pedestrian plan includes several projects to construct new sidewalks where they are lacking and 
to fill in the gaps in the existing sidewalks along the city’s streets. Although many of the 

pedestrian projects are located on Service Collector streets or higher, a few local street 
pedestrian projects are included to provide access to essential destinations such as schools, 
parks, churches, and other land uses. The pedestrian plan also includes several enhanced 
pedestrian crossings, multi-use paths, and accessways that support the pedestrian system. 

PEDESTRIAN FACILITIES  
This section summarizes the facility types integrated into the pedestrian plan, addressing gaps 
and deficiencies identified in the existing system and forecast as part of future needs.  

Sidewalks 
Sidewalks are the fundamental building blocks of the pedestrian system. They enable people to 
walk comfortably, conveniently, and safely from place to place. They also provide an important 
means of mobility for people with disabilities, families with strollers, and others who may not be 
able to travel on an unimproved roadside surface. Sidewalks are usually 6 to 8-feet wide and 
constructed from concrete. They are also frequently separated from the roadway by a curb, 
landscaping, and/or on-street parking. Sidewalks are widely used in urban and suburban 
settings. Ideally, sidewalks could be provided along both sides of the roadway; however, some 
areas with physical or right-of-way constraints may require that sidewalk be located on only one 
side. Sidewalk solutions include: 

⚫ Fill in the gaps 

⚫ Install sidewalks on one-side of the roadway 

⚫ Install sidewalks on both sides of the roadway 

⚫ Re-construct existing sidewalks with appropriate width and buffer 

⚫ Improve existing sidewalks with appropriate lighting 

Accessways 
Non-vehicular connections between cul-de-sacs and adjacent roadways can significantly 
reduce travel distances for pedestrians, thereby encouraging more people to walk. Woodburn 
has a few existing accessways that create connections between neighborhoods and pedestrian 
and bicycle routes. Potential new connections could use existing City right-of-way between cul-
de-sacs or unconnected roadways to provide a paved path, unpaved path, or trail for non-
motorized use. 

Exhibit A 
Page 59 of 102

123



 

Sidewalk Gap 

 

Sidewalk Improvements 

Multi-use Paths and Trails 
Multi-use paths are paved, bi-directional trails that can serve both pedestrians and bicyclists. 
Multi-use paths and trails can be constructed adjacent to roadways where the topography, 
right-of-way, or other issues don’t allow for the construction of sidewalks and bike facilities. A 
minimum width of 10 feet is recommended for low-pedestrian/bicycle-traffic contexts; 12 to 20 
feet should be considered in areas with moderate to high levels of bicycle and pedestrian 
traffic. Multi-use paths can be used to create longer-distance links within and between 
communities. They play an integral role in recreation, commuting, and accessibility due to their 
appeal to users of all ages and skill levels. 

 

Accessways 
Multi-use Paths and Trails 

 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 60 of 102

124



Enhanced Pedestrian Crossings 
Pedestrian crossing facilities enable pedestrians to safely cross streets, railroad tracks, and other 
transportation facilities. Planning for appropriate pedestrian crossings requires the community to 
balance vehicular mobility needs with providing crossing locations for desired routes of walkers. 
Enhanced pedestrian crossing treatments include: 

⚫ Median refuge islands 

⚫ High visibility pavement markings and 
signs 

⚫ Rapid rectangular flashing beacons 
(RRFB) 

⚫ Pedestrian Hybrid Beacons  

⚫ Curb extensions 

⚫ Pedestrian signals 

⚫ Pedestrian countdown 
heads 

⚫ Leading Pedestrian 
interval 

Many of the treatments listed above can be applied together at one crossing location to further 
alert drivers of the presence of pedestrians in the roadway. See Attachment “A” for a detailed 

description of enhanced pedestrian crossing treatments. 

 

Enhanced Pedestrian Crossing with RRFBs Enhanced Pedestrian Crossing with Pedestrian 
Signal 

PEDESTRIAN PLAN PROJECTS 
Table 5 identifies the pedestrian plan projects for the Woodburn TSP update. As shown, the 
projects are separated into projects based on roadway classification, as well as projects at 
intersections and in other locations throughout the city. The priorities shown in Table 5 are based 
on the project evaluation criteria as well as input from the project team and the general public. 
The cost estimates are based on average unit costs for roadway improvements. Table 8 
illustrates the location of the pedestrian plan projects. 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 61 of 102

125



Table 5: Pedestrian Plan Projects 

Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate3 

Major Arterials 

P1 

OR 219 from 
Butteville Road 
to Willow 
Avenue 

State New sidewalks 
Install new sidewalks in coordination with 
ODOT 

Medium 
Cost 

included in 
R22 

P2 

OR 99E from 
Lincoln Street to 
southern City 
Boundary 

State New sidewalks 
Remove existing sidewalks and install new 
sidewalks in coordination with ODOT 

Medium 
Cost 

included in 
R42 

P3 

OR 99E from 
southern City 
Boundary to 
southern UGB 

State New sidewalks 
Install new sidewalks in coordination with 
ODOT 

Low 
Cost 

included in 
R42 

Minor Arterials 

P4 

Butteville 
Road/OR 219 
from northern 
UGB to OR 219 

State/County New sidewalks 
Install new sidewalks in coordination with 
ODOT 

Medium  $1,500 ,000 

P5 
Butteville Road 
from OR 219 to 
southern UGB 

County New sidewalks Install new sidewalks Medium 
Cost 

included in 
R62  

P6 

Evergreen Road 
from Stacy 
Allison Way to 
Boean Lane 

City 
Sidewalks - Fill 
in gaps 

Fill in the gaps High  $200,000  

P7 

Boones Ferry 
Road from 
northern UGB to 
Hazelnut Drive 

County/City New sidewalks Install new sidewalks on one side Medium  $150 ,000 

P8 

Settlemier 
Avenue from 
Oak Street to 
Parr Road 

City New sidewalks 

Install new sidewalks on one side. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Nellie Muir Elementary School, Heritage 
Elementary School, and Valor Middle 
School 

High  $300,000 

P9 

Boones Ferry 
Road from Parr 
Road to 
southern UGB 

County/City New sidewalks 

Install new sidewalks. This project improves 
safe routes to school for Heritage 
Elementary School and Valor Middle 
School 

High  $800,000  

P10 
Front Street from 
northern UGB to 
Hazelnut Drive 

City New sidewalks 
Install new sidewalks on one side. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Woodburn High School 

High  $400,000  

P11 Young Street  City 
Sidewalks - Fill 
in gaps 

Fill in the gaps Medium  $200,000  

P12 
OR 211 from OR 
99E to eastern 
UGB 

State New sidewalks 
Install new sidewalks in coordination with 
ODOT 

Medium  $500,000  

Exhibit A 
Page 62 of 102

126



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate3 

Service Collectors 

P13 

Hayes Street 
from Harvard 
Drive to 
Settlemier 
Avenue 

City 
Sidewalks - Fill 
in gaps 

Fill in the gaps. This project improves safe 
routes to school for Nellie Muir Elementary 
School 

High  $600,000 

P14 

Parr Road from 
western UGB to 
western City 
Boundary  

County New sidewalks 

Install new sidewalks. This project improves 
safe routes to school for Heritage 
Elementary School and Valor Middle 
School 

High 
Cost 

included in 
R52 

P15 
Lincoln Street 
from Cascade 
Drive to OR 99E 

City 
Sidewalks - Fill 
in gaps 

Fill in the gaps. This project improves safe 
routes to school for Washington 
Elementary School 

High  $450,000 

P16 

Industrial 
Avenue from 
Progress Way to 
OR 99E 

City New sidewalks Install new sidewalks Medium  $500,000 

P17 

Progress Way 
from Industrial 
Avenue to OR 
214 

City New sidewalks Install new sidewalks Medium  $850,000 

P18 

Hardcastle 
Avenue from 
Front Street to 
Cooley Road 

City 
Sidewalks - Fill 
in gaps 

Fill in the gaps. This project improves safe 
routes to school for Washington 
Elementary School 

High  $450,000 

P19 

Brown Street 
from Cleveland 
Street to end of 
roadway 

City 
Sidewalks - Fill 
in gaps 

Fill in the gaps Medium 
Cost 

included in 
R72 

P20 

Cooley Road 
from OR 211 to 
Hardcastle 
Avenue 

County 
Sidewalks - Fill 
in gaps 

Fill in the gaps Medium  $650,000 

Access Streets 

P21 

Woodland 
Avenue from 
Jory Street to 
Arney Road 

City New sidewalks Install new sidewalks on one side Medium  $250,000  

P22 

Stubb Road 
from Harvard 
Drive to Parr 
Road 

County New sidewalks Install new sidewalks Medium 
Cost 

included in 
R262 

P23 

Oregon Way 
from Country 
Club Road to 
OR 214 

City New sidewalks Install new sidewalks Medium  $250,000  

P24 

Hazelnut Drive 
from Graystone 
Drive to Front 
Street 

City 
Sidewalks - Fill 
in gaps 

Fill in the gaps. This project improves safe 
routes to school for Woodburn High 
School 

High  $150,000  

Exhibit A 
Page 63 of 102

127



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate3 

P25 

Gatch Street 
from Hardcastle 
Road to 
Cleveland Street 

City 
Sidewalks - Fill 
in gaps 

Fill in the gaps. This project improves safe 
routes to school for Washington 
Elementary School 

High  $350,000  

P26 

Park Avenue 
from Hardcastle 
Avenue to 
Lincoln Street 

City New sidewalks 
Install new sidewalks on one side. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Washington Elementary School 

High  $65,000  

Local Streets 

P27 
Willow Avenue 
from McNaught 
Road to OR 219 

City New sidewalks Install new sidewalks on both sides Medium  $350,000 

P28 
Cascade Drive 
from OR 214 to 
Hayes Street 

City New sidewalks 
Install new sidewalks. This project improves 
safe routes to school for Nellie Muir 
Elementary School 

High  $400,000 

P29 

Ben Brown Lane 
from end of 
roadway to 
Boones Ferry 
Road 

City 
Sidewalks - Fill 
in gaps 

Fill in the gaps Medium  $200,000 

P30 

Oak Street from 
Boones Ferry 
Road to Front 
Street 

City New sidewalks Install new sidewalks on one side Medium  $150,000 

P31 

Ogle Street from 
Cleveland Street 
to Boones Ferry 
Road 

City New sidewalks Install new sidewalks on one side Medium  $900,000 

Pedestrian Crossing Enhancements 

P32 
Front 
Street/Young 
Street 

City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

Construct ADA-compliant ramps and 
sidewalks on the east leg of the 
intersection 

Medium  $15,000 

P33 
Front 
Street/Lincoln 
Street 

City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

Construct ADA-compliant ramps and 
sidewalks on the east leg of the 
intersection. This project improves safe 
routes to school for St Luke's School 

High  $15,000  

P34 
Cascade 
Drive/Hayes 
Street 

City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

Install an enhanced pedestrian crossing. 
This project improves safe routes to school 
for Nellie Muir Elementary School 

High  $65,000  

P35 
Park 
Avenue/Legion 
Park Driveway 

City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

Install an enhanced pedestrian crossing. 
This project improves access to Legion 
Park 

Medium  $65,000  

P36 

Hazelnut Drive/ 
Broadmoor 
Place 
Accessway 

City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

Install an enhanced pedestrian crossing. 
This project improves safe routes to school 
for Woodburn High School 

High  $65,000  

Exhibit A 
Page 64 of 102

128



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate3 

P37 OR 214/N 
Bulldog Drive 

State/City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

As identified in the Woodburn OR 214/OR 
99E Pedestrian Safety Study, update the 
existing crossing to an enhanced 
pedestrian crossing with a pedestrian 
hybrid beacon coordinated with the 
surrounding traffic signals in coordination 
with ODOT. This project improves safe 
routes to school for Woodburn High 
School  

High  $150,000 

P38 
OR 99E from OR 
214 to Young 
Street 

State/City 

Enhanced 
crossing – 
Signalized 
intersection 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan, install countdown pedestrian timers 
and construct ADA enhancements at key 
signalized intersections along OR 99E in 
coordination with ODOT, including: 

• OR 214/OR 211 
• Hardcastle Avenue 
• Lincoln Road 
• Young Street 

Medium  $605,000  

P39 
OR 99E from OR 
214 to Young 
Street 

State/City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan, install curb extensions on minor street 
legs of intersections (curb extensions to 
shorten pedestrian crossing distances 
parallel to OR 99E, not for crossing of OR 
99E) between Arlington Street and 
Cleveland Street (up to 8 locations) in 
coordination with ODOT. Potential 
locations include:  

• Alexandria Avenue 
• James Street 
• Williams Street 
• Blaine Street 
• Aztec Drive 
• Laurel Avenue 
• Tomlin Avenue 

Medium  $950,000  

P40 OR 99E, north of 
Williams Street 

State/City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

As identified in the Woodburn OR 214/OR 
99E Pedestrian Safety Study, install an 
enhanced pedestrian crossing in 
coordination with ODOT, that may include 
raised median refuge island, sidewalk infill, 
supplemental street lighting, and a 
potential RRFB (RRFB cost not included). 

High $75,000 

P41 

OR 99E, 
between NE 
Laurel Avenue 
and Tomlin 
Avenue 

State/City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

As identified in the Woodburn OR 214/OR 
99E Pedestrian Safety Study, install an 
enhanced pedestrian crossing in 
coordination with ODOT, that may include 
raised median refuge island, sidewalk infill, 
supplemental street lighting, and a 
potential RRFB (RRFB cost not included). 

High $75,000 

Exhibit A 
Page 65 of 102

129



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate3 

P42 

OR 99E, 
between Blaine 
Street and Aztec 
Drive 

State/City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

As identified in the Woodburn OR 214/OR 
99E Pedestrian Safety Study, install an 
enhanced pedestrian crossing in 
coordination with ODOT, that may include 
raised median refuge island, sidewalk infill, 
supplemental street lighting, and a 
potential RRFB (RRFB cost not included). 

High $75,000 

P43 
OR 99E, north of 
Mount Jefferson 
Avenue 

State/City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

As identified in the Woodburn OR 214/OR 
99E Pedestrian Safety Study, install an 
enhanced pedestrian crossing in 
coordination with ODOT, that may include 
raised median refuge island, sidewalk infill, 
supplemental street lighting, and a 
potential RRFB (RRFB cost not included). 

Medium $75,000 

P44 OR 99E, north of 
James Street 

State/City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

As identified in the Woodburn OR 214/OR 
99E Pedestrian Safety Study, install an 
enhanced pedestrian crossing in 
coordination with ODOT, that may include 
raised median refuge island, sidewalk infill, 
supplemental street lighting, and a 
potential RRFB (RRFB cost not included). 

Medium $75,000 

P45 

Boones Ferry 
Road/ 
Constitution 
Avenue/Tukwila 
Drive 

City 
Enhanced 
crossing 

Install an enhanced pedestrian crossing. 
This project improves safe routes to school 
for Woodburn High School 

High  $65,000  

Multi-use Pathways 

P46 Mill Creek 
Greenway 

City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

As identified in the Mill Creek Greenway 
Master Plan, construct a multi-use path 
including at-grade mid-block crossing 
treatments at the following street 
connections: 

• Hazelnut Drive 
• Bulldog Drive (east crossing) 
• OR 214 (state highway)  
• Hardcastle Avenue 
• Lincoln Street 
• Young Street 
• Cleveland Street and railroad 

tracks 
 
This project improves safe routes to school 
for Woodburn High School 

High  $2,000,000  

Exhibit A 
Page 66 of 102

130



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate3 

P47 

Mill Creek 
Greenway – 
Northern 
tributary 

City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

As identified in the Mill Creek Greenway 
Master Plan, construct a multi-use path 
including at-grade mid-block crossing 
treatments at the following street 
connections: 

• Bulldog Drive (west crossing) 
• Meridian Drive 
• Boones Ferry Road 

 
This project improves safe routes to school 
for Woodburn High School, Lincoln 
Elementary School, and French Prairie 
Middle School 

Medium  $700,000  

P48 

Mill Creek 
Greenway – 
Western 
tributary 

City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

As identified in the Mill Creek Greenway 
Master Plan, construct a multi-use path 
including at-grade mid-block crossing 
treatments at the following street 
connections: 

• Parr Road 
• Ben Brown Lane 
• Settlemier Avenue 
• Front Street and railroad tracks 

 
This project improves safe routes to school 
for Heritage Elementary School and Valor 
Middle School 

Medium  $900,000  

P49 Evergreen Road 
Multi-Use Path 

City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

Construct a multi-use path extending from 
Evergreen Road south to planned Mill 
Creek Greenway 

Medium  $150,000  

P50 

Washington 
Elementary 
School Multi-Use 
Path 

City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

As identified in the Mill Creek Greenway 
Master Plan, construct a north-south multi-
use path connection between Hardcastle 
Avenue and Lincoln Street, west of 
Washington Elementary School. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Washington Elementary School 

Medium  $90,000  

P51 

Mill Creek 
Greenway - 
Southern 
extension 

City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan, construct extension of Mill Creek 
Greenway multi-use path to Belle Passi 
Road 

Medium  $90,000  

P52 
Evergreen Road 
Pedestrian 
Connection 

City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

Construct a connection between the 
Evergreen Road multi-use path and 
pedestrian facilities that are part of future 
development to the south 

Medium  $20,000   

P53 
Centennial Park 
Pedestrian 
Connection 

City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

Construct a connection between the 
Centennial Park multi-use path and 
pedestrian facilities that are part of future 
development to the west 

Medium  $20,000   

P54 
Santiam Drive 
Pedestrian 
Connection 

City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

Construct a connection between Santiam 
Drive and pedestrian facilities that are 
part of future development to the south 

Medium  $20,000   

Exhibit A 
Page 67 of 102

131



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate3 

P55 June Way 
Accessway  

State/City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan and in coordination with ODOT, install 
a new accessway to OR 99E (near the 
Audrey Way intersection), may not 
connect directly as it runs parallel to OR 
99E 

Low  $80,000 

P56 Johnson Street 
Accessway  

State/City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan and in coordination with ODOT, install 
a new accessway to OR 99E 

Low  $45,000 

P57 Elm Street 
Accessway  

State/City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan and in coordination with ODOT, install 
a new accessway to OR 99E, may not 
connect directly as it runs parallel to OR 
99E 

Low  $25,000 

P58 Wilson Street 
Accessway  

State/City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan and in coordination with ODOT, install 
a new accessway to OR 99E 

Low  $55,000 

P59 Hawley Street 
Accessway  

State/City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

As identified in the Highway 99E Corridor 
Plan and in coordination with ODOT, install 
a new accessway to OR 99E (possibly part 
of future street extension), may not 
connect directly as it runs parallel to OR 
99E 

Low  $55,000 

P60 A Street 
Accessway  

City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

Install a new accessway that connects A 
Street north to Cleveland Street and/or 
Mill Creek Greenway (western tributary). 

Low  $25,000 

P61 Greenview Drive 
Multi-use Path 

City 
Multi-use 
pathway 

Construct a multi-use path extending from 
Greenview Drive west to OR 99E 

Low $70,000 

P621 City-wide City Wayfinding 
Provide wayfinding to bike routes, multi-
use paths, parks, schools, and other 
essential destinations 

Medium  $30,000 

TOTAL High Priority Costs $6,750,000 

TOTAL Medium Priority Costs $10,300,000 

TOTAL Low Priority Costs $355,000 

TOTAL Program Costs (20 years) $17,405,000 

1. Project not shown on Pedestrian Plan Map 

2. Cost estimates are not included for projects that would be completed as part of a roadway project, such as locations 
where roadway widening will relocate the curb and require new sidewalks to be installed. The cost for these projects is 
included in the corresponding roadway projects described later in the memo.  

3. The cost estimates presented to not include costs associated with right-of-way acquisition due 
to its high variability depending on location, parcel sizes, and other characteristics.  

Exhibit A 
Page 68 of 102

132



!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

!!!

§̈¦5

vÍÎ99E

vÍÎ219

vÍÎ99E
vÍÎ219

vÍÎ214 vÍÎ211

vÍÎ214

ä

ä

P54

P55
ä

P53

AUD
RE

Y
W

Y

A 
ST

HI
GHW

AY
99

E
HY

FR
ONT S

T

C
O

R
BY

 S
T

JUDY ST

RYE ST

DAHLIA
ST

TIE
RR

A

LY
N

N
D

R

AZTEC DR

U
M

P
Q

U
A 

R
D

CARL RD

JOHNSON ST

GARFIELD ST

DELL
MOOR W

Y

CONSTITUTION AV

EAGLE DR
JA

NSEN WY

STARK ST

BR
YA

N 
ST

HA
W

LE
Y 

ST

TULIP AV

TE
N

O
A

KS
LN

E BLAINE ST

RAINIER RD

M
IL

LE
R

FA
R

M
RD

M
E

R
ID

IA
N

DR

B
U

TT
E

V
IL

LE
 R

D

SM
ITH

D
R

CROSBY RD

LAUREL AV

EAST HARDCASTLE RD

S
A

LL
A

L 
R

D

W
IL

LO
W

AV

E
LA

N
A

D
R

W LINCOLN ST

TOMLIN AV

VANDERBECK LN

M
C

K
E

E
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
R

D

TROON AV

HA
ZE

LN
U

T
D

R

JU
NE

W

Y

BO
ONE

S
FE

RRY
RD

MYRTLE ST

PA
NA S

T

ALEXANDRA AV

COUNTR
YCLUB RD

LE
AS

U
RE

 S
T

BROADWAY ST

FINZER WY

KING WY

P
R

IN
C

E
TO

N
RD

DOUD S
T

MAYANNA DR

ARLINGTON AV

AS
TO

R
W

Y

M
C

LA
U

G
H

LI
N

D
R

IRONWOOD TR

WILSO N ST

GRANT ST

S 3 RD
ST

N 5T
H S

T

W HAYES ST

TUKW ILA DR
LE

AR
Y 

RD

HE
RM

AN
SO

N
ST

N 6T
H S

T

MOLALLA RD

ARNEY LN

N 1S
T S

T

N 2N
D ST

W
A

LTO
N

W
Y

STEVEN ST

Q
U

IN
N

 R
D

COUN
TR

YCLUB TR

M
AR

SH
AL

L 
ST

WILCO HY

REED AV

C
A

S CA D
E

D
R

D
E

E
R

RUN
CO

UN
TR

Y
LN

RAYJG
LA

TT CR

OXFORD ST

N 3R
D ST

PORTLA
ND

RD

ELLIOTT PRAIRIE RD

TH
O

M
P

S
O

N
 R

D

ST LOUIS
R

D

C
A

R
O

L 
ST

LINDA ST

MCKINLEY ST

M
O

UN
TA

IN
 V

IE
W

 L
N

H
AL

L 
ST

BRADLEY ST

DIMMICK LN

CA
NBY LP

LINFIELD AV

H
A

R
VA

R
D

D
R

G
RE

E NV IE
W

DR

VINE AV

KOI LN

PU

BLICRD

PLUM LN

N
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

U
N

IO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
D

OGLE
 S

T

EAST LINCOLN RD

MEADOW DR

PA
LM

AV

OATS ST

RAILROAD

BLY
LP GOUDY GARDENS LN

JORY ST

EL
AN

A 
W

Y

COMMERCE W
Y

C
H

ATE
A

U

DR

BLAINE ST

TU

RNBERRY AV

A
R

B
O

R
 G

R
O

VE
 R

D

ROY
AV

NAT
IO

NAL
 W

Y

CAMAS ST

W

HITNEY LN

GEORGE ST

MCNAUGHT RD

KOENER RD

219

R
A

N
D

O
LP

H
 R

D

HO OPER ST

AL

SEA LP

E

C
LA

C
K

A
M

A
S

C
R

W
C

L A
C

K
A

M
A

S
C

R
A

R
N

E
Y 

R
D

SERRES LN

S
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

GESCHWILL LN

S
 C

O
LU

M
B

IA
 D

R

STAFNEY LN

INGALLS LN

PARR RD

JENSEN RD

BELLE PASSI RD

LE BRUN RD

PINE

C R

SHALIMAR
LP

HAZELNUT DR

W HAYES ST

LINCOLN ST

O
RE

G
O

N
W

Y

PA
R

K 
AV

PARR RD

HARDCASTLE AV

STA
CY

ALL
IS

ON
W

Y

H
AR

VA
R

D
 D

R

AR
NEY

RD

W LINCOLN ST

HARRISON ST

B
RO

W
N

ST

G
AT

C
H

ST

W
O

O
DL

A
ND

AV

AS
TO

R
W

Y

COOLE
Y R

D

PROGRESS W
Y

ST
U

BB
 R

D

EAST LINCOLN RD

BO
ON

ES
FE

RR
Y R

D

NEWBERG HY

S P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

MT HOOD AV

N P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

N 
SE

TT
LE

MI
ER

 A
V

YOUNG ST

GARFIELD ST

MOLALLA RD

EV
ER

GREEN RD

S FRONT S
T

N FR
ONT S

T

BU
TT

EV
ILL

E R
D

P32

P33

P34

P35

P36

P45

P41

P42

P40

P44

P37
P43

P60

P57

P56

P58
P59

P61

P55

P38-39

P51

P50

P49

P48

P47

P46

P2

P12
P1

P8

P4

P30

P9

P26

P17

P22

P23

P28

P3

P31

P27

P10

P5

P14

P16
P21

P7

P11

P6

P13

P15

P18

P24

P25P29

P19

P20

Woodburn TSP Update September 2019 

¯

Figure

8

!!! Enhanced Crossing

New Mutli-use Pathway

Enhanced Crossing Corridor

New Sidewalks

Sidewalks - Fill in Gaps

Street Lighting

Future Roadway (See Roadway Plan
for associated pedestrian
enhancements)

City Boundary

Urban Growth Boundary

H:
\21

\21
07

1 -
 W

oo
db

urn
 TS

P U
pd

ate
\gi

s\T
SP

\08
 Pe

de
str

ian
 P

lan
 El

em
en

ts.
mx

d -
 m

mc
co

rm
ick

 -  
5:4

8 P
M 

9/1
6/2

01
9

Coordinate System: NAD 1983 Oregon Statewide Lambert Feet Intl
Data Source: City of Woodburn, Oregon Department of Transportation

Pedestrian Plan Elements
Woodburn, Oregon

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 Feet

Note: Future roadway alignments are approximate and subject to further refinement.

Exhibit A 
Page 69 of 102

133



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

Exhibit A 
Page 70 of 102

134



 

 
 

 

  

6 BICYCLE SYSTEM  
Bicycle Facilities  

Bicycle Plan Projects 

Exhibit A 
Page 71 of 102

135



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 72 of 102

136



BICYCLE SYSTEM  
Woodburn’s bicycle system consists of on-street bike lanes and other bicycle provided on a few 
roadways within the city. The bicycle plan includes several projects along the city’s Major and 

Minor Arterial and Service Collector streets for connectivity throughout the city. The bicycle plan 
also includes projects on access and local street that provide direct access to essential 
destinations. 

BICYCLE FACILITIES  

Alternative Routes 
Designate an alternative route along a parallel street that provides a more comfortable 
environment for cyclists with the same level of connectivity. The alternative route could be 
identified by wayfinding signs, which could also be used to identify essential destinations that 
can be reached by the route. The alternative route may provide shared-lane pavement 
markings and signs, on-street bike lanes, or other bicycle facilities. 

Shared Lane Pavement Markings and Signs 
Shared‐lane pavement markings (often called “sharrows”) are not a bicycle facility, but a tool 

designed to help accommodate bicyclists on roadways where bike lanes are desirable but 
infeasible to construct. Sharrows indicate a shared roadway space for cyclists and motorists and 
are typically centered in the travel lane or approximately four feet from the edge of the 
travelway. Sharrows are suitable on roadways with relatively low travel speeds (<35 mph) and 
low ADT (<3,000 ADT); however, they may also be used to transition between discontinuous 
bicycle facilities. Sharrows could be applied along a variety of streets within Woodburn where 
room for on-street bike lanes is limited. 

On-Street bike lanes 
On-street bike lanes are striped lanes on the roadway dedicated for the exclusive use of cyclists. 
Bike lanes are typically placed at the outer edge of pavement (but to the inside of right‐turn 
lanes and/or on‐street parking). Bicycle lanes can improve safety and security of cyclists and (if 
comprehensive) can provide direct connections between origins and destinations. On-street 
bike lanes could be applied along a variety of streets within Woodburn where space allows. 

Separated Bike Facilities 
Separated bike facilities include buffered bike lanes and separated bike lanes, or cycle tracks. 
Buffered bike lanes are on-street bike lanes that include an additional striped buffer of typically 
2-3 feet between the bicycle lane and the vehicle travel lane and/or between the bicycle lane 
and the vehicle parking lane. They are typically located along streets that require a higher level 
of separation to improve the comfort of bicycling. Separated bike lanes, also known as cycle 
tracks, are bicycle facilities that are separated from motor vehicle traffic by a buffer and a 
physical barrier, such as planters, flexible posts, parked cars, or a mountable curb. One-way 

Exhibit A 
Page 73 of 102

137



separated bike lanes are typically found on each side of the street, like a standard bike lane, 
while two-way separated bike lanes are typically found on one side of the street. 

 

On-street Bike Lanes 

 

Buffered Bike Lanes 

Enhanced Crossings 
Enhanced bicycle crossing facilities enable cyclists to safely cross streets, railroad tracks, and 
other transportation facilities. Planning for appropriate bicycle crossings requires the community 
to balance vehicular mobility needs with providing crossing locations that the desired routes of 
cyclists. Enhanced bicycle crossings include: 

⚫ Bike Boxes – designated space at an intersection that allows cyclists to wait in front of 
motor vehicles while waiting to turn or continue through the intersection. 

⚫ Two-Stage Left-turn Boxes – designated space at a signalized intersection outside of the 
travel lane that provides cyclists with a place to wait while making a two-stage left-turn. 

⚫ Pavement marking through intersections – pavement markings that extend and bike lane 
through an intersection. 

⚫ Bike Only Signals – A traffic signal that is dedicated for cyclists 

⚫ Bicycle Detection – Vehicle detection for bicycles 

Additional information on the enhanced bicycle crossing treatments is provided in Technical 

Memorandum 5: Alternative Analysis and Funding. 

Wayfinding Signs 
Wayfinding signs are signs located along roadways or at intersections that direct bicyclists 
towards destinations in the area and/or to define a bicycle route. They typically include 
distances and average walk/cycle times. Wayfinding signs are generally used on primary 
bicycle routes and multi-use paths. 

 

Exhibit A 
Page 74 of 102

138



BICYCLE PLAN PROJECTS 
Table 6 identifies the bicycle plan projects for the Woodburn TSP update. As shown, the projects 
are separated based on roadway classification. The priorities shown in Table 6 are based on the 
project evaluation criteria as well as input from the project team and the general public. The 
cost estimates are based on average unit costs for roadway improvements. Figure 9 illustrates 
the location of the bicycle plan projects. 

Table 6: Bicycle Plan Projects 

Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate3 

Major Arterials 

B1 

OR 219 from 
Butteville Road 
to Willow 
Avenue 

State Bike lanes 
Widen roadway and install bike lanes in 
coordination with ODOT 

Medium 
Cost 

included in 
R22 

B2 
OR 214 from 
Progress Way 
to OR 99E 

State Bike lanes 
Widen roadway and install bike lanes in 
coordination with ODOT 

Medium 
Cost 

included in 
R32 

B3 

OR 99E from 
Lincoln Street 
to southern 
City Boundary 

State Bike lanes 
Widen roadway and install bike lanes in 
coordination with ODOT 

Medium 
Cost 

included in 
R42 

B4 

OR 99E from 
southern City 
Boundary to 
southern UGB 

State Bike lanes 
Widen roadway and install buffered bike 
lanes in coordination with ODOT 

Medium 
Cost 

included in 
R42 

Minor Arterials 

B5 
OR 219 from 
western UGB to 
Butteville Road 

State Bike lanes 
Widen roadway and install bike lanes in 
coordination with ODOT 

Medium $1,000,000 

B6 

Butteville 
Road/OR 219 
from northern 
UGB to OR 219 

State/County Bike lanes 
Widen roadway and install bike lanes in 
coordination with ODOT 

Medium $3,200,000 

B7 
Butteville Road 
from OR 219 to 
southern UGB 

County Bike lanes Widen roadway and install bike lanes Medium 
Cost 

included in 
R62 

B8 

Evergreen 
Road from OR 
214 to Hayes 
Street 

City Bike lanes Widen roadway and install bike lanes Medium $500,000 

B9 

Boones Ferry 
Road from 
northern UGB 
to Hazelnut 
Drive 

County/City Bike lanes Widen roadway and install bike lanes Medium $500,000 

B10 

Settlemier 
Avenue from 
Harrison Street 
to railroad 
tracks 

City Shared street 

Install shared lane markings and signs. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Nellie Muir Elementary School, Heritage 
Elementary School, Valor Middle School, 
and St. Luke's School 

Medium $25,000 

Exhibit A 
Page 75 of 102

139



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate3 

B11 

Boones Ferry 
Road from 
Dahlia Street to 
southern UGB 

County/City Bike lanes Widen roadway and install bike lanes Medium $1,500,000 

B12 

Front Street 
from northern 
UGB to Boones 
Ferry Road 

City Bike lanes 

Widen roadway and install bike lanes. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Woodburn High School, Heritage 
Elementary School, Valor Middle School, 
and St. Luke's School 

High $8,050,000 

B13 
Garfield Street 
from 3rd Street 
to Front Street 

City Shared street Install shared lane markings and signs Low $10,000 

B14 

Garfield Street 
from Smith 
Drive to 3rd 
Street 

City Shared street Install shared lane markings and signs Low $10,000 

B151 Young Street City Study 

Perform a corridor evaluation that would 
consider design treatments to improve 
bicycle comfort and safety such as 
striping, signing, and wayfinding  

Medium $15,000 

B16 
OR 211 from 
OR 99E to 
eastern UGB 

State Bike lanes 
Widen roadway and install bike lanes in 
coordination with ODOT 

Medium $1,000,000 

Service Collectors 

B17 

Arney Road 
from Robin 
Avenue to OR 
219 

State Shared street 
Install shared lane markings and signs in 
coordination with ODOT  

Low $5,000 

B18 

Harvard Drive 
from Stacy 
Allison Way to 
Evergreen 
Road 

City Bike lanes 

Enhance the parallel route of Harvard 
Drive from Stacy Allison Way to Evergreen 
Road in place of Stacy Allison Way. Install 
buffered bike lane striping on both sides 
of the roadway 

Medium $15,000 

B19 

Hayes Street 
from Harvard 
Drive to 
Cascade Drive 

City Bike lanes 
Install bike lane striping. This project 
improves safe routes to school for Nellie 
Muir Elementary School 

Medium $35,000 

B20 

Hayes Street 
from Cascade 
Drive to 
Settlemier 
Avenue 

City Bike lanes 
Widen roadway and install bike lanes. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Nellie Muir Elementary School 

Medium $3,000,000 

B21 

Parr Road from 
western UGB to 
western City 
Boundary  

County Bike lanes 

Widen roadway and install bike lanes. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Heritage Elementary School and Valor 
Middle School 

High 
Cost 

included in 
R52 

B22 

Lincoln Street 
from Cascade 
Drive to Front 
Street 

City Shared street 
Install shared lane markings and signs. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Washington Elementary School 

Medium $20,000 

Exhibit A 
Page 76 of 102

140



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate3 

B23 

Lincoln Street 
from Front 
Street to OR 
99E 

city Bike lanes 
Install bike lane striping. This project 
improves safe routes to school for 
Washington Elementary School 

High $55,000 

B24 

Cleveland 
Street from 
Front Street to 
OR 99E 

City Shared street Install shared lane markings and signs Low $15,000 

B25 

Hardcastle 
Avenue from 
Front Street to 
OR 99E 

City Shared street 
Install shared lane markings and signs. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Washington Elementary School 

High $15,000 

B26 

Brown Street 
from 
Cleveland 
Street to end 
of roadway 

City Shared street Install shared lane markings and signs Low $20,000 

B27 
Cooley Road 
from OR 211 to 
Aubrey Way 

County Bike lanes Widen roadway and install bike lanes Medium $1,300,000 

B28 

Cooley Road 
from Aubrey 
Way to 
Hardcastle 
Avenue 

County Bike lanes Install bike lane striping Medium $15,000 

Access Streets 

B29 

Stubb Road 
from Harvard 
Drive to Parr 
Road 

County Shared street Install shared lane markings and signs Low 
Cost 

included in 
R262 

B30 

Astor Way from 
Country Club 
Road to OR 
214 

City Bike lanes Install bike lane striping Low $25,000 

B31 

Tukwila Drive 
from Boones 
Ferry Road to 
Hazelnut Drive 

City Shared street Install shared lane markings and signs Low $5,000 

B32 
5th Street from 
OR 214 to 
Garfield Street 

City Shared street 
Install shared lane markings and signs. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
St Luke's School 

Medium $20,000 

B33 

Gatch Street 
from 
Hardcastle 
Road to 
Cleveland 
Street 

City Shared street 
Install shared lane markings and signs. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Washington Elementary School 

Medium $15,000 

B34 
Park Avenue 
from OR 214 to 
Lincoln Street 

City Shared street 
Install shared lane markings and signs. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Washington Elementary School 

Medium $20,000 

B35 

Evergreen 
Road from 
Country Club 
Court to OR 
214 

City Shared street Install shared lane markings and signs Low $10,000 

Exhibit A 
Page 77 of 102

141



Project 
Number Location 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Type Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate3 

Local Streets 

B36 

Country Club 
Road from 
Evergreen 
Road to Astor 
Way 

City Bike lanes Install bike lane striping Medium $40,000 

B37 
Cascade Drive 
from OR 214 to 
Hayes Street 

City Shared street 
Install shared lane markings and signs. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Nellie Muir Elementary School 

Medium $10,000 

B38 

Smith Drive 
from Hayes 
Street to 
Garfield Street 

City Shared street 
Install shared lane markings and signs. This 
project improves safe routes to school for 
Nellie Muir Elementary School 

Medium $5,000 

B39 
Meridian Drive 
from Hazelnut 
Drive to OR 214 

City Shared street Install shared lane markings and signs Low $10,000 

B40 

1st Street from 
Harrison Street 
to Cleveland 
Street 

City Shared street Install shared lane markings and signs Medium $15,000 

B401 City-wide City Wayfinding 
Provide wayfinding to bike routes, multi-
use paths, parks, schools, and other 
essential destinations 

Medium $30,000 

TOTAL High Priority Costs $8,125,000 

TOTAL Medium Priority Costs $12,280,000 

TOTAL Low Priority Costs $110,000 

TOTAL Program Costs (20 years) $20,515,000 

1. Project not shown on Bicycle Plan Map.  

2. Cost estimates are not included for projects that would be completed as part of a roadway project, such as locations 
where additional roadway width is needed to install bike lanes. The cost for these projects is included in the 
corresponding roadway projects described later in the memo.  

3. The cost estimates presented to not include costs associated with right-of-way acquisition due to its high variability 
depending on location, parcel sizes, and other characteristics.  

 
 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 78 of 102

142



§̈¦5

vÍÎ99E

vÍÎ219

vÍÎ99E
vÍÎ219

vÍÎ214 vÍÎ211

vÍÎ214

PA N A ST

E BLAINE ST

OR
EGON LP

FR
ONT S

T

JANSEN WY

M

ER
ID

IA
N

D
R

B
U

TT
E

V
IL

LE
 R

D

M
C

K
E

E
 S

C
H

O
O

L 
R

D

ALEXANDRA
AV

HA
ZE

LN
U

T
D

R

LA
ND

AU DR

PA
RK

CR

TUKWILA D R

LE
AR

Y 
RD

JUNE
W

Y

COUNT
RY

CLUB TR

M
O

UN
TA

IN
 V

IE
W

 L
N

RAYJG
LA

TT CR

S
H

E
N

A
N

DOAH LN

U
N

IO
N

 S
C

H
O

O
L 

R
D

MILL ST

CASCADE
D

R

RYE ST

VINE AV

KOI LN

VERA LN

HIGH
ST

PLUM LN

OGLE
 S

T

STARK ST

IDAHO DR

BR
YA

N 
ST

N FRONTST

N
 C

A
S

C
A

D
E 

D
R

TULIP AV

PA
LM

AV

OATS ST

RAILROAD

B
LY

L
P

DEXTER LP

JORY ST

HA
W

LE
Y 

STEL
AN

A 
W

Y

COMMERCE W
Y

SM IT H
DR

DE
E

R
RU

N

C
H

ATE
A

U
D

R

OXFORD ST

EAST LINCOLN RD

TU

RNBERRY AV

ROY
AV

NAT
IO

NAL
 W

Y

N 2N
D ST

AZTEC DR

SANTIAM DR

CAMAS ST

W
IL

LO
W

AV

SA
LL

A
L 

R
D

S
TA

N
F I

E
LD

R
D

JAMES ST

P
R

IN
C

E
TO

N
RD

BLAINE ST

GEORGE ST

MCNAUGHT RD

Q
U

IN
N

 R
D

KI
NG W

Y

TOMLIN AV

W
O

RK
M

A
N

DR

MCKINLEY ST

KOENER RD
G

RE
EN

VIE W
DR

219

N 3R
D ST

R
A

N
D

O
LP

H
 R

D

LAUREL AV

HOOPE R ST

AL

SEALP

EL
M

S
T

E

C
LA

C
K

A
M

A
S

CR

M
C

LA
U

G
HL

IN
D

R

N 1S
T S

T

W
C

LA
C

K
A

M
A

S
C

R

DECONINCK RD

SERRES LN

S
C

A
S

C
A

D
E

D
R

EAST HARDCASTLE RD

B
O

O
N

E
S

 F
E

R
R

Y 
R

D

ST LOUIS RD

GESCHWILL LN

S
 C

O
LU

M
B

IA
 D

R

DIMMICK LN

STAFNEY LN

MOLALLA RD

A
R

N
E

Y 
R

D

MEADOW DR

INGALLS LN

CROSBY RD

PARR RD

CARL RD

JENSEN RD

BELLE PASSI RD

WILCO HY

A
R

B
O

R
G

R
O

V
E

R
D

LE BRUN RD
PINE

C R

SHALIMAR

LP

HAZELNUT DR

O
R

E
G

O
N

W
Y

PARR RD

W HAYES ST

BR
O

W
N

S T

PA
RK

AV

PROGRESS W
Y

WOODLAND AV

COOLE
Y R

D

AS
TO

R
W

Y

LINCOLN ST

ST
U

BB
 R

D

EAST LINCOLN RD
STA

CY
AL

LIS
ON

W
Y

AR
NEY

RD

N
5T

H
S

T
S P

AC
IFI

C H
Y

BO
ON

ES
 FE

RR
Y R

D

MOLALLA RD

N FR
ONT S

T

BU
TT

EV
ILL

E R
D

NEWBERG HY MT HOOD AV

YOUNG ST

N P
AC

IFI
C H

Y

EV
ER

GR
EE

N RD

B3

B8

B20

B27
B16

B1

B23

B30

B19

B36

B28

B5

B12 B2

B18

B21

B4

B9

B11

B6

B7

B26

B13

B39

B24

B34

B17

B31

B22

B38

B37
B32

B10

B14

B29
B33

B25

B35

B40

Woodburn TSP Update September 2019 

¯

Figure

9

Existing Bike Lane

New Bike Lanes

New Shared Street

Future Roadway (See Roadway Plan
for associated bicycle enhancements)

City Boundary

Urban Growth Boundary

H:
\21

\21
07

1 -
 W

oo
db

urn
 TS

P U
pd

ate
\gi

s\T
SP

\09
 Bi

cy
cle

 Pl
an

 E
lem

en
ts.

mx
d -

 m
mc

co
rm

ick
 -  

5:4
8 P

M 
9/1

6/2
01

9

Coordinate System: NAD 1983 HARN StatePlane Oregon North FIPS 3601 Feet Intl
Data Source: City of Woodburn, Oregon Department of Transportation

Bicycle Plan Elements
Woodburn, Oregon

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 Feet

Note: Future roadway alignments are approximate and subject to further refinement.

Exhibit A 
Page 79 of 102

143



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 

 

 

Exhibit A 
Page 80 of 102

144



 

 
 

 

 

  

7 OTHER TRAVEL MODES 
Transportation System Management and Operation Plan 

Rail Plan 
Air Transportation 

Marine Transportation 
Pipeline 

Exhibit A 
Page 81 of 102

145



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 82 of 102

146



OTHER TRAVEL MODES 
This section summarizes the plans for other travel modes in Woodburn. 

TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM MANAGEMENT AND OPERATIONS 
(TSMO) PLAN 
Transportation System Management and Operations (TSMO) is a set of integrated transportation 
solutions intended to improve the performance of existing transportation infrastructure. 
Transportation Demand Management (TDM) and Transportation System Management (TSM) 
strategies are two complementary approaches to managing transportation and maximizing the 
efficiency of the existing system. TDM addresses the demand on the system: the number of 
vehicles traveling on the roadways each day. TDM measures include any method intended to 
shift travel demand from single occupant vehicles to non-auto modes or carpooling, travel at 
less congested times of the day, etc. TSM addresses the supply of the system: using strategies to 
improve the system efficiency without increasing roadway widths or building new roads. TSM 
measures are focused on improving operations by enhancing capacity during peak times, 
typically with advanced technologies to improve traffic operations. 

Transportation System Management (TSM) 
Transportation System Management (TSM) focuses on low cost strategies that can be 
implemented within the existing transportation infrastructure to enhance operational 
performance. Finding ways to better manage transportation while maximizing urban mobility 
and treating all modes of travel as a coordinated system is a priority. TSM strategies include 
traffic signal timing and phasing, traffic signal coordination, traffic calming, access 
management, local street connectivity and intelligent transportation systems (ITS). Traffic signal 
coordination and ITS typically provide the most significant tangible benefits to the traveling 
public. The primary focus of TSM measures are region-wide improvements, however there are a 
number of TSM measures that could be used in a smaller-scale environment such as within the 
City of Woodburn. TSM projects and programs that are recommended for the City of Woodburn 
to explore include the following: 

⚫ Update signal timing plans and coordinate signals to better match prevailing traffic 
conditions 

o OR 99E from Hardcastle Avenue to Young Street (or to the potential future 
Cleveland Street traffic signal) is one candidate corridor for coordination 

⚫ Implement truck signal priority at key signalized intersections along OR 214 and OR 99E. 
Truck signal priority can reduce delay, travel time, and the number of stops for freight 
vehicles, helping reduce vehicle emissions and improve travel time reliability. 

⚫ Work with ODOT to develop and implement a Traffic Management Plan for the OR 99E 
corridor that responds to increased congestion resulting from incidents on I-5 and 
regional events 

Exhibit A 
Page 83 of 102

147



Transportation Demand Management (TDM) 
Transportation Demand Management (TDM) is a policy tool as well as a general term used to 
describe any action that removes single occupant vehicle trips from the roadway during peak 
travel demand periods. As growth in the City of Woodburn occurs, the number of vehicle trips 
and travel demand in the area will also increase. The ability to change a user’s travel behavior 

and provide alternative mode choices will help accommodate this potential growth in trips. 

Technical Memorandum 5: Alternative Analysis and Funding identifies several policies and 
programs that may be effective for managing transportation demand in the City of Woodburn, 
especially within the next 10 to 20 years. Table 7 summarizes the strategies that best meet the 
goals and objectives of the TSP update. As with all new public and private investments, the 
implementation of TDM strategies is sure to draw opposition from some. Given Woodburn’s lack 

of experience with TDM strategies, it is important that decision-makers understand their long-term 
costs and benefits and are able evaluate these along-side arguments from opponents in 
achieving outcomes that best reflect the City’s vision and goals while effectively reducing travel 

demand. 

Table 7: Transportation Demand Management Program Strategies 

Program/Project 
Number Name 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate 

TDM1 
Carpool/Vanpool 
Match Services 

County/City 
Coordinate a rideshare/carpool/vanpool program 
that regional commuters can use to find other 
commuters with similar routes to work 

High $5,000/year 

TDM2 
Carpool/Vanpool 
Parking Program 

City 
Coordinate with employers to designate 
carpool/vanpool preferential parking  Low $5,000/year 

TDM3 
Collaborative 
Marketing 

County/City 

Work with nearby cities, employers, transit service 
providers, and developers to collaborate on 
marketing for transportation options that provide an 
alternative to single-occupancy vehicles 

Medium $5,000/year 

TDM4 
Limited and/or 
Flexible Parking 
Requirements 

City 
Update the Woodburn Development Ordinance to 
include strategies that encourage multi-modal 
transportation 

High  $25,000  

TDM5 
Parking 
Management 

City 
Modify the City’s current parking policy to allow for 

the potential to charge for parking Low  $10,000  

TDM6 
Transit Fare 
Subsidies 

City/ 
Woodburn 

Transit 

Work with Woodburn Transit to provide transit fare 
subsidies  Low  $5,000  

TDM7 
Employer TDM 
Measures 

City 

Work with employers to encourage TDM measures 
such as allowing employees to work at home one day 
a week and scheduling shift changes to occur 
outside of peak travel periods 

Low $5,000/year 

TOTAL High Priority Costs $125,000 

TOTAL Medium Priority Costs $100,000 

TOTAL Low Priority Costs $215,000 

TOTAL Program Costs (20 years) $440,000 

 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 84 of 102

148



Other potential TDM projects include: 

⚫ Encourage the development of high-speed communication in all part of the city (fiber 
optic, digital cable, DSL, etc). The objective would be to allow employers and residents 
the maximum opportunity to rely upon other systems for conducting business and 
activities than the transportation system during peak periods. 

⚫ Encourage developments that effectively mix land uses to reduce vehicle trip 
generation. These plans may include development linkages (particularly non-auto) 
that support greater use of alternative modes. 

Land Use 
The types and intensities of land uses are closely correlated with travel demand. Land use 
patterns in many areas of the city are suburban in nature with low densities throughout the city 
and more industrial and commercial uses in the eastern part of the city near OR 99E. In the 
future the city will continue to have a mixture of housing and industrial densities, as well as areas 
of mixed-use development (i.e., a mix of residential, retail, commercial and/or office uses). 
Technical Memorandum 5: Alternative Analysis and Funding identifies several land use strategies 
that could be implemented in Woodburn. Table 8 summarizes the strategies that best meet the 
goals and objectives of the TSP update. 

Table 8: Land Use Projects 

Program/Project 
Number Name 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate 

LU1 
Commercial and 
Mixed-use Nodes 

City 
Establish neighborhood commercial and mixed-use 
nodes within the city Low  $25,000  

LU2 
Alternative 
Mobility Targets 

State/City 
Work with ODOT to develop alternative mobility 
targets at critical intersections along state highways. Low  $25,000  

LU3 
Right-of-way 
Dedications 

City 

Through development, right-of-way dedications 
should be provided to facilitate the future planned 
transportation system in the vicinity of the proposed 
development 

Low $01 

LU4 
Half-street 
Improvements 

City 

Through development, half-street improvements 
(sidewalks, curb and gutter, bicycle lanes/paths, 
and/or travel lanes) should be provided along all site 
frontages that do not have full buildout improvements 
in place at the time of development 

High $01 

TOTAL High Priority Costs $0 

TOTAL Medium Priority Costs $0 

TOTAL Low Priority Costs $50,000 

TOTAL Program Costs (20 years) $50,000 

1. Project to be funded by others. 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 85 of 102

149



Access Management Plan 
Numerous driveways or street intersections increase the number of conflicts and potential for 
collisions and decrease mobility and traffic flow. The City of Woodburn, as with every city, needs 
a balance of streets that provide access with streets that serve mobility. Access management is 
a set of measures regulating access to streets, roads, and highways, from public roads and 
private driveways. It is a policy tool which seeks to balance mobility, the need to provide 
efficient, safe and timely travel with the ability to allow access to individual properties. Proper 
implementation of access management techniques should guarantee reduced congestion, 
reduced collision rates, less need for roadway widening, conservation of energy, and reduced 
air pollution. Measures may include but are not limited to restrictions on the type and amount of 
access to roadways, and use of physical controls, such as signals and channelization including 
raised medians, to reduce impacts of approach road traffic on the main facility. 

City of Woodburn access spacing standards can be found in the Woodburn Development 
Ordinance Section 3.04.02 and OAR Division 51, which specifies access management spacing 
standards for ODOT facilities. In coordination with the access spacing standards presented in 
these documents, Table 9 summarizes the access management projects identified to help 
Woodburn balance access and mobility throughout the city.  

Table 9: Access Management Projects 

Program/Project 
Number Name 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate 

AM1 
Access Spacing 
Standard 
Modification 

City 

Develop access management standards that reflect 
functional classification of the roadway and that 
coordinate with the ODOT standards that regulate 
several major roadways in Woodburn  

Low  $25,000 

AM2 
Alternative 
Access 

City 

Investigate and implement opportunities to provide 
alternative access to nonstate facilities when 
reasonable access can occur (consistent with the 
State’s Division 51 access management standards) 

Low  $25,000 

AM3 
Access Variance 
Process 

City 
Define a variance process for when the standard 
cannot be met Low  $25,000 

AM4 
Access 
Consolidation 

City 

Establish an approach for access consolidation over 
time to move in the direction of the standards at 
each opportunity. Cross-over easements should be 
provided on all compatible parcels (topography, 
access, and land use) to facilitate future access 
between adjacent parcels and inter-parcel 
circulation. 

Low  $25,000 

AM5 
Access 
Movement 
Restrictions 

City 
Consider opportunities to restrict certain turning 
movements at accesses (such as a right in-right out 
access) 

Low  $25,000 

TOTAL High Priority Costs $0 

TOTAL Medium Priority Costs $0 

TOTAL Low Priority Costs $125,000 

TOTAL Program Costs (20 years) $125,000 

 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 86 of 102

150



RAIL PLAN 
The existing rail system in Woodburn includes freight rail, while there are currently no passenger 
rail terminals. Union Pacific Railroad operates a Class I rail line through Woodburn. These tracks 
parallel the east side of Front Street. A total of five at-grade crossings and one grade separated 
crossing exist along the rail line. Willamette Valley Railway operates a Shortline Railroad track 
that parallels the north side of Cleveland Street in the south side of town.  A total of five public 
at-grade crossings exist along this rail line. In addition to these crossings, the rail line serves 
multiple local businesses along the corridor. Table 10 summarizes the rail system projects that 
best meet the identified goals and objectives of this plan. 

Table 10: Rail Projects 

Program/Project 
Number Name 

Responsible 
Jurisdiction Description Priority 

Cost 
Estimate 

RA1 Front Street City 

Establish a downtown Amtrak passenger rail stop 
along Front Street in downtown Woodburn, potentially 
as a public-private partnership at the "Y" property 
adjacent to Locomotive Park 

Low  $10,000  

RA2 
Front Street and 
Cleveland Street 

City 
Investigate the opportunity to remove private grade 
railroad crossings by providing alternative access to 
parcels as development and redevelopment occurs 

Medium  $10,000  

RA3 
Butteville Road, 
north of OR 219 

State/County/ 
City 

Explore a passenger rail stop if commuter rail is 
extended between Wilsonville and Beaverton down 
to Salem 

Low  $5,000  

TOTAL High Priority Costs $0 

TOTAL Medium Priority Costs $10,000 

TOTAL Low Priority Costs $15,000 

TOTAL Program Costs (20 years) $25,000 

AIR TRANSPORTATION 
There are no airports located within the city limits. The closest airports include the Aurora State 
Airport (classified as an Urban General Aviation Airport) located approximately 8 miles to the 
north via OR 99E and OR 551 and the Mulino Airport located approximately 14 miles to the 
northeast via OR 211 and OR 213. No air projects or programs were identified as part of the TSP 
process.   

MARINE TRANSPORTATION 
Marine transportation is not available within the City of Woodburn, and no marine projects or 
programs were identified as part of the TSP process.  

PIPELINE 
There are no major pipeline transport facilities within the Woodburn UGB, and no pipeline 
projects or programs were identified as part of the TSP process.  

Exhibit A 
Page 87 of 102

151



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 88 of 102

152



 
 

 
  

8 FUNDING  
Funding Programs and Revenue 

Planned Transportation System Cost Summary 
 

Exhibit A 
Page 89 of 102

153



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 90 of 102

154



FUNDING  

FUNDING PROGRAMS AND REVENUE 
The City of Woodburn has historically relied upon multiple revenue sources to fund the 
maintenance of its transportation network and make capital improvements. These local gas tax 
revenue, inter-governmental (primarily state gas tax revenue), franchise fees, and other 
miscellaneous revenue. Table 11 displays the total revenue by source used to fund 
transportation projects within Woodburn over the most recent seven years that comprehensive 
data was available. 

Table 11: City of Woodburn Revenue History 

Revenue 
Source 

FY 2016-
2017 

FY 2015-
2016 

FY 2014-
2015 

FY 2013-
2014 

FY 2012-
2013 

FY 2011-
2012 

FY 2010-
2011 Average 

Taxes $129,412 $115,692 $102,517 $101,761 $106,537 $182,109 $121,196 $122,746 

Inter-
Government 

$1,480,082 $1,454,076 $1,409,311 $1,384,277 $1,597,518 $1,312,024 $1,116,011 $1,393,328 

Franchise $359,820 $357,983 $336,707 $360,046 $353,381 $326,713 $347,621 $348,896 

Transportation 
SDC Fees 

$33,396 $183,698 $440,595 $521,933 $411,527 $400,172 $153,268 $306,370 

Other $69,856 $59,518 $49,532 $319,086 $49,457 $88,767 $27,147 $94,766 

Revenue Total $2,072,566 $2,170,967 $2,338,662 $2,687,103 $2,518,420 $2,309,785 $1,765,243 $2,266,107 

Taxes = Local Gas Tax revenue 
Inter-Government = State Gas Tax, State Fund Exchange 
Other = Misc. revenue, interest income  

Based on the information shown in Table 11, the City of Woodburn has generated an average of 
approximately $2,266,107 per year in total revenue for transportation-related 
maintenance/projects. 

Potential Funding Sources 
The projected transportation funding analysis shows that the City of Woodburn will have a 
limited source of funds that can solely dedicated to transportation-related capital improvement 
projects over the next twenty years. As such, Woodburn will likely need to seek additional funds 
via transportation improvement grants, partnerships with regional and state agencies, and other 
funding sources to help implement future transportation-related improvements. Table 12 
identifies a list of potential Grant sources and Partnering Opportunities to consider during the 
course of the 20-year planning horizon. Following Table 12, Table 13 identifies a list of potential 
new funding sources for Woodburn to consider in an effort to bolster funds for additional capital 
improvement projects. 

Exhibit A 
Page 91 of 102

155



Table 12: Potential Grant Sources and Partnering Opportunities 

Funding Source Description Potential Facility Benefit Opportunities 

Statewide 
Transportation 
Improvement 
Program (STIP) 

The Statewide Transportation Improvement 
Program (STIP) is Oregon’s 4-year capital 
improvement program for major state and 
regional transportation facilities. This scheduling 
and funding document is updated every two 
years. Projects included on the STIP are 
allocated into the five different ODOT regions. 

 - Streets 
 - Sidewalks 
 - Bike lanes 
 - Trails 

The next STIP (2018-2021) will be 
organized into two different 
categories that focus on projects 
that will fix/preserve the existing 
transportation network and 
enhance/improve the transportation 
network. 

Federal Funding Large trails or trail networks with a transportation 
purpose can compete for TIGER grant awards. 
Additional significant federal funding sources 
include TAP, STP and CMAQ. Depending upon 
the location and purpose, trails can also be 
funded by HUD CDBG funds, USDA rural 
development programs, or EPA funding.  

- Multi-Use Trails Projects in urban areas have 
traditionally been funded at a 
minimum of $10,000,000 and rural 
trails of lower project costs are 
considered for TIGER funding. 

Oregon Bicycle 
and Pedestrian 
Program 

The Oregon Pedestrian and Bicycle Grant 
program ended as a standalone solicitation 
process in 2012. Grant monies are now 
distributed through the “Enhance” process in the 

STIP program noted above. 

 See STIP above See STIP above. 

ATV Grant 
Program 

Operation and maintenance, law enforcement, 
emergency medical services, land acquisition, 
leases, planning, development and safety 
education in Oregon’s OHV (off-highway vehicle 
recreation areas). 

- Multi-Use Trails http://www.oregon.gov/oprd/ATV/p
ages/grants.aspx 

 

 

Table 13: Potential New Funding Sources for Consideration by the City of Woodburn 

Funding Source Description Potential Facility Benefit Opportunities 

User Fees 

Fees tacked onto a monthly utility bill or tied to 
the annual registration of a vehicle to pay for 
improvements, expansion, and maintenance to 
the street system. This may be a more equitable 
assessment given the varying fuel efficiency of 
vehicles. Regardless of fuel efficiency, 
passenger vehicles do equal damage to the 
street system. 

Primarily Street 
Improvements 

The cost of implementing such a 
system could be prohibitive given 
the need to track the number of 
vehicle miles traveled in every 
vehicle. Additionally, a user fee 
specific to a single jurisdiction does 
not account for the street use from 
vehicles registered in other 
jurisdictions. 

Street Utility 
Fees/Road 
Maintenance 
Fee 

The fee is based on the number of trips a 
particular land use generates and is usually 
collected through a regular utility bill. For the 
communities in Oregon that have adopted this 
approach, it provides a stable source of 
revenue to pay for street maintenance allowing 
for safe and efficient movement of people, 
goods, and services. 

Preservation, restoration, 
and reconstruction of 
existing paved residential 
streets. Includes 
sidewalks, ramps, curbs 
and gutters, and utility 
relocation. 

Other cities have adopted street 
maintenance utility fees at varying 
amounts charged to residential 
meters. Woodburn could consider a 
similar program. 

Optional Tax 

A tax that is paid at the option of the taxpayer 
to fund improvements.  Usually not a legislative 
requirement to pay the tax and paid at the time 
other taxes are collected, optional taxes are 

- Streets 
- Sidewalks 
- Bike lanes 

The voluntary nature of the tax limits 
the reliability and stableness of the 
funding source. 

Exhibit A 
Page 92 of 102

156

http://www.oregon.gov/oprd/ATV/pages/grants.aspx
http://www.oregon.gov/oprd/ATV/pages/grants.aspx


usually less controversial and easily collected 
since they require the taxpayer to decide 
whether or not to pay the additional tax. 

- Multi-Use Trails 
- Transit 

Sponsorship 
Financial backing of a project by a private 
corporation or public interest group, as a means 
of enhancing its corporate image.  

- Multi-Use Trails 

Sponsorship has primarily been used 
by transit providers to help offset the 
cost of providing transit services and 
maintaining transit related 
improvements. 

Federal Funding 

Trails with a transportation purpose can 
compete for TIGER grant awards. Depending 
upon the location and purpose, trails can also 
be funded by HUD, CDBG funds, USDA rural 
development programs, or EPA funding. 

- Trails 

Projects in urban areas have 
traditionally been funded at a 
minimum of $10,000,000 and rural 
trails of lower project costs are 
considered for TIGER funding. 

 

PLANNED TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM COST SUMMARY 
Table 14 provides a summary of the full cost of the planned and financially constrained 
transportation systems. As shown, the full cost of the planned system is approximately $130.6 
million over the 20-year period, including $26.4 million in high priority projects, $102.7 million in 
medium priority projects, and $1.5 million in low priority projects. Based on the anticipated funds 
available for capital improvement projects, the financially constrained plan includes all of the 
high priority projects. This leaves no forecasted funding for the City to complete medium and 
low priority projects over the 20-year period. 

Table 14: Planned Transportation System Cost Summary 

Project Type 

High Priority  
(Financially Constrained 

Plan Projects)  Medium Priority  Low Priority  Total 

Planned Transportation System 

Bicycle  $8,125,000   $12,280,000   $110,000   $20,515,000  

Pedestrian  $6,750,000  $10,300,000    $355,000   $17,405,000  

Roadway  $9,200,000   $74,670,000   $500,000   $84,370,000  

Safety   $2,200,000   $5,260,000   $100,000   $7,560,000  

Transit --  $100,000   $15,000   $115,000  

TDM1  $125,000   $100,000   $215,000   $440,000  

Land Use -- --  $50,000   $50,000  

Access Management -- --  $125,000   $125,000  

Rail  --   $10,000   $15,000   $25,000  

Total  $26,400,000    $102,720,000    $1,485,000    $130,605,000   

Available Funding 

Total $6,550,000 $6,550,000 $13,100,000 $26,200,000 

TDM: Transportation Demand Management 
1: Includes annual costs occurred every year. 

 

Exhibit A 
Page 93 of 102

157



IMPLEMENTATION 
The Transportation Planning Rule (TPR), as codified in Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR) 660-012-
0045, requires that local jurisdictions identify and adopt land use regulations and code 
amendments needed to implement the TSP. The land use regulations and code amendments 
are provided under separate cover. 

  

Exhibit A 
Page 94 of 102

158



 

 
 

  

9 GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
 

Exhibit A 
Page 95 of 102

159



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page intentionally left blank 

 
 
  

Exhibit A 
Page 96 of 102

160



GLOSSARY OF TERMS  
The following terms are applicable only to the Woodburn Transportation System Plan and shall 
be construed as defined herein. 

Access Management: Refers to measures regulating access to streets, roads and highways 
from public roads and private driveways. Measures may include but are not limited to restrictions 
on the type and amount of access to roadways and use of physical controls such as signals and 
channelization including raised medians, to reduce impacts of approach road traffic on the 
main facility. 

Access (Street): A street designated in the functional classification system that’s primary 

purpose is to connect residential neighborhoods with service collectors or arterials. On-street 
parking and access to adjacent properties is prevalent. Slower speeds should be provided to 
ensure community livability and safety for pedestrians and cyclists.  

Accessway: Refers to a walkway that provides pedestrian and or bicycle passage either 
between streets or from a street to a building or other destination such as a school, park, or 
transit stop. 

Alternative Modes: Transportation alternatives other than single-occupant automobiles such 
as rail, transit, bicycles and walking. 

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA): A civil rights law that prohibits discrimination 
against individuals with disabilities in all areas of public life, including jobs, schools, transportation, 
and all public and private places that are open to the general public. 

Average Annual Daily Traffic (AADT): A measure used primarily in transportation planning 
and traffic engineering that represents the total volume of vehicular traffic on a highway or 
roadway for a year divided by 365 days. 

Average Daily Traffic (ADT): This is the measurement of the average number of vehicles 
passing a certain point each day on a highway, road or street. 

Bicycle Facility: Any facility provided for the benefit of bicycle travel, including bikeways and 
parking facilities. 

Bicycle Network: A system of connected bikeways that provide access to and from local 
and regional destinations. 

Bicycle Boulevard: Lower-order, lower-volume streets with various treatments to promote 
safe and convenient bicycle travel. Usually accommodates bicyclists and motorists in the same 
travel lanes, often with no specific vehicle or bike lane delineation. Assigns higher priority to 
through bicyclists, with secondary priority assigned to motorists. Also includes treatments to slow 
vehicle traffic to enhance the bicycling environment. 

Bike Lane: Area within street right-of-way designated specifically for bicycle use. 

Exhibit A 
Page 97 of 102

161



Capital Improvement Plan (CIP): A community planning and fiscal management tool used 
to coordinate the location, timing and financing of capital improvements over a multi-year 
period. 

Capacity: The maximum number of vehicles or individuals that can traverse a given segment 
of a transportation facility with prevailing roadway and traffic conditions. 

Citizen Advisory Committee (CAC): An advisory committee consisting of volunteer citizens 
from the community they represent. 

Congestion Mitigation/Air Quality (CMAQ): A program within the federal ISTEA and TEA-
21 regulations that address congestion and transportation-related air pollution. 

Crosswalk: Portion of a roadway designated for pedestrian crossing and can be either 
marked or unmarked. Unmarked crosswalks are the national extension of the shoulder, curb line 
or sidewalk. 

Cycle Track: An exclusive bike facility that combines the user experience of a separated path 
with the on-street infrastructure of a conventional bike lane. A cycle track is physically separated 
from motor traffic and distinct from the sidewalk. 

Demand Management: Refers to actions which are designed to change travel behavior in 
order to improve performance of transportation facilities and to reduce need for additional 
road capacity. Methods may include subsidizing transit for the journey to work trip, charging for 
parking, starting a van or carpool system, or instituting flexible work hours. 

Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ): A regulatory agency whose job is to 
protect the quality of Oregon's environment. 

Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD): A public agency that 
helps communities and citizens plan for, protect and improve the built and natural systems that 
provide a high quality of life. 

Driveway (DWY): A short road leading from a public road to a private business or residence. 

Eastbound (EB): Leading or traveling toward the east. 

Fiscal Year (FY): A year as reckoned for taxing or accounting purposes. 

Geographic Information Systems (GIS): A system designed to capture, store, manipulate, 
analyze, manage, and present all types of spatial or geographical data. 

Grade: A measure of the steepness of a roadway, bikeway or walkway, usually expressed in a 
percentage form of the ratio between vertical rise to horizontal distance, (e.g. a 5% grade 
means that the facility rises 5 feet in height over 100 feet in length.) 

Grade Separation: The vertical separation of conflicting travelways. 

High Capacity Transit (HCT): A form of public transit distinguished from local service transit 
such as bus lines by higher speeds, fewer stops, more passengers, and more frequent service. 

Exhibit A 
Page 98 of 102

162



Highway Design Manual (HDM): A manual that provides uniform standards and 
procedures for the design of new roadways and the major reconstruction, rehabilitation, 
restoration, and resurfacing of existing roadways. 

Intelligent Transportation Systems (ITS): the application of advanced technologies and 
proven management techniques to relieve congestion, enhance safety, provide services to 
travelers and assist transportation system operators in implementing suitable traffic management 
strategies. 

Level of Service (LOS): A qualitative measure describing the perception of operation 
conditions within a traffic steam by motorists and or passengers. An LOS rating of "A” to “F” 

describes the traffic flow on streets and at intersections, ranging from LOS A, representing 
virtually free flow conditions and no impedance to LOS F representing forced flow conditions 
and congestion. 

Local (Street): A street designated in the functional classification system that’s primary 

purpose is to provide direct access to adjacent land uses. Short roadway distances, slow speeds, 
and low traffic volumes characterize local streets. 

Major Arterial (Street): A street designated in the functional classification system that’s 

primary functions are to serve local and through traffic as it enters and leaves the urban area, 
connect Woodburn with other urban centers and regions, and provide connections to major 
activity centers within the UGB. 

Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD): A document issued by the 
Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) of the United States Department of Transportation 
(USDOT) to specify the standards by which traffic signs, road surface markings, and signals are 
designed, installed, and used. 

Minor Arterial (Street): A street designated in the functional classification system that’s 

primary functions are to connection major activity centers and neighborhoods within the UGB 
and to support the major arterial system. 

Multi-Modal: Involving several modes of transportation including bus, rail, bicycle, motor 
vehicle etc. 

Multi-Use Path: Off-street route (typically recreationally focused) that can be used by several 
transportation modes, including bicycles, pedestrians and other non-motorized modes (i.e. 
skateboards, roller blades, etc.) 

National Highway System (NHS): The National Highway System is interconnected urban 
and rural principal arterial and highways that serve major population centers, ports, airports and 
other major travel destinations, meet national defense requirements and serve interstate and 
interregional travel. 

Northbound (NB): Traveling or leading toward the north. 

Oregon Administrative Rules (OAR): The official compilation of rules and regulations 
having the force of law in the U.S. state of Oregon. It is the regulatory and administrative 
corollary to Oregon Revised Statutes and is published pursuant to ORS 183.360 (3). 

Exhibit A 
Page 99 of 102

163



Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT): ODOT is a public agency that helps 
provide a safe, efficient transportation system that supports economic opportunity and livable 
communities throughout Oregon. ODOT owns and operates two roadways (OR 213 and OR 211) 
that are located in Molalla or provide access to the city. There are street design and operational 
standards for these roadways which supersede Molalla’s street design and operational 
standards. 

Oregon Highway Plan (OHP): The document that establishes long range policies and 
investment strategies for the state highway system in Oregon. 

Oregon Revised Statutes (ORS): The codified body of statutory law governing the U.S. state 
of Oregon, as enacted by the Oregon Legislative Assembly, and occasionally by citizen 
initiative. The statutes are subordinate to the Oregon Constitution. 

Peak Period or Peak Hour: The period of the day with the highest number of travelers. This is 
normally between 4:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. on weekdays. 

Pedestrian Connection: A continuous, unobstructed, reasonability direct route between two 
points that is intended and suitable for pedestrian use. These connections could include 
sidewalks, walkways, accessways, stairways and pedestrian bridges. 

Pedestrian Facility: A facility provided for the benefit of pedestrian travel, including 
walkways, crosswalks, signs, signals and benches. 

Pedestrian Scale: Site and building design elements that are oriented to the pedestrian and 
are dimensionally less than those sites designed to accommodate automobile traffic. 

Regional Transportation Functional Plan (RTFP): A planning document that contains 
policies and guidelines to help local jurisdictions implement the policies in the Regional 
Transportation Plan (RTP) and its modal plans, include those for active transportation, freight 
movement, and high capacity transit. 

Regional Transportation Plan (RTP): The transportation plan for the Portland Metro region. 

Right-Of-Way (ROW or R/W): A general term denoting publicly owned land or property 
upon which public facilities and infrastructure is placed. 

Safety Priority Index System (SPIS): An indexing system used by Oregon Department of 
Transportation to prioritize safety improvements based on crash frequency and severity on state 
facilities. 

Service Collector (Street): A street designated in the functional classification system that’s 

primary function is to provide connections between neighborhoods and major activity centers 
and the arterial street system. Some degree of access is provided to adjacent properties, while 
maintaining circulation and mobility for all users. 

Shared Roadway: Roadways where bicyclists and autos share the same travel lane. May 
include a wider outside lane and/or bicycle boulevard treatment (priority to through bikes on 
local streets). 

Exhibit A 
Page 100 of 102

164



Single-Occupancy Vehicle or Single-Occupant Vehicle (SOV): A vehicle containing 
only a single occupant, the driver. 

Southbound (SB): Traveling or leading toward the south. 

Statewide Transportation Improvement Plan (STIP): The capital improvement program 
that identifies founding and schedule of statewide projects. 

System Development Charge (SDC): Fees that are collected when new development 
occurs in the city and are used to fund a portion of new streets, sanitary sewers, parks and 
water. 

Technical Advisory Committee (TAC): An advisory committee consisting of state, county, 
and city staff that review and provide feedback on technical memorandums. 

Technical Memorandum (TM): A document that is specifically targeted to technically 
capable persons, such as practicing engineers or engineering managers, who are interested in 
the technical details of the project or task. 

Traffic Control Devices: Signs, signals or other fixtures placed on or adjacent to a travelway 
that regulates, warns or guides traffic. Can be either permanent or temporary. 

Transportation Analysis Zone (TAZ): A geographic sub-area used to assess travel demands 
using a travel demand forecasting model. Often defined by the transportation network and US 
Census blocks. 

Transportation Demand Management (TDM): A policy tool as well as any action that 
removes single-occupant vehicle trips from the roadway network during peak travel demand 
periods. 

Transportation and Growth Management (TGM): A program of the Oregon Department 
of Transportation (ODOT) that supports community efforts to expand transportation choices. By 
linking land use and transportation planning, TGM works in partnership with local governments to 
create vibrant, livable places in which people can walk, bike, take transit or drive where they 
want to go. 

Transportation Management Area (TMA): A Transportation Management Area is an area 
designated by the Secretary of Transportation, having an urbanized area population of over 
200,000, or upon special request from the Governor and the MPO designated for the area. 

Transportation Planning Rule (TPR): A series of Oregon Administrative Rules intended to 
coordinate land use and transportation planning efforts to ensure that the planned 
transportation system supports a pattern of travel and land use in urban areas that will avoid the 
air pollution, traffic and livability problems faced by other large urban areas of the country 
through measures designed to increase transportation choices and make more efficient use of 
the existing transportation system. 

Transportation System Management (TSM): Management strategies such as signal 
improvements, traffic signal coordination, traffic calming, access management, local street 
connectivity, and intelligent transportation systems 

Exhibit A 
Page 101 of 102

165



Transportation System Management and Operations (TSMO): An integrated program 
to optimize the performance of existing multimodal infrastructure through implementation of 
systems, services, and projects to preserve capacity and improve the security, safety, and 
reliability of our transportation system. 

Transportation System Plan (TSP): Is a comprehensive plan that is developed to provide a 
coordinated, seamless integration of continuity between modes at the local level as well as 
integration with the regional transportation system. 

Two-Way Stop Control (TWSC): An intersection, where one or more approaches is stop 
controlled and must yield the right-of-way to one or more approaches that are not stop 
controlled. 

Urban Area: The area immediately surrounding an incorporated city or rural community that is 
urban in character, regardless of size. 

Urban Growth Boundary (UGB): A regional boundary, set in an attempt to control urban 
sprawl by mandating that the area inside the boundary be used for higher density urban 
development and the area outside be used for lower density development. 

Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT): The cumulative distance a vehicle travels, regardless of 
number of occupants. 

Volume to Capacity Ratio (V/C): A measure that reflects mobility and quality of travel of a 
roadway or a section of a roadway. It compares roadway demand (vehicle volumes) with 
roadway supply (carrying capacity). 

Westbound (WB): Leading or traveling toward the west.  

Exhibit A 
Page 102 of 102

166



Exhibit B

167



Text that is recommended to be added is shown as underlined, and text recommended to be removed 
is shown in strikeout. 

A. Comprehensive Plan Designations and Implementation 

… 

Plan Implementation 

… 

Transportation Plan 

The Transportation System Plan (TSP) (2005) was revised to reflect changes in population, 
employment and land use adopted in the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan (2005).  The 2005 TSP 
includes goals and objectives, forecasts traffic growth in the City, and identifies transportation 
improvements needed to satisfy the forecasted growth.  The plan: 

• Establishes the functional classification of roads and streets 
• Establishes street standard for each functional classification 
• Evaluates interchange alternatives 
• Establishes alternative modes of transportation 
• Meets the Oregon Transportation Planning Rule 

The Highway 99E Corridor Plan was adopted in 2012 to provide more detailed guidance about needed 
transportation improvements, appropriate land uses, and the urban design vision for the section of 
Highway 99E running through the City of Woodburn.  The Corridor Plan amends and supplements the 
2005 TSP and provides more specific guidance related to transportation improvements and design in 
the Highway 99E corridor. 

The Woodburn Transportation System Plan (TSP) is a long-range plan that sets the vision for the City’s 
transportation system, facilities and services to meet state, regional, and local needs for the next 20 
years. The TSP was developed through community and stakeholder input and is based on the system’s 
existing needs, opportunities, and anticipated available funding. The plan also serves as the 
Transportation Element of the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan. The purpose of the 2019 TSP update 
is to address regulatory changes that have occurred in the region since the adoption of the 2005 TSP, 
as well as to provide an updated list of projects to address local transportation needs and deficiencies. 

The TSP addresses compliance with new or amended Federal, State, and local plans policies, and 
regulations, including the Oregon Transportation Plan (OTP), the State’s Transportation Planning Rule 
(TPR), the Oregon Highway Plan (OHP). The TSP presents the investments and priorities for the City’s 
Pedestrian, Bicycle, Transit, and Motor Vehicle Systems. 

Exhibit B 
Page 1 of 8

168



H. Transportation  

Transportation Goals and Policies Woodburn amended its Transportation System Plan (TSP) in 
coordination with Marion County, the Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) 
and the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) as part of its 2005 Periodic review package. 
The goals and policies listed below have been amended consistent with the 2005 TSP. A new “Marion 
County Coordination” subsection is added to ensure coordination with the Goals and Policies of the 
Marion County Growth Management Framework Plan. 

The goals and policies adopted in this Section are used to guide long range planning, future land use 
and development decisions, and management of the City’s transportation system. They incorporate 
and build upon previous transportation goals and policies and are intended to be consistent with 
other adopted City plans. City transportation policy also reflects and is consistent with regional and 
statewide planning rules and policy, including the requirement for a multi-modal, balanced approach 
to transportation policy. 

Goal H-1 – Multimodal Mobility  

Develop a multimodal transportation system that avoids or reduces a reliance on one form of 
transportation and minimizes energy consumption and air quality impacts. Provide a multimodal 
transportation system that avoids or reduces a reliance on one form of transportation and minimizes 
energy consumption and air quality impacts. 

H-1.1 Develop an expanded intracity bus transit system that provides added service and route coverage 
to improve the mobility and accessibility of the transportation disadvantaged and to attract traditional 
auto users to use the system. 

H-1.2 Develop a plan for providing travel options between Woodburn and Portland or Salem, including 
intercity bus service and potential bus/carpool park-and-ride facilities. 

Encourage alternative travel options between Woodburn, Portland and Salem.  

(a) Implement a Carpool/Vanpool Parking Program.  
(b) Coordinate Woodburn Transit Service with other regional service provided by Cherriots Regional and 

Canby Area Transit.   

H-1.3 Develop a bikeway system that provides routes and facilities that allow bicyclists to travel from 
residential areas to schools, parks, places of employment, and commercial areas. low stress network of 
bicycle lanes and routes that link major activity centers such as residential neighborhoods, schools, parks, 
commercial areas, and employment centers. Identify off-street facilities in City greenway and park areas. 
Ensure all new collector and arterial streets are constructed with bicycle lanes. 

H-1.4 Identify sidewalk and off-street pathway improvements to improve pedestrian mobility within 
neighborhoods and between Develop a comprehensive network of sidewalks and off-street pathways. 
Identify key connections to improve pedestrian mobility within neighborhoods and link residential areas 

Exhibit B 
Page 2 of 8

169



to schools, parks, employment centers, and commercial areas. Ensure all new collector and arterial streets 
are constructed with sidewalks. 

H-1.5 Maintain adequate intersection and roadway capacity on the key east-west and north-south
arterials. Periodically review arterials capacity to meet current and future demands. 

Goal H-2 – Connectivity 

Develop a street system which will handle projected year 2020 traffic demands in the Woodburn area, 
and interconnects residential areas with employment centers, schools, parks, churches, and regional 
transportation facilities. Provide an interconnected street system that is adequately sized to 
accommodate existing and projected traffic demands in the Woodburn area.  

H-2.1 Develop an updated roadway functional classification plan for the Woodburn area that reflects the
desired function of different roadways, and is consistent with current federal guidelines for the
designation of major streets in an urban area. Develop and implement updated street design standards
for arterials, collectors, and local streets. Ensure new standards and development is consistent with the
functional classification plan in the TSP.

H-2.2 Work with ODOT to develop and implement strategies for improving state facilities within the
City. Develop a strategy for improving Oregon 219/214, 211, and 99E through Woodburn, including
added travel lanes, signalization, and access management.

H-2.32 Maintain and enhance Identify new east-west and north-south collector/minor arterial streets
within the City to relieve traffic demands on Oregon 219/214, 211, and 99E and coordinate with Marion
County to construct the street connections needed outside of the urban growth boundary (UGB). Where
development of new collector/minor arterial streets is not possible within the near future, such as when
an alignment runs outside of the UGB, work with property owners during subdivision to provide local
street connections to improve connectivity in the interim.

H-2.4 Develop updated street design standards for arterials, collectors, and local streets.

H-2.5 Identify a final strategy for paving currently unimproved streets in the City.

H-2.63 Identify the need for additional public parking provisions in Woodburn, including park-and-ride
facilities, as well as a plan to support increased carpooling and transit use in the future. Encourage multi-
model transportation options including park-and-ride facilities, carpooling, and use of transit services.

H-2.74 Develop and implement a capital improvement program (CIP) that fulfills the transportation goals
established by the community and pursues new funding sources for the CIP projects.

H-2.5 Provide inter-parcel circulation through cross-over easements, frontage or backage roads, or shared 
parking lots where feasible. 

Goal H-3 – Safety  

Exhibit B 
Page 3 of 8

170



Develop transportation improvements that address overall traffic safety in the Woodburn area. Provide 
a transportation system that enhances the safety and security of all transportation modes in the 
Woodburn area. 

H-3.1 Work with ODOT to improve safety on state facilities within the City. Develop access management 
strategies for Oregon 219/214 and 211 through Woodburn, particularly focusing on the section of Oregon 
214 between Interstate 5 (I-5) and Cascade Drive. 

Work with ODOT and property owners through the redevelopment process to improve access 
management on Highway 99E in accordance with the access management strategies identified in the 
Highway 99E Corridor Plan. Continue coordination with ODOT to improve safety on state facilities within 
the City and citywide access management strategies.  

H-3.2 Implement strategies to address Develop a plan for improving pedestrian and bicycle safety issues, 
specifically for travel to and from local schools, commercial areas, and major activity centers. 

H-3.3 Identify street and railroad crossings in need of improvement, as well as those that should be closed 
or relocated. Remove private grade crossings by providing alternative access to parcels as development 
and redevelopment occurs.  

H-3.4 Develop a plan for designated truck routes through the City and a plan to handle truck and rail 
hazardous cargoes. Prioritize movement of goods on designated freight and truck routes.  

Goal H-4 - Strategic Investment 

Develop a set of reliable funding sources that can be applied to fund future transportation 
improvements in the Woodburn area. Provide a financially sustainable transportation system through 
responsible stewardship of assets and financial resources. 

H-4.1 Evaluate the feasibility of the full range of funding mechanisms for transportation improvements. 
Evaluate the feasibility of various funding mechanisms, including new and innovative sources.  

H-4.2 Evaluate the feasibility of instituting an added City gas tax for transportation improvements. 
Preserve and maintain the existing transportation system assets to extend their useful life. 

H-4.3 Identify a traffic impact fee structure for new development in the Woodburn area to fund 
transportation improvements. 

Goal H-5 – Land Use and Transportation Integration 

Develop amendments to City land use standards and ordinances to reduce travel demand and promote 
use of modes of transportation other than the automobile. Periodically review and update land use 
standards and ordinances to create a balanced built environment where existing and planned land uses 
are supported by an efficient multi-modal transportation system. 

Exhibit B 
Page 4 of 8

171



H-5.1 Implement, where appropriate, Identify a range of potential Transportation Demand Management 
(TDM) strategies that can be used to improve the efficiency of the transportation system by shifting single-
occupant vehicle trips to other models and reducing automobile reliance at times of peak traffic volumes. 

H-5.2 Identify revisions to the Woodburn Zoning Ordinance for compliance with the TPR. 

Goal H-6 – Coordination with State, Regional, and Local Partners  

Coordinate with Marion County in planning for a safe and efficient county-wide transportation system 
by: 

(a) Encouraging use of alternative modes of transportation including mass transit, bicycling, walking 
and carpooling; and 

(b) Addressing transportation needs appropriate to both urban and rural areas throughout the county. 

Develop and maintain a transportation system that is consistent with the City’s adopted comprehensive 
plan and adopted plans of state, regional, and other local jurisdictions. 

H-6.1 Woodburn shall Ensure plans coordinate with state, regional, and local planning rules and 
regulations. Consider land use, financial, and environment planning when prioritize strategic 
transportation investments.  jointly plan with the county to meet the transportation needs in the future. 

 (a) The Marion County Transportation System Plan (TSP) will be designed to accommodate the 
forecast population, housing, and employment identified in the Framework Plan, except where modified 
by the Woodburn Economic Opportunities Analysis (EOA) and the acknowledged 2005 Woodburn 
Comprehensive Plan. 

(b) Woodburn supports Marion County efforts to investigate countywide alternative transportation, such 
as inter-city transit, vanpooling, and passenger rail service serving the county and the Willamette Valley 
region. 

H-6.2 Woodburn will implement plans as provided in the Woodburn TSP. 

(a) Except where topographical conditions or existing development make this standard impractical, new 
subdivisions and planned developments should have internal connectivity of at least 8 through streets per 
mile (roughly every 660 feet) for new development, and sufficient collector and arterial systems for local 
access. 

(b) The TSP shall include a map depicting future street connections for areas to be urbanized. This is 
especially important in Nodal Development Overlay and Southwest Industrial Reserve overlay areas.  

(c) When feasible, the County will utilize standards in the Woodburn TSP and Woodburn Development 
Ordinance for development that occurs on unincorporated lands within the Woodburn Urban Growth 
Boundary. 

Exhibit B 
Page 5 of 8

172



H-6.32 Woodburn will Support Marion County efforts to provide transit connections within and between 
cities. The Woodburn TSP shall include transportation plans for the Woodburn Transit System that is 
consistent with the population and employment projections in the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan and 
coordinated with the “preferred alternative” found in the County’s Rural Transportation System Plan 
(RTSP) Framework Plan. 

H-6.43 Woodburn should provide for a complementary mix of land uses and transportation systems 
Promote multi-modal transportation options by providing for mixed use districts and overlays. 
development in the Downtown Development and Conservation (DDC) District, the Mixed Use Village 
(MUV), and the Nodal Development Overlay (NDO) districts. 

H-6.5 Woodburn shall consider traffic calming of through traffic in neighborhoods. Woodburn will 
coordinate with Marion County in making recommendations for methods and procedures for traffic 
calming that directly affects a county road, developing recommended best practices for methods, 
locations, and processes for traffic calming in both existing and new developments. 

H-6.64 Woodburn will Coordinate with Marion County in planning for freight movement by both rail and 
truck. 

H-6.7 The Woodburn TSP shall include measures to improve the walking and biking environment by 
providing sidewalks in all new developments and by providing an interconnecting system of pedestrian 
connections. Designing for a comfortable and practical pedestrian environment is especially important in 
Downtown Woodburn and within the Nodal Development Overlay 

H-6.5 Comprehensive Plan amendments from Industrial to Commercial shall be prohibited, regardless of 
transportation impacts or proposed mitigation, within the SWIR Overlay.  

Goal H-7 

Coordinate with the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT) to maintain highway and 
intersection capacity, safety and functionality by: 

(a) Developing and adopting performance standards; and 

(b)  Prohibiting comprehensive plan amendments that do not meet adopted performance standards. 

H-7.1 The Woodburn TSP shall implement an interchange management plan within the UGB based on 
potential and substantial adverse impacts to the I-5 Interchange. 

(a) Peak hour trip generation estimates and numerical ceilings based on land uses permitted by the 2005 
Woodburn Comprehensive Plan shall be determined for each designated sub-area. 

(b) The City will coordinate with ODOT in monitoring trip generation impacts for each designated sub-
area, considering the cumulative impacts of existing and new development. 

Exhibit B 
Page 6 of 8

173



(c) Transportation impact studies shall be required for subdivisions and planned developments, and for 
new commercial, industrial, public and multi-family residential development within designated sub-areas. 

(d) Comprehensive Plan amendments that exceed the trip generation ceiling for a designated sub-area 
shall be prohibited. 

(e) Comprehensive Plan amendments from Industrial to Commercial shall be prohibited, regardless of 
impact, within the SWIR Overlay. 

(f) Woodburn shall provide ODOT with copies of transportation impact studies upon request, and as part 
of the Periodic Review process. 

(g) Woodburn shall coordinate with ODOT, DLCD and Marion County to address potential service 
deficiencies affecting state highway facilities through the Periodic Review process. 

H-7.2 The City shall implement medium-term conservation measures to limit access to Highways 214 and 
219. Such measures shall include, but shall not be limited to: 

(a) Limitations or prohibition on private access within a quarter of mile east and west of interchange ramp 
terminals; 

(b) Access controls on, public road approaches; and 

(c) Raised medians from Woodland to Oregon Way along Highways 219 and 214. 

H-7.3 To ensure safety and long-range mobility on Highway 99E, the City shall be guided by the following 
access management objectives: 

(a) Ensure that all properties are provided reasonable access to the public street network, including 
consideration of the economic development needs of each property. 

(b) Driveways to commercial businesses on Highway 99E should be designed to allow for safe and 
comfortable passage, improving existing driveways to comply with ODOT design standards as 
opportunities arise. 

(c) Consider locating business signage immediately adjacent to the downstream side of driveways to 
improve the ability of drivers to locate them. 

(d) Provide convenient accessways for pedestrians and bicycles between the Highway 99E commercial 
corridor and neighboring residential areas. 

Exhibit B 
Page 7 of 8

174



(e) Safe and convenient pedestrian walkways should be provided between business entrances and 
sidewalks along Highway 99E, minimizing conflicts between pedestrians and motor vehicles in parking 
lots. 

(f) Consider prohibiting driveways or restricting turning movements to driveways adjacent to turning 
pockets at intersections where necessary to maintain safe highway operations. 

(g) Seek opportunities to align driveways on opposite sides of roadways to avoid turning conflicts. 

(h) Driveways to Highway 99E should maintain adequate intersection sight distance and at a minimum 
shall maintain safe stopping sight distance along the highway. 

(i) Reduce access points over time to move in the direction of meeting ODOT’s adopted access 
management spacing standards for regional highways. 

(j) Create shared access points to reduce the overall number of driveways along the Highway 99E corridor. 
Shared driveways must be supported through the establishment of easements allowing for travel 
between adjacent properties. 

(k) Provide inter-parcel circulation through cross-over easements, frontage or backage roads, or shared 
parking lots where feasible. 

(l) Utilize easements, frontage/backage roads, and lower classified city streets to allow for secondary 
access to facilitate large truck and emergency service vehicle circulation. 

(m) Seek opportunities to enhance the connectivity of the local street system surrounding Highway 99E. 

H-7.4 The City will actively participate in developing strategies and solutions to mitigate impacts to 
property owners that may result from implementing future highway design and planned built 
improvements. 

 

Exhibit B 
Page 8 of 8

175



Exhibit C

176



Analyses & Findings 

Section references are to the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan, Oregon 
Administrative Rules or Woodburn Development Ordinance (WDO). 

Legislative Amendment Provisions of the WDO 

4.01 Decision-Making Procedures 

4.01.02E. Type V Decisions (Legislative): Type V decisions involve legislative 
actions where the City Council enacts or amends the City’s land use regulations, 
comprehensive plan, Official Zoning Map or some component of these 
documents. Type V decisions may only be initiated by the City Council. The 
Planning Commission holds an initial public hearing on the proposal before 
making a recommendation to the City Council. The City Council then holds a final 
public hearing and renders a decision. Public notice is provided for all public 
hearings (Section 4.01.14). The City Council’s decision is the City’s final decision 
and is appealable to LUBA within 21 days after it becomes final. 

This is a legislative amendment to the Comprehensive Plan and qualifies as a Type 
V decision.  Staff completed the public notices for the Commission hearing date 
of August 8, 2019, specifically a newspaper ad in the Woodburn Independent and 
mailed notice to select agencies – including Marion County, the Woodburn Fire 
and School Districts, and the Oregon Department of Transportation (ODOT). 
Notice was also provide to the Department of Land Conservation and 
Development (DLCD) in accordance with state statutes.  The Planning 
Commission’s recommendation will be forwarded to the City Council for 
consideration for adoption.    

Comprehensive Plan Policies, OAR’s & Statewide Planning Goals 

Comprehensive Plan  

H. Transportation

Exhibit C 
Page 1 of 3

177

https://www.woodburn-or.gov/dev-planning/page/woodburn-development-ordinance-wdo


Goal 1.9 To ensure that growth is orderly and efficient, the City shall phase the 
needed public services in accordance with the expected growth.  Extensions of 
the existing public services should be in accordance with the facility master plans 
and Public Facility Plan in this Comprehensive Plan. 

The proposed TSP provides for orderly and efficient growth in accordance with 
expected growth over the next 20 years.  It includes plans for all modes of 
transportation with estimated costs for each project. 

B-2. Woodburn shall coordinate with affected state agencies regarding proposed
comprehensive plan and land use regulation amendments, as required by state
law.

This project was funded by state grant and coordination was achieved by 
including representatives from State, County and regional entities on the 
technical and project management teams.  All parties were notified of the 
proposed amendments pursuant to state law.   

H-6.2  Woodburn will implement plans as provided in the Woodburn TSP.

(b) The TSP shall include a map depicting future street connections for areas to be
urbanized.  This is especially important in Nodal Development Overlay and
Southwest Industrial Reserve overlay areas.

The TSP includes a detailed local street connections map that includes both 
Overlay districts.  Additionally, it includes all transportation improvements 
included in the most recently approved Master Plans for the Nodal and SWIR 
Overlays.  

H-6.3  Woodburn will support Marion County efforts to provide transit connections
within and between cities.  The Woodburn TSP shall include transportation plans
for the Woodburn Transit System that is consistent with the population and
employment projections in the Woodburn Comprehensive Plan and coordinated
with the “preferred alternative” found in the County Framework Plan.

The TSP includes a specific Transit Plan that incorporates inter-jurisdictional transit 
connections and it is based on the latest adopted population and employment 
projections.  

Exhibit C 
Page 2 of 3

178



Statewide Planning Goals 

Goal 14  Urbanization [OAR 660-015-0000(14)] 

To provide for an orderly and efficient transition from rural to urban land use, to 
accommodate urban population and urban employment inside urban growth 
boundaries, to ensure efficient use of land, and to provide for livable communities. 

The proposal furthers this goal by ensuring efficient use of land and providing for 
livable communities by planning for infrastructure to address future growth within 
the city’s UGB.   

Oregon Administrative Rules:  

660-012 Transportation Planning Rule (“TPR”)

Local TSP’s and amendments to Plans must comply with the provisions of this rule. 
One of the objectives of completing this update was to review the existing TSP for 
compliance. Table 2 of the Attachment 103 includes an itemized list of 
recommended amendments specifically ensuring compliance with TPR 
requirements.  

CONCLUSION  

Based on the above Findings, Staff finds that the proposal is consistent with all 
applicable Comprehensive Plan, Development Ordinance and state provisions 
for adoption.  It is recommended that the City Council ultimately adopt the 2019 
Transportation System Plan and Plan amendments (LA 2018-04) 

Exhibit C 
Page 3 of 3

179



Agenda Item 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator __X____ City Attorney ___X___ Finance _X___ 

September 23, 2019 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council through City Administrator 

FROM: Jamie Johnk, Economic Development Director 

SUBJECT: 2019-2021 Department of Land Conservation & Development (DLCD) 
Technical Assistance (TA) Grant – OR 219 and Butteville Road 
Intersection Planning Project 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Adopt the Resolution authorizing staff to apply for Technical Assistance Grant 
funding from DLCD for the OR 219 and Butteville Road Intersection Planning 
Project.  

BACKGROUND: 
The City of Woodburn has the opportunity to apply for a Department of Land 
Conservation & Development (DLCD) Technical Assistance (TA) Grant, which 
would provide funding to complete an intersection analysis at OR 219 and 
Butteville Road and provide recommendations on improvements.   

This intersection at OR 219 and Butteville Road is adjacent to the Southwest 
Industrial Reserve (SWIR) area and is of foremost concern.  The intersection does 
not meet the mobility standards for the increased volume that will be generated 
by development in the SWIR.  In order to determine the development threshold 
that would warrant improvements to the intersection, the City, County and 
ODOT are collaborating on this proposed project with the outcome to identify 
design options for the OR 219 and Butteville Road intersection, 75% engineered 
plans and estimates for future improvements. 

The Department of Land Conservation and Development (DLCD) provides 
funding resources to assist Oregon communities prepare and update local land 
use plans and implementing ordinances to respond to growth management 
and resource protection issues and changes in state agency programs and 
requirements. Technical Assistance grants are typically used to complete 
needed planning requirements that are not on periodic review work programs, 
or to satisfy local planning needs. 

180



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
September 23, 2019 
Page 2 

DISCUSSION: 
The City of Woodburn is proposing to prepare an application for a Department 
of Land Conservation & Development (DLCD) Technical Assistance (TA) Grant, 
which would provide funding to complete an intersection analysis at OR 219 
and Butteville Road and provide recommendations on improvements.   

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
The City will be submitting a DLCD TA funding request of $120,000 for the OR 219 
and Butteville Road Intersection Planning Project.  There is no match requirement 
for this grant however, city, county, and state staff hours will be reflected as “in 
kind” commitment to the project.  Should the City receive this grant, staff will 
return with a budget amendment for the General Fund Engineering and Project 
Management division, for authority to spend the grant funds in FY 2019-20. 

181



  RESOLUTION NO. 2141 

COUNCIL BILL NO. 3109 

RESOLUTION 2141 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING APPLICATION FOR- AND ACCEPTANCE OF A 
DEPARTMENT OF LAND CONSERVATION AND DEVELOPMENT TECHNICAL 
ASSISTANCE GRANT; DEMONSTRATING SUPPORT FOR THE GRANT PROJECT; AND 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY ADMINISTRATOR TO SIGN AND EXECUTE ALL NECESSARY 
DOCUMENTS TO THAT EFFECT. 

WHEREAS, the Department of Land Conservation and Development 
(“DLCD”) is accepting applications for 2019-2021 Technical Assistance Grants; 
and 

WHEREAS, the City of Woodburn is eligible to apply for grant funding to be 
used for completing needed planning requirements that are not part of periodic 
review work programs, but satisfy local planning needs; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council has identified as a 2019-2020 Strategic Goal, to 
develop innovative funding sources to help support the completion of capital 
improvement projects and to grow and support strategic partnerships for 
economic health; and  

WHEREAS, the City of Woodburn desires to pursue the DLCD Technical 
Assistance Grant funding to complete an intersection analysis for the intersection 
at OR 219 and Butteville Road; now therefore 

THE CITY OF WOODBURN RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. The City Administrator is authorized to apply for, and if 
awarded, accept Technical Assistance Grant funding from DLCD for the purposes 
of completing an intersection analysis for the intersection at OR 219 and Butteville 
Road, which will provide recommendations on needed improvements for that 
intersection.  

Section 2. The City Council fully supports the grant-identified project to 
study and analyze the OR 219–Butteville Road intersection as described. 

Section 3. The City Administrator is authorized to execute any and all 
documents related to the grant application and to effectuate the award.  

Page 1 – COUNCIL BILL NO. 3109 

182



Page 2 – COUNCIL BILL NO. 3109 
  RESOLUTION NO. 2141 

Approved as to form: 
City Attorney Date 

Approved: 
Eric Swenson, Mayor 

Passed by the Council 

Submitted to the Mayor 

Approved by the Mayor 

Filed in the Office of the Recorder 

ATTEST: 
Heather Pierson, City Recorder 
City of Woodburn, Oregon 

183



Agenda Item 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ______ City Attorney ______ Finance _____ 

September 23, 2019 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council  

FROM: Jamie Johnk, Economic Development Director 

SUBJECT: Option to Purchase Property at 970 Cascade Drive Funded Through 
the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Approve the Option to Purchase Real Property Agreement for 970 Cascade 
Drive and authorize the City Administrator to exercise the Option in the event 
CDBG funding is awarded. 

BACKGROUND: 
On August 12, 2019, the Woodburn City Council held a public hearing and 
approved Resolution 2137 that authorized the City to apply for, and if awarded, 
accept Community Development Block Grant (“CDBG”) funding from Business 
Oregon for the purpose of acquiring real property that would serve as a 
Woodburn Family Resource Center.  A future family resource center funded 
through the CDBG Program would provide essential services to benefit low- and 
moderate-income individuals.  

After conducting a thorough inventory of properties for the Center, 970 
Cascade Drive was identified as the best fit for a Family Resource Center. 

DISCUSSION: 
The City is currently leasing the property (970 Cascade Drive) with a lease term 
through January 31, 2020.  Should the City’s project be funded through the 
CDBG Program, the City would exercise its exclusive right to purchase the 
property in the sum of $1,480,000.   

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
The City will apply for a CDBG grant for the purchase price of the property in the 
amount of $1,480,000.  In FY 2019-20 the City Council allocated $5,000 in 
General Fund Non-Departmental for a potential grant match.  Should the City 
receive the grant, staff will return with a budget amendment in the General 
Fund Capital Construction Fund for authority to spend the grant funds in FY 2019-
20.

x x x

184



OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 1 of 14 

OPTION TO PURCHASE REAL PROPERTY 
 
 This Option to Acquire Real Property (“Agreement”) is entered into this     day of    
  , 2019 (“Effective Date”) by and between Cascade at 214, LLC, an Oregon limited liability 
company (“Owner”) and the City of Woodburn, an Oregon municipal corporation (“Optionee”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. Owner owns fee-simple title to real property generally located at 970-990 N. Cascade Drive, 
Woodburn, Oregon, more particularly described in Exhibit A, together with all 
improvements situated on it (the “Property”).  
 

B. Optionee is currently leasing the Property from the Owner with a lease term through 
January 31, 2020.  

 
C. Optionee desires to purchase the Property, contingent upon receiving funding for the 

purchase through a Community Development Block Grant for which it is currently under 
consideration for.  

 
D. This Agreement provides for Owner’s grant to Optionee of an exclusive option to purchase 

the Property pursuant to certain terms and conditions.  
 

The Parties agrees as follows: 
 

AGREEMENT 
 
1. Grant of Option. Owner, in consideration of the sum of one dollar ($1.00), grants to Optionee 
the sole and exclusive option to purchase the Property, described in Exhibit A in the manner and for the 
price stated in this Agreement (the “Option”).  
 
2. Option Term. The Option Term means that period of time commencing upon the Effective Date 
and ending on or before January 31, 2020.  

 
3. Exercise of Option. Optionee may exercise its exclusive right to purchase the Property pursuant 
to the Option by giving written notice of exercise to the Owner at any point during- and prior to the 
expiration of the Option Term. In the event the Optionee does not exercise its right to purchase the 
Property granted by the Option during the Option Term, Owner shall retain the amount paid as 
consideration for the Option and this Agreement shall become null and void and neither party shall have 
any other liability, obligation, or duty pursuant to this Agreement.  

 
4. Contract for Purchase & Sale of Real Property. In the event that the Optionee exercises its 
Option pursuant to the terms and conditions above, Owner agrees to sell and Optionee agrees to buy 
the Property and both Parties agrees to execute the Purchase and Sale Agreement attached as Exhibit B, 
which includes the following terms: 

 
(a) Purchase Price. The purchase price for the Property will be the sum of one million four 

hundred eighty thousand 0/100 dollars ($1,480,000). 
 

185



OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 2 of 14 

(b) Closing Date. The closing date will be on or before March 31, 2020. 
 
(c) Closing Costs. Optionee and Owner each will pay one-half of the escrow fee of the Title 

Company with respect to the Closing. Owner will pay the premium for the title insurance 
policy that Owner will be obligated to provide to Optionee, and Owner will pay all 
conveyance or excise taxes payable by reason of the purchase and sale of the Property. 
Optionee will pay the fee (exclusive of any conveyance or excise tax) for recording the 
conveyance documents referred to herein. 

 
5. Miscellaneous.  
 

5.1. Notices. All notice, requests, demands and other communications hereunder shall be in 
writing and shall be deemed given if personally delivered or mailed, certified mail, return receipt 
requested, or sent by standard overnight carrier to the following addresses: 

 
If to Owner, to:     If to Optionee, to: 
Cascade at 214, LLC    City Administrator, City of Woodburn      

 500 Marshall Street    270 Montgomery Street                     
 Woodburn, Oregon 97071   Woodburn, Oregon 97071 
 
5.2. Non-Assignment. During the Option Term, the Owner shall not in any way transfer, 
assign, convey or otherwise encumber its interest in the Property. Additionally, no interest of 
Optionee may be assigned, subcontracted, or otherwise transferred, without the prior written 
consent of the Owner, which Owner may withhold in its sole discretion.  
 
5.3. Governing Law. This Agreement is governed by and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Oregon. 
 
5.4. Cooperation. Each party agrees to cooperate with the other in executing any documents 
necessary to protect the other party’s rights and interest in the Property. 
 
5.5. Severability. If any term of this Agreement if found to be invalid, such invalidity shall not 
affect the remaining terms of this Agreement, which shall continue in full force and effect.  The 
Parties intend that the provisions of this Agreement be enforced to the fullest extent permitted 
by applicable law.  Accordingly, the Parties shall agree that if any provisions are deemed not 
enforceable, they shall be deemed modified to the extent necessary to make them affordable. 

 
5.6. Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding 
of the parties, and supersedes all offers, negotiations and other agreements. There are no 
representations or understandings of any kind not set forth herein. Any amendments to this 
Agreement must be in writing and executed by both Parties. 

 
 
 

[SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE] 
 
 

186



OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 3 of 14 

The Parties have entered into this Option Agreement, effective as of the date first written 
above.  
 
OWNER: 
 
Cascade at 214, LLC 
 
 
             
(name, title)       Date 
 
STATE OF OREGON ) 
  )  ss. 
COUNTY OF MARION ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this   day of   , 2019, by  
        as the                of  
       .  
 
 
    ___________________________ 
    ___________________________ 
    (Print Name) 
    Notary Public 
    My appointment expires:_______ 
OPTIONEE: 
 
City of Woodburn 
 
 
            
Scott Derickson, City Administrator    Date 
 
 
STATE OF OREGON ) 
  )  ss. 
COUNTY OF MARION ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this   day of   , 2019,  
by          as the                
of         .  
 
 
    ___________________________ 
    ___________________________ 
    (Print Name) 
    Notary Public 
    My appointment expires:_______ 

187



OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY  EXHIBIT A 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 4 of 14 

EXHIBIT A 
 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 
 

188



 

OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY  EXHIBIT B 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 5 of 14 

EXHIBIT B 
 

FORM OF PURCHASE & SALE AGREEMENT 
 

This Purchase and Sale Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into this    day of     
 , 2019 (“Effective Date”), by and between Cascade at 214, LLC, an Oregon limited liability 
company (“Seller”) and the City of Woodburn, an Oregon municipal corporation (“Buyer”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. Seller owns fee-simple title to real property generally located at 970-990 N. Cascade Drive, 
Woodburn, Oregon, more particularly described in Exhibit A, together with all 
improvements situated thereon (the “Property”).  
 

B. Buyer holds an exclusive option to purchase the Property and if so exercised, both Parties 
have agreed to execute this Purchase and Sale Agreement in the form and including the 
terms and conditions set out in this Agreement.  

 
The Parties agrees as follows: 

 
AGREEMENT 

 
1. Purchase and Sale, Price, and Payment.  
 
 1.1. Purchase and Sale. For and in consideration of the Purchase Price (as defined in Section 

1.2) and the mutual promises, covenants, representations, and warranties contained in this 
Agreement, Seller shall sell and convey, and the Buyer shall purchase the real property, together 
with all improvements, generally located at 970-990 N. Cascade Drive, Woodburn, Oregon, more 
particularly described in Exhibit A (the “Property”). 

 
 1.2. Purchase Price. Buyer shall pay the Seller the amount of one million four hundred eighty 

thousand 0/100 dollars ($1,480,000) as consideration for purchase of the Property (the “Purchase 
Price”).   

 
1.3. Payment. The Purchase Price shall be payable by the Buyer to the Seller on or before the 
Closing Date (as defined in Section 2.2.1). Payment may be made through escrow opened with 
First American Title Company ("Escrow Agent").  

 
2. Escrow and Closing. 
 

2.1. Opening of Escrow. Buyer will open an escrow account at the offices of First American 
Title Company at 681 Glatt Circle, Woodburn, Oregon. Upon mutual execution of this Agreement, 
Buyer and Seller shall deliver a fully executed copy of this Agreement to Escrow Agent.  
 
2.2. Closing. 
 

2.2.1 Closing Date. The consummation of the purchase and sale of the Property (the 
“Closing”) will occur within ten (10) days after satisfaction or waiver of the Buyer’s 

189



 

OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY  EXHIBIT B 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 6 of 14 

conditions to Closing set forth in Section 4.1 below, and no later than March 31, 2020. 
The term “Closing Date” means the date of Closing. The Closing will be conducted through 
escrow with the Escrow Agent (it being the intention of the Parties that all closing 
documentation and funds will be delivered to the Escrow Agent).  

 
2.2.2 Seller’s Closing Obligations.  At the Closing, Seller shall: 
 

(a) Execute, acknowledge and deliver a Statutory Warranty Deed for the 
Property subject only to the Permitted Exceptions and such other 
agreements, documents and instruments as may be necessary to transfer, 
convey and assign the Property to Buyer; 

 
(b) Deliver to Buyer, pursuant to Section 1445 of the Internal Revenue Code of 

1986, as amended, a non-foreign affidavit, stating that Seller is not a foreign 
person and providing Seller's United States taxpayer identification number; 
and 

 
(c) Deliver to Buyer such other instruments or documents as may be required 

pursuant to the provisions hereof or as mutually agreed by counsel for Seller 
and Buyer to be necessary to fully consummate the transaction contemplated 
hereby. 

 
2.2.3. Buyer's Closing Obligations.  At the Closing, Buyer shall: 
 

(a) Deliver to Seller cash or immediately available funds for the Purchase Price; 
and 

 
(b) Deliver to Seller such other instruments or documents as may be required 

pursuant to the terms hereof or mutually agreed by counsel for Seller and 
Buyer to be necessary to fully consummate the transaction contemplated 
hereby. 

 
2.2.4 Allocation of Closing Costs. The cost of closing the transaction shall be allocated 
between Seller and Buyer as follows: 
 

(a) Seller shall pay: (i) the Premium for the ALTA owner’s coverage Title Policy 
required by subsection 3.2; and (ii) one-half of the escrow fees of the Title 
Company. 
 

(b) Buyer shall pay: (i) one-half of the escrow fees of the Title Company; (ii) the 
cost of additional or extended title insurance beyond standard coverage; and 
(iii) the cost of recording the statutory warranty deed and any other 
documents that Buyer may choose to record. 

 
(c) All other expenses incurred by Seller or Buyer with respect to Closing, 

including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, shall be borne and paid 
exclusively by the party incurring the same unless the Parties hereto 
expressly agree in writing to the allocation of part or all of such expenses to 

190



 

OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY  EXHIBIT B 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 7 of 14 

one of the Parties. 
 

2.3 Risk of Loss. Risk of loss or damage to the Property by condemnation, eminent domain, 
or similar proceedings (or deed in lieu thereof), or by fire or any other casualty, from the Effective 
Date through Closing will be on Seller and thereafter will be on Buyer. Seller will immediately 
notify Buyer in writing of any such loss. Buyer shall notify Seller, in writing, within fifteen (15) days 
of Buyer’s receipt of Seller’s notice whether Buyer shall proceed to Closing. Buyer’s failure to 
notify Seller that it will proceed to Closing shall constitute notice of disapproval of the loss. If 
Buyer disapproves of the loss, Seller shall pay any cancellation fee or other cost of the Title 
Company and this Agreement shall terminate and all rights and obligations of the Parties shall 
terminate.  

 
3. Title. 

 
3.1. Title Review.  
 

3.1.1. Preliminary Commitment. Within ten (10) days following the Effective Date, Seller 
will cause the Title Company to issue to Buyer, at Seller's cost and expense a Preliminary 
Commitment for the Title Policy referred to in Section 3.2 showing the status of title of 
the Property, showing all exceptions and conditions, if any, affecting the Property which 
would appear in the Title Policy, and committing the Title Company to issue such a Title 
Policy to Buyer. The Seller will also cause Title Company to concurrently deliver to Buyer 
complete and legible copies of all instruments referred to in the Preliminary Commitment 
as conditions or exceptions to the title. Seller hereby authorizes and directs the Title 
Company to furnish to Buyer the foregoing items. 
 
3.1.2. Buyer's Review. Buyer shall have ten (10) days after receipt of the Preliminary 
Commitment and exception documents to notify Seller, in writing, of its approval and 
disapproval of each exception shown in the Preliminary Commitment. Buyer's failure to 
notify Seller that it has disapproved a particular exception shall constitute Buyer's 
approval of that exception. Any exception that Buyer has approved shall become a 
Permitted Exception. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Permitted Exceptions shall not 
include and Seller shall be required to remove all Monetary Encumbrances, which shall 
be defined to mean (i) any monetary liens, including without limitation, the liens of any 
deeds of trust or other loan documents secured by the Property; or (ii) any mechanic's 
liens arising out of actions of Seller. 

 
3.1.3. Seller's Response. Seller shall have ten (10) days after receipt of Buyer's notice to 
notify Buyer, in writing, of its agreement to cure or remove any of the disapproved 
exceptions. Seller's failure to notify Buyer that it will cure or remove a particular exception 
shall constitute Seller's refusal to cure or remove that exception. Seller shall remove or 
cure by Closing the exceptions it has agreed to remove or cure and the Monetary 
Encumbrances.  

 
3.1.4. Buyer's Rights. If Seller does not agree to cure or remove all exceptions 
disapproved by Buyer, Buyer shall have ten (10) days from Buyer's receipt of Seller's 
notice of the same or, if Seller has not provided such notice, then within ten (10) days of 
the deadline to provide it under Section 3.1.3 to notify Seller, in writing, whether it will in 

191



 

OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY  EXHIBIT B 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 8 of 14 

its sole discretion, waive such objections and close the transaction or terminate this 
Agreement. Buyer's failure to give such notice shall constitute Buyer's election to waive 
its objections and close the transaction. In that event, the disapproved exceptions shall 
become Permitted Exceptions. If Buyer elects to terminate this Agreement, Seller shall 
pay any cancellation fee or other cost to the Title Company, and this Agreement shall 
terminate and all rights and obligations of the parties shall terminate. 

 
3.1.5. Updated Title Matters. The foregoing notice and response procedure shall be 
repeated for any title exceptions first appearing after Buyer's receipt of the initial 
Preliminary Commitment, except that if the time period for delivery of any notice extends 
beyond the Closing Date, such notice and all subsequent notices shall be delivered on or 
before the Closing Date.  

 
3.2. Title Policy. At Closing, Seller will, at its sole cost and expense, cause the Title Company 
to issue to Buyer a standard American Land Title Association (“ALTA”) form of owner's policy of 
title insurance, in the amount of the Purchase Price of the Property, insuring Buyer against loss or 
damage arising from defects in title to the Property other than the Permitted Exceptions (the 
"Title Policy"). The policy shall contain such endorsements as shall be reasonably requested by 
Buyer.  
 
If at Closing, the Title Company will not insure the title as provided above, Buyer may either 
proceed to close despite the lack of required insurance or terminate this Agreement. If Buyer 
terminates this Agreement, Seller shall pay any cancellation fee of the Title Company, and this 
Agreement shall terminate all rights and obligations of the parties will terminate. 

 
4. Conditions to Closing. 

 
4.1. Buyer’s Conditions to Closing. Close of Escrow and Buyer’s obligation to purchase the 
Property pursuant to this Agreement are subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions at 
or prior to the Closing: 
 

4.1.1. Title. By the Closing Date, Seller shall provide Buyer with marketable title to 
Property free and clear of liens and encumbrances except for non-delinquent bonds and 
taxes, zoning ordinances, building and use restrictions, easements of record which affect 
the Property, covenants, and conditions and restrictions of record.  
 
4.1.2. Title Insurance. By the Closing Date, Buyer should be able to attain from the 
Escrow Agent the Title Policy as required by subsection 3.2.  

 
4.1.3. Condition of the Property. The Property has not been affected by any 
development, building, construction, fire, flood, or moratoria prior the Closing Date.   

 
4.1.4. Inspection Contingency. Buyer has thirty (30) days following the Effective Date 
(the “Review Period”) to satisfy itself concerning all aspects of the Property, including, 
without limitation, the physical condition thereof; the availability of any governmental 
permits and approvals; and the feasibility of using the Property for Buyer’s intended use. 
Buyer has the right to perform any tests, inspections, and feasibility studies on the 
Property as Buyer may deem necessary; provided, however, that Buyer will not conduct 

192



 

OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY  EXHIBIT B 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 9 of 14 

any environmental assessment that would require soils analysis, groundwater testing, or 
other studies commonly associated with a Environmental Site Assessment without the 
prior written consent of Seller in each instance, which consent may be withheld or 
conditioned in Seller’s sole discretion. All costs and expenses of all of Buyer’s tests, 
inspections, and studies will be paid by Buyer when due, regardless of whether this 
transaction closes. 

 
If, by the end of the Review Period, Buyer has not notified Seller in writing that Buyer 
accepts the Property and all aspects thereof in its then-current condition, this Agreement 
will automatically terminate. This Agreement thereafter will be void and neither party will 
have any obligation to the other, except as otherwise provided herein. If Buyer elects, 
Buyer may offer Seller the opportunity to correct any items Buyer determines to be 
unacceptable by providing Seller with written notice prior to the end of the Review Period 
of what must be corrected, by what dates, and in what manner (the “Correction Notice”). 
Within ten  (10) days after Seller is given the Correction Notice Seller may notify Buyer in 
writing of whether and to the extent Seller will effect and pay for any corrections (the 
“Notice of Intent to Correct”), all of which will be completed prior to the Closing Date. If 
Seller fails to give a Notice of Intent to Correct within said ten (10) days, Seller will be 
deemed to have refused to agree to such corrections. Within ten (10) days after Seller 
gives a Notice of Intent to Correct (or after the last day of the period within which the 
notice is to be given if it is not), Buyer may elect to (i) cancel this Agreement, or (ii) agree 
to waive its inspection contingencies as provided in this section, whereupon Seller must 
promptly commence and proceed with diligence to completion prior to the Closing Date 
with the correction of the items that Seller agreed to undertake in its Notice of Intent to 
Correct. The failure of Buyer to give notice of its waiver to Seller will be deemed an 
election to cancel. 

 
4.1.5. Right to Possession. At the Closing and as a condition thereto, Buyer shall have 
full and unrestricted right to possession of the Property subject only to the Permitted 
Exceptions. 

 
4.1.6. Taxes and Liens. Seller shall be responsible for any and all deferred or abated 
taxes and related interest and charges, any past due taxes and assessments through 
Closing and shall cause such to be paid and removed at or before Closing. Seller shall not 
be responsible for the payment of any taxes and assessments that are levied against the 
Property after the Closing Date. 

 
If any of the conditions to Buyer’s obligations set forth above fail to occur at or before the Closing 
Date through no fault of Buyer, then Buyer may cancel the Escrow, terminate this Agreement, and 
recover any amounts, including the Purchase Price if deposited and any interest earned thereon, 
paid by Buyer to the Escrow Agent toward the purchase. Escrow Agent shall immediately release 
the funds to Buyer without further instruction from Seller. 
 

4.2. Seller’s Conditions to Closing. Close of Escrow and Seller’s obligation to sell the Property 
pursuant to this Agreement, are subject to the satisfaction by Seller of Buyer’s obligations under 
this Agreement, including, but not limited to, Buyer’s obligation to deliver cash for the Purchase 
Price on or before the Closing Date. If Buyer has failed to fulfill its obligations under this 
Agreement, at or before the Closing Date, through no fault of Seller, then Seller may cancel the 

193



 

OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY  EXHIBIT B 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 10 of 14 

Escrow, terminate this Agreement, and recover any documents delivered to the Escrow Agent 
pursuant to this Agreement.  

 
5. Representations and Warranties. 
 

5.1. Title Covenant. Seller represents and warrants that Seller is the sole owner of fee title to 
the Property, free of all liens and encumbrances, and will defend such title from the lawful claims 
of persons claiming superior title. 
 
5.2. Authority. Seller and Buyer represent and warrant that each has obtained all requisite 
authorizations for the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the performance of the 
transactions contemplated by this Agreement, and that the execution and delivery of this 
Agreement are made pursuant to such authorizations. Buyer is a validly existing municipal 
corporation pursuant to Oregon law and the City of Woodburn Charter. 
 
5.3. Litigation. There are no pending claims or litigation or threats of claims or litigation or 
other matters of which Seller is aware that could adversely affect Buyer's title, use, or enjoyment 
of the Property. 
 
5.4. Encroachments. To Seller's knowledge (a) all structures and improvements, including any 
driveways and accessory structures, are wholly within the lot lines of the Property, (b) no existing 
building, structure, or improvement of any kind encroaches upon the Property from any adjacent 
property, and (c) there are no present or past discrepancies or disputes regarding the boundaries 
of the Property. 

 
5.5. Rights and Contracts Affecting Property. Except for this Agreement, Seller has not entered 
into any other contracts for the sale of the Property, nor are there any existing rights of first 
refusal or options to purchase the Property. Except for those exceptions of record listed on the 
Title Report, Seller owns the Property in fee, free and clear of all liens, conditions, reservations, 
mortgages, leases, licenses, easements, prescriptive rights, permits, or other similar 
encumbrances. Seller has not sold, transferred, conveyed, or entered into any agreement 
regarding timber rights, mineral rights, water rights, "air rights," or any other development or 
other rights or restrictions relating to the Property, and to Seller's knowledge no such rights 
encumber the Property. There are no service contracts or other agreements pertaining to the 
Property that Buyer will be required to assume at Closing. 
 
5.6. Public Improvements or Governmental Notices. To Seller's knowledge, there are no 
intended public improvements which will result in the creation of any liens upon the Property, 
nor have any notices or other information been served upon Seller from any governmental agency 
notifying Seller of any violations of law, ordinance, rule or regulation which would affect the 
Property. 
 
5.7. Bankruptcy or Foreclosure Affecting Property. To Seller’s knowledge, none of the 
following has occurred with respect to the Property or Seller: (i) appointment of a receiver, 
liquidator, or trustee for the real estate; (ii) institution of any proceeding for dissolution or 
liquidation; (iii) filing or any petition for bankruptcy, or action toward reorganization; or (iv) 
pending foreclosure or forfeiture action.  
 

194



 

OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY  EXHIBIT B 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 11 of 14 

5.8. Brokers. Seller and Buyer represent and warrant that each shall be responsible for any fee 
or commission due to any broker employed by either party in connection with this transaction 
and shall not be responsible for any portion of the other parties’ broker fees or commission.  
 
5.9. Survival. The representations and warranties in this section shall survive Closing for a 
period of twelve (12) months. 

 
6. Condition of Property. Excepting only the specific representations and warranties of Seller 
contained in Section 5 of this Agreement, all of which shall survive Closing and shall not merge with the 
deed, Buyer accepts the land, buildings, improvements, any personal property sold under this Agreement, 
and all other aspects of the Property in their present condition, AS IS, WHERE IS, including latent defects, 
without any representations or warranties from Seller or any agent or representative of Seller, expressed 
or implied, except for such warranties that may arise by law under the Deed and except as otherwise 
specifically set forth in this Agreement. Pursuant to Subsection 4.1.4., Buyer agrees that Buyer has 
ascertained, from sources other than Seller or any agent or representative of Seller, the condition of the 
Property, its suitability for Buyer's purposes, and the applicable zoning, building, housing, and other 
regulatory ordinances and laws affecting the Property. Buyer accepts the Property with full awareness of 
these ordinances and laws as they may affect the present use or any intended future use of the Property. 
Except for such warranties that may arise by law under the Deed and except as otherwise specifically 
stated in this Agreement Seller has made no representations with respect to such condition or suitability 
of the Property or such laws or ordinances. 
 
7. Waiver. The failure of either party at any time to require performance of any provision of this 
Agreement will not limit the party's right to enforce the provision except to the extent expressly set forth 
in a writing signed by that party, nor will any waiver of any breach of any provision constitute a waiver of 
any succeeding breach of that provision or a waiver of that provision itself. 
 
8. Modifications and Integration. No modification, amendment, discharge or change of this 
Agreement, except as otherwise provided, shall be valid unless the same is in writing and signed by the 
party against which the enforcement of such modification, amendment, discharge or change is sought. 
This document is the entire, final, and complete agreement of the parties pertaining to the sale and 
purchase of the Property, and supersedes and replaces all prior or existing written and oral agreements 
between the parties or their representatives relating to the Property. 

 
9. Successor Interests. This Agreement is binding on and inures to the benefit of the parties, their 
successors, and assigns, but no interest of Buyer may be assigned, subcontracted, or otherwise 
transferred, voluntarily or involuntarily, without the prior written consent of Seller, which Seller may 
withhold in its sole discretion. Seller's consent to one transfer will not constitute consent to other 
transfers or waiver of this section. Any attempted assignment in violation of this provision will be void and 
of no effect with respect to Seller. 
 
10. Notice. Any notice under this Agreement must be in writing and will be effective when actually 
delivered in person or three (3) days after being deposited in the U.S. mail, registered or certified, postage 
prepaid and addressed to the party at the address stated in this Agreement or such other address as either 
party may designate by written notice to the other. Mailing addresses for the parties are as follows: 

 
10.1. For Seller: Cascade at 214, LLC, 500 Marshall Street, Woodburn, OR 97071. 
 

195



 

OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY  EXHIBIT B 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 12 of 14 

10.2. For Buyer: City Administrator, City of Woodburn, 270 Montgomery Street, Woodburn, 
Oregon 97071.  
 

11. Oregon Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of 
the State of Oregon without regard to principles of conflicts of law. Any claim, action, suit or proceeding 
(collectively, "Claim") between the Buyer and Seller that arises from or relates to this Agreement shall be 
brought and conducted solely and exclusively within the Circuit Court of Marion County for the State of 
Oregon. Seller hereby agrees to the in personam jurisdiction of such court and waives any claims of an 
inconvenient forum. 
 
12. Calculation of Time.  In the event that the date upon which any time period ends or any duty or 
obligation hereunder is to be performed will occur upon a Saturday, Sunday, national banking holiday or 
State of Oregon holiday, then, in such event, the time period or the due date for such performance will 
be automatically extended to the next succeeding day that is not a Saturday, Sunday, national banking 
holiday or State of Oregon holiday. Except for express reference to “business” days, all time periods will 
be deemed to be calendar days. 
 
13. Remedies. TIME IS OF THE ESSENCE REGARDING THIS AGREEMENT. If either Party fails to deliver 
necessary funds or documents, or fails to consummate the transaction by March 30, 2020, the Purchase 
Price, if deposited with the Escrow Agent, will be refunded to Buyer, this Agreement shall be null and 
void, and the parties shall have no further liability to the other arising out of this transaction.  
 
 
 

[SIGNATURES FOLLOW ON NEXT PAGE] 

196



 

OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY  EXHIBIT B 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 13 of 14 

The parties have entered into this Purchase & Sale Agreement, effective as of the date first 
written above.  
 
SELLER: 
 
Cascade at 214, LLC 
 
 
             
(name, title)       Date 
 
STATE OF OREGON ) 
  )  ss. 
COUNTY OF MARION ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this   day of   , 2019, by  
        as the                of  
       .  
 
 
    ___________________________ 
    ___________________________ 
    (Print Name) 
    Notary Public 
    My appointment expires:_______ 
BUYER: 
 
City of Woodburn 
 
 
            
Scott Derickson, City Administrator    Date 
 
 
STATE OF OREGON ) 
  )  ss. 
COUNTY OF MARION ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this   day of   , 2019,  
by          as the                
of         .  
 
 
    ___________________________ 
    ___________________________ 
    (Print Name) 
    Notary Public 
    My appointment expires:_______ 

197



 

OPTION TO ACQUIRE REAL PROPERTY  EXHIBIT B 
970-990 N. Cascade Dr., Woodburn, Oregon  Page 14 of 14 

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL OF CONVEYANCE 
(ORS 93.808) 

 
 The City of Woodburn, acting through its City Administrator, hereby approves and accepts, 
pursuant to ORS 93.808, the conveyance of warranty deed from Cascade at 214, LLC, of the real 
property described in the deed to which this Certificate is attached.  
 
A copy of this Certificate may be affixed to and recorded with the warranty deed described above.  
 
DATED this    day of    , 2019. 
 
 
       CITY OF WOODBURN 
 
 
             
       Scott Derickson, City Administrator 
 
 
 
State of Oregon  ) 
   )   ss. 
County of Marion ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on     , 2019, by Scott 
Derickson, City Administrator of the City of Woodburn, acting under authority granted to him by the 
Woodburn City Council. 
 
    ___________________________ 
    ___________________________ 
    (Print Name) 
    Notary Public 
    My appointment expires:______ 

198



Agenda Item 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ______ City Attorney ______ Finance _____ 

September 23, 2019 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Jamie Johnk, Economic Development Director 

SUBJECT: Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Love INC for 
Governance of the “Woodburn Family Resource Center” Funded 
through the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Program 

RECOMMENDATION: 
Authorize the City Administration to sign the MOU between the City and Love INC 
for the management of a Woodburn Family Resource Center funded through the 
CDBG program. 

BACKGROUND: 
On August 12, 2019, the Woodburn City Council held a public hearing and 
approved Resolution 2137 that authorized the City to apply for, and if awarded, 
accept Community Development Block Grant (“CDBG”) funding from Business 
Oregon for the purpose of acquiring real property that would serve as a 
Woodburn Family Resource Center.   

A future family resource center funded through the CDBG Program would provide 
essential services to benefit low- and moderate-income individuals.  

DISCUSSION: 
Should the City’s project be funded through the CDBG Program, the City has 
identified Love INC as an essential partner to both occupy space within the family 
resource center, but more importantly serve as an on-site manager and 
administrator for the center.  

This MOU is a non-binding aspirational document intended to address the nature 
of a future operating relationship between the City and Love INC in the event the 
City is awarded funding through the CDBG Program for a family resource center. 
While some details of the MOU still need to be finalized, the draft document is 
attached for your information. 

x x x

199



Honorable Mayor and City Council 
September 23, 2019 
Page 2 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
As agreed in the MOU and pending grant award, the City would commit to 
provide the following resources to support the family resource center facility for a 
minimum period of five years:   

• Provide water, sewer, and storm water utility services
• Obtain and keep in full force and effect adequate casualty insurance for

the property
• Provide an annual financial commitment of $5,000 to a maintenance fund

for the facility

200



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC Page 1 of 15 

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING 
FOR 

GOVERNANCE OF THE “WOODBURN FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER” FUNDED THROUGH THE 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT PROGRAM 

This Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) is entered into by and between the City of Woodburn, an 
Oregon Municipal Corporation (the “City”), and Love INC of North Marion County, an Oregon nonprofit 
corporation (“Love INC”) (together the “Parties”). 

BACKGROUND 

A. On August 12, 2019, the Woodburn City Council held a public hearing and approved Resolution
2137 that authorized the City to apply for, and if awarded, accept Community Development
Block Grant (“CDBG”) funding from Business Oregon for the purpose of acquiring real property
that would serve as a Woodburn family resource center.

B. A future family resource center funded through the CDBG Program would provide essential
services to benefit low- and moderate-income individuals.

C. Should the City’s project be funded through the CDBG Program, it is the intent of the City to
acquire and own the property that would serve as the family resource center and then lease
program space to suitable non-project entities that would operate and provide services within
the facility.

D. Should the City’s project be funded through the CDBG Program, the City has identified Love INC
as an essential partner to both occupy space within the family resource center, but more
importantly serve as an on-site manager and administrator for the center.

E. This MOU is intended to address the nature of a future operating relationship between the City
and Love INC in the event the City is awarded funding through the CDBG Program and acquires
the property for a family resource center.

F. This MOU is a non-obligating and legally non-binding document that describes the intentions,
roles, and responsibilities of the Parties who may decide to work together as described above.

UNDERSTANDING 

1. Relationship of the Parties. Nothing in this MOU is intended, or is to be deemed to create a
partnership or joint venture between the Parties. Love INC shall at no time hold itself out as a subsidiary
or affiliate of the City. Further, nothing contained herein shall be deemed or construed by the Parties,
nor by any third parties, as creating a relationship between the City and any officers, employees,
volunteers, suppliers, contractors, or subcontractors used by Love INC to carry out any activities under
this MOU.

1.1 Status of the Parties. 

1.1.1 City of Woodburn. The City, as a non-metropolitan city in Oregon, is eligible and 
has been invited by Business Oregon to apply for a Community Development Block 

201



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 2 of 15 

Grant (“CDBG”) to fund a project that meets the national objective of benefiting low- 
and moderate-income individuals. The City has identified a CDBG-eligible project more 
precisely as opening a Woodburn family resource center. The City is currently in the 
process of applying for $1.5 million in CDBG funding to acquire real property that 
includes a facility that would house or serve as the location of a family resource center.  
 
1.1.2 Love INC. Love INC is a non-profit entity located in Woodburn, Oregon, that 
serves eleven local communities in Marion County. Love INC’s three pillars of service 
include helping people currently in poverty by meeting their immediate needs, helping 
people get out of poverty by meeting their relational needs, and addressing the causes 
of poverty by meeting the community’s systemic needs. Over the past several years, 
Love INC has expanded and grown its level of services greatly and is currently in a 
position where it could benefit greatly by having a more suitable facility from which to 
operate from.  

 
1.2 Authority. Each party represents and warrants that is has the full right and power to 
enter into this MOU and that it is fully ready, willing, and able to perform all its obligations 
hereunder. 
 
1.3 Primary Contacts. Both Parties shall designate and identify a point person to work with 
the other party on any provisions of this MOU and the future operation of the family resource 
center. The City's Community Relations Manager will serve as the City's point of contact until or 
unless another individual is designated.  

 
2. CDBG Funded Project. The City is seeking award of Community Development Block Grant 
(“CDBG”) funding to acquire real property that includes a facility that will serve as a family resource 
center in Woodburn, Oregon. It is the intent of the Parties that should the City’s project be funded 
through the CDBG program, Love INC would serve as the on-site manager and administrator of the 
family resource center for a period of not less than five (5) years.  
 

2.1 Community Development Block Grant. The City is solely responsible for the cost and 
effort of preparing and filing the grant application for the CDBG Program. Love INC agrees as 
part of this process to provide requested information to the City that may be necessary for 
completion of the grant application. The City shall submit its application no later than the 
September 30, 2019 deadline. Should the city be awarded the grant, the City shall be solely 
responsible for managing future grant distributions and completing all project reporting 
obligations.   
 
2.2 Procurement & Ownership of Facility. Should the City’s project be funded through the 
CDBG Program, the City intends to purchase the property located at 970-990 N. Cascade Drive, 
Woodburn, Oregon (the “Facility”), and maintain sole ownership of the Facility for a minimum of 
five (5) years.  
 
2.3 Facility Occupancy. Following the City’s purchase of the subject Facility, Love INC would 
relocate the majority of its operations and community services to the Facility and serve as the 
primary tenant and on-site manager at the family resource center for a minimum of five (5) 
years. Throughout this time, the City and Love INC intend to also identify additional nonprofit 

202



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 3 of 15 

service providers that could occupy additional office space and suites within the Facility as 
available and suitable to the mission and purpose of the center.  
 
2.4 Family Resource Center. The City and Love INC agree to work in partnership to ensure 
that the Facility serves as a functioning and beneficial family resource center for Woodburn 
residents.  

 
2.4.1 Non-Profit Status. Through the duration of the five-year cooperative 
relationship that this MOU contemplates, Love INC agrees that it will maintain its status 
as a 501(c)(3) nonprofit entity.  
 
2.4.2 Program Services. The City and Love INC agree to work cooperatively to ensure 
that Love INC and all other nonprofit service providers located within the Facility can 
and will work in a coordinated fashion and complimentary to one another to meet the 
stated goals and needs of a Woodburn family resource center that provides essential 
services to benefit low- and moderate-income individuals. 

 
2.4.3 Serviced Clientele. Per CDBG Program requirements, the family resource center 
is to provide essential services to benefit low- and moderate-income individuals. Love 
INC and all other nonprofit service providers located within the Facility will be required 
to document and track the income levels of its served clients to ensure compliance with 
this program requirement. Love INC and other nonprofit service providers located 
within the Facility may utilize some variety of the sample client intake form attached as 
Exhibit A to collect this information. An annual report that includes this information 
must be submitted to the City at year’s end. The City may also request records or to 
audit an entities’ records to ensure that this program requirement is being met.     

 
2.4.4 Service Area. Per CDBG Program requirements, the family resource center is to 
provide essential services to City of Woodburn residents, with the exception of 
incidental use by non-Woodburn residents. Love INC and all other nonprofit service 
providers located within the Facility will be required to document and track the 
residency of its served clients to ensure compliance with this program requirement. 
Love INC and other nonprofit service providers located within the Facility may utilize 
some variety of the sample client intake form attached as Exhibit A to collect this 
information. An annual report that includes this information must be submitted to the 
City at year’s end. The City may also request records or to audit an entities’ records to 
ensure that this program requirement is being met.     

 
2.4.5 Non-Discrimination. Love INC and all other nonprofit service providers located 
within the Facility will be required to provide client services on a basis that does not 
discriminate against any person on the basis of the person’s race, color, sex, sexual 
orientation, religion, ethnicity, national origin, age, disability, familial status, marital 
status, gender identity, source of income, veteran status, or membership in any other 
protected class under state or federal law.  

 
3. Facility Management. 
 

203



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 4 of 15 

3.1 Love INC as Property Manager. Following the City’s purchase of the subject Facility, Love 
INC would serve as the on-site administrator to manage the Facility on behalf of the City for a 
period of at least five (5) years. Management services would include: (i) making or causing to be 
made all necessary repairs and alterations to the Facility as deemed advisable or necessary; (ii) 
supervising or overseeing construction of tenant improvements, remodels, or capital 
improvements; (iii) assigning office space and suite areas for occupancy by third-party tenants; 
and (iv) performing other brokerage-type services related to the Facility, such as, screening for 
appropriate tenants, negotiating and signing lease agreements for space within the Facility, 
collecting rents due or to become due, and terminating tenancies as appropriate. In 
consideration of providing administration and management services at the family resource 
center, Love INC will be able to occupy a to-be identified area of space at the Facility at no-cost 
beyond that contemplated by Section 4 below.  
 
3.2 Tenant Identification and Leasing. The City and Love INC agree to coordinate on 
identifying other suitable nonprofit entities that can occupy additional office space and suites 
within the Facility. These entities must have the ability and capacity to provide essential services 
for the family resource center that meet CDBG’s low- and moderate-income client service 
requirements. Once suitable tenants are identified and agreed upon by the Parties, Love INC will 
manage the tenant’s lease, and oversee Tenant’s move-in, Facility access, utility and fixture 
needs, repair and remodel needs, and if necessary the Tenant’s future move-out. A sample 
third-party lease agreement with Love INC serving as Landlord is attached as Exhibit B.  
 
3.3 Tenant Alterations & Improvements. Should Love INC or any other third-party tenant 
desire to make tenant improvements or alterations to the Facility, Love INC shall first submit a 
written proposal to the City that outlines and describes the proposed work to be completed. 
The Parties will then together review the necessity, cost, and impact of the proposed 
improvements and ultimately, the City will make a determination to either approve, approve 
with modifications, or deny the proposal. Depending on the size and scope of proposed 
improvements, the City, Love INC, and the third-party tenant may agree upon a cost sharing 
plan for the design, planning, or construction work required for the improvements.   
 
3.4 Prohibited Conduct. In providing Facility management, at no time shall Love INC have 
the authority to take out a loan secured or mortgaged against the Facility. Love INC will also not 
create, incur or permit to exist any lien upon the Facility.   
 

4. Facility Operation & Maintenance.  
 

4.1 Utilities. 
 

4.1.1 City Paid. The City agrees that it will provide water, sewer, and stormwater 
utility services at its expense at the Facility.  
 
4.1.2 Love INC Paid. Love INC will be responsible for the electricity, gas, and garbage 
services at the Facility. Love INC may also elect to have telephone, cable, and internet 
services at the Facility. Love INC may collect a cost-sharing fee from other tenants 
occupying the Facility that utilize shared utilities.  

 
4.2 Insurance.  

204



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 5 of 15 

 
4.2.1 City Paid. The City agrees that it would obtain and keep in full force and effect 
adequate casualty insurance for the Facility, protecting against physical damage and 
against liability for loss, damage or injury to the Facility.  
 
4.2.2 Love INC Paid. Love INC agrees that it would obtain and keep in full force and 
effect (i) commercial general liability insurance applicable to the Facility with a per 
occurrence limit of no less than $1,000,000; (ii) “all-risk” property insurance covering 
standard leasehold improvements, tenant trade fixtures, equipment, furniture, and 
other personal property within the Facility in the amount of the full replacement cost 
thereof; and (iii) workers’ compensation insurance as required by the State of Oregon. 
All commercial general liability insurance policies shall name the City as an additional 
insured.  

 
4.3 Miscellaneous. 

 
4.3.1 IT Services. As available within its own operational capacity, the City may 
provide Love INC and other tenants occupying the Facility with initial IT setup assistance 
at no-cost. Love INC may then make additional requests to the City for IT support 
services by doing so in writing to the City’s IT Manager. The City reserves the right to 
render such service at its discretion and may prioritize the workload of its personnel to 
provide such services as it deems appropriate.  
 
4.3.2 Furniture/Fixtures. The Facility would be provided by the City to Love INC with 
the fixtures and furnishings currently occupying the space. Love INC would have the 
ability remove or modify these furnishings by coordinating such efforts with the City and 
so long as such modifications are reasonably feasible (e.g. storage of undesired 
furnishings is available or disposal is practical).  

 
4.3.3 Signs. Love INC may place and maintain interior and exterior signs at the Facility. 
Any sign(s) must be of professional quality and be of reasonable size for their proposed 
location. The design of any new exterior sign(s) for the Facility shall be submitted to the 
City prior to their placement and installation for the City’s approval; such approval shall 
not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

 
4.3.4 Hazardous Materials. Neither Love INC, nor any of its agents, contractors, 
employees, licensees or invitees shall at any time handle, use, manufacture, store or 
dispose of in or about the Facility any flammables, explosives, radioactive materials, 
hazardous wastes or materials, toxic wastes or materials, or other similar substances, 
petroleum products or derivatives or any substance (collectively “Hazardous Materials”) 
subject to regulation by or under any federal, state and local laws and ordinances 
relating to the protection of the environment or the keeping, use or disposition of 
environmentally hazardous materials, presently in effect or hereafter adopted, and all 
rules and regulations issued pursuant to any of such laws or ordinances (collectively 
“Environmental Laws”).  

 
4.4 Maintenance.  
 

205



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 6 of 15 

4.4.1 Responsibility. Love INC will be responsible for the general upkeep and 
maintenance at the building, including furnishing and paying for handyman, janitorial, 
security monitoring, and landscaping services to keep the Facility in a neat, clean, safe, 
and sanitary condition for the operation of a family resource center.  
 
4.4.2 City Contribution. The City intends to provide an annual financial contribution to 
Love INC to fund a maintenance reserve account for the Facility. The City anticipates 
contributing at least five thousand 0/100 dollars ($5,000) to this fund per year. Love INC 
may also collect a nominal annual or monthly rent amount from other tenants 
occupying the Facility that would also help fund a maintenance reserve account for the 
Facility. Any rental amount charged must be pre-approved by the City prior to being 
implemented.  
 
4.4.3 Oversight & Expenditures. Love INC will need to maintain and make available to 
the City copies of all financial records, bank statements (deposits/debits), and detailed 
disbursement records that memorialize the maintenance activities at the Facility and 
account for the expenditure of City funds.   

 
4.4.4 Right of Entry and Inspection. The City and City’s representatives would have 
the right to enter the Facility at any time and without notice in case of an emergency, 
and otherwise at reasonable times and with reasonable advance notice to Love INC to 
examine the Facility and to make alterations, improvements, repairs, or additions as are 
required, provided Love INC’s use and enjoyment of the Facility is not unreasonably 
interfered with and that City shall repair and refinish the affected areas. The City would 
provide reasonable written notice of any need to conduct repairs or other work beyond 
normal maintenance and routine repairs. 

 
4.4.5 Damages. Love INC shall be responsible for the direct costs of all damages to the 
Facility associated with its programs and activities, not including normal wear and tear. 

 
5. Miscellaneous.  
 

5.1 Assignment. The obligations and duties contemplated by this MOU are specific to the 
Parties involved. Neither party may assign the rights and responsibilities contemplated by this 
MOU to any other individual or entity.  
 
5.2 No Third Party Beneficiaries. No provisions of this MOU are intended or will be 
construed to confer upon or give to any person or entity other than the signatories to this MOU 
any rights, remedies or other benefits under or by reason of this MOU. 
 
5.3 Future Agreement. Should the City’s project be funded through the CDBG Program, it is 
the intent of the Parties to replace this MOU with a binding operating agreement that better 
defines the roles and responsibilities of the Parties in administering family resource center 
services at the identified Facility.  
 
5.4 Indemnification. Each party shall, to the extent it may under the Constitution and laws 
of Oregon, indemnify the other against all claims, demands, suits, actions, losses, damages 

206



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 7 of 15 

liabilities, costs and expenses of any kind or nature arising directly out of a parties' intentional, 
reckless, or negligent acts, errors, or omissions in carrying out any activity under this MOU.  
 
5.5 Limitation of Liability. The City shall not be liable for injury, damage, or loss suffered by 
Love INC, its agents or employees, on the Facility property, not caused by the negligence or 
intentional acts of the City, its agents, employees, or contractors. 
 
5.6 Termination. As a non-binding document, either Party may terminate any perceived 
obligation or duty set out in this MOU by submitting written notice to the other party of its 
intent to terminate.  
 
5.7 Notices. Any notice under this MOU must be in writing and will be effective when 
actually delivered in person or three (3) days after being deposited in the U.S. mail, registered or 
certified, postage prepaid and addressed to the party at the address stated in this MOU or such 
other address as either party may designate by written notice to the other. Mailing addresses 
for the parties are as follows: 
 

(a) The City. City Administrator, City of Woodburn, 270 Montgomery Street, 
Woodburn, Oregon 97071. 

 
(b) Love INC.          

           
 

5.8 Oregon Law. To the extent applicable, this MOU is governed by and construed in 
accordance with the laws of the State of Oregon. 

 
The parties have executed this MOU effective as of the last date of signature specified below. 
 
 

CITY OF WOODBURN,  
an Oregon municipal corporation 
 
 
 
 
       
Scott Derickson, City Administrator 
 
 
  
Date 

LOVE INC, 
an Oregon nonprofit corporation 
 
 
 
 
       
(name), (title) 
 
 
  
Date 

 

207



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 8 of 15 

EXHIBIT A 
 

NON-PROFIT CLIENT INTAKE FORM 
[SAMPLE] 

[NON-PROFIT’S NAME/CONTACT INFO] 
 
Date:       
 
Who are you Seeking Services for Today?   
 

 MYSELF            SELF + FAMILY            MY CHILDREN            OTHER     
 
What Services or Assistance are Being Sought:          
 

              
 
Are you a Woodburn Resident?  

 

 YES 
 

 NO 
 
Household Size?     
 
Annual Household Income? 
 

   Less than $14,999            $15,000 - $24,999            $25,000 – 34,999           
 

  $35,000 – 44,999             $45,000 – $54,999            $55,000 – 64,999            $65,000+ 
 
Ethnicity? 
 

   Hispanic or Latino or Spanish Origin 
 

  Not Hispanic or Latino or Spanish Origin 
 
Race? 
 

   American Indian or Alaska Native 
 

   Asian 
 

   Black or African American 
 

   Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander 
 

   White 
 
  

208



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 9 of 15 

 
EXHIBIT B 

 
FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER LEASE AGREEMENT 

[TEMPLATE] 
 
 

This [office space/suite] Lease Agreement (“Agreement”) is made as of the last date of signatures 
indicated below (“Effective Date”), between Love INC, an Oregon nonprofit entity (the "Landlord”), and 
[name], an [entity type] (the “Tenant”) (collectively, the "Parties").  
 
 The Parties agree as follows: 
 
1. Premises. The Landlord leases to Tenant, and Tenant leases from Landlord, [describe office 
space/suite] located at the Woodburn Family Resource Center, 970-990 N. Cascade Drive, Woodburn, 
Oregon (the “Premises”), more specifically described as follows: 

 
1.1. Office Space. The Office Space will consist of [describe], more particularly set out in 
attached Exhibit A [Exhibit A can include site plan of facility].  
 
1.2. Common Areas. During the term of this Agreement, the Office Space is designated for 
sole use by Tenant. Tenant shall also have the non-exclusive right, in common with Landlord and 
other tenants, to use the following shared facilities or common areas of the Premises per the 
following conditions:  
 

1.2.1. Parking Area. Tenant and Tenant’s invitees may utilize the parking facilities on the 
Premises, so long as use reasonably relates to Tenant’s occupation of the Premises and 
does not interfere with the day-to-day operations of the Landlord, or inhibit community 
members from parking at, or accessing the family resource center.  
 
1.2.2. Conference Rooms. Tenant may request to use the Conference Rooms [describe 
where/which rooms] on the Premises by making a written request to the Landlord. 
Requests for this use will generally be honored on a first-come-first-served basis unless a 
conflict arises where the Landlord or another tenant requires immediate use of the same 
space at the same time.  
 
1.2.3. Other. Tenant may also utilize the restrooms, lunch and break room areas, 
hallways, ingresses/egresses, landscaped areas, and walkways on the Premises.  

 
2. Term.  
 

2.1 Term. The Term of this Agreement commences upon [date], and unless earlier 
terminated, will expire on [date].  
 
2.2 Option to Extend. Tenant shall have the option to extend this Agreement for up to [fill-in 
renewal options]. If Tenant elects to exercise this option, then Tenant must provide Landlord with 
written notice no later than ninety (90) days prior to expiration of the lease term. If Tenant fails 

209



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 10 of 15 

to provide such notice, Tenant shall have no further or additional right to extend the term of this 
Agreement  
 
Any extension will be governed by the same terms and conditions of this Agreement, except for 
the provisions regarding rent. Landlord shall have thirty (30) days after its receipt of Tenant’s 
notice of extension to advise Tenant of any increase to the Rental Amount that will apply to the 
extended period. In the event Tenant agrees to a said increase, the Agreement will be extended 
for another [period of time] term. In the event Tenant does not agree, this Agreement will 
terminate. This section will not limit the ability of either party to terminate this Agreement 
pursuant to Section [XX]. 

 
3. Rent.  
 

3.1. Rental Amount. Tenant shall pay to Landlord as rent the sum of [$] per month for the 
entire term of the Agreement. Tenant shall pay Landlord all rents in advance, on or before the 
first day of each calendar month. Tenant may also coordinate with Landlord to pay rent in advance 
on a quarterly basis.  

 
3.2. Rental Payments. Tenant shall make all rental payments payable to Love INC at the 
following address: [fill in where payments should be made].  

 
4. Conditions of Tenant’s Use of the Premises.  

 
4.1. Permissible Uses. Tenant shall use the Premises for [describe services to be provided] and 
for no other purpose without first obtaining the written consent of Landlord. This usage will 
include the general office presence and activity of Tenant [during normal business hours (i.e. 
Monday – Friday, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m.)]. Tenant shall not use or allow the Premises to be used for any 
unlawful, disreputable, or hazardous purpose, and shall observe and comply with all laws, rules, 
and regulations of any municipal, county, state, federal, or other public authority respecting the 
use of the Premises. 
 
4.2. Common Areas. Tenant shall have use of common areas within the Premises, as set forth 
in Section 1.2. Landlord has exclusive control and management over Common Areas and may, in 
its discretion, from time to time, (i) make changes to, or modify the designation of what are 
common areas; or (ii) temporarily close any of the Common Areas, so long as Tenant’s access to 
the Office Space remains available. 
 
4.3. Security System for the Premises. The Premises have been equipped by the Landlord with 
a security system that includes [a number of video cameras, security-access points, and 
automatically-timed locking ingresses/egresses]. The Office Space for Tenant will be located on 
the Premises in an area that has secured access by means of [a key/alarm key pad/key card]. 
Therefore, [a key/keycard] will be provided to the Tenant and Tenant’s employees for use in 
accessing the Office Space. Tenant agrees that it will make no duplicates of this [key/key card], 
and should the [key/key card] become lost or stolen, Tenant agrees to notify Landlord of such 
occurrence immediately. [add description of additional security system measures specific to any 
single tenant here] 
 

210



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 11 of 15 

4.4. Guests & Invitees. Tenant retains its right to use the Office Space for their work as outlined 
above, and may from time to time have guests or invitees present on the Premises. In such cases, 
guests and invitees must be accompanied by Tenant’s employees while in safety-secured or 
common areas of the Premises. Additionally, large numbers of guests, or excessive noise or 
disturbances related to or caused by Tenant’s guests or invitees is prohibited.   
 
4.5. Office Equipment & Furniture. The Office Space is being provided by Landlord to Tenant 
with minimal furnishings. Tenant has the right to remove or modify these furnishings by 
coordinating such efforts with Landlord and so long as such modifications are reasonably feasible.  
 
4.6. Printer/Copier. [include description of equipment if available to tenant]  

 
4.7. Phone Service. [include description of phone service if available to tenant]   
 
4.8. Mail Collection. [include description of mail collection service that may or may not be 
provided]   
 
4.9. Signs & Advertisement. Tenant shall not put upon, or permit to be put upon, any part of 
the Premises, any signs, billboards, or advertisements for the Tenant without the prior written 
approval of the Landlord.  
 
4.10. Hazardous Materials. Neither Tenant, nor any of the Tenant’s agents, contractors, 
employees, licensees or invitees shall at any time handle, use, manufacture, store or dispose of in 
or about the Premises any flammables, explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous wastes or 
materials, toxic wastes or materials, or other similar substances, petroleum products or 
derivatives or any substance (collectively “Hazardous Materials”) subject to regulation by or under 
any federal, state and local laws and ordinances relating to the protection of the environment or 
the keeping, use or disposition of environmentally hazardous materials, presently in effect or 
hereafter adopted, and all rules and regulations issued pursuant to any of such laws or ordinances 
(collectively “Environmental Laws”). Tenant shall protect, defend, indemnify and hold the 
Landlord harmless from and against any and all loss, claims, liability or costs (including court costs 
and attorney’s fees) incurred by reason of any actual or asserted failure of Tenant to fully comply 
with all applicable Environmental Laws, or the presence, handling, use or disposition in or from 
the Premises of any Hazardous Materials, or by reason of any actual or asserted failure of the 
Tenant to keep, observe, or perform any provision of this paragraph.  

 
5. Quiet Enjoyment. Landlord agrees that Tenant shall lawfully, peacefully, and quietly hold, occupy, 
and enjoy the Premises during the term of this Agreement without objection or molestation, except as 
provided by this Agreement. 

 
6. Condition of the Premises. Tenant accepts the Premises and all aspects the Premises in their 
present condition, AS IS, WHERE IS, including latent defects, without any representations or warranties 
from Landlord or any agent or representative of Landlord, expressed or implied, except for such 
warranties specifically set forth in this Agreement. Tenant agrees that it has ascertained the condition of 
the Premises and its suitability for the Tenant's purposes.  

 
7. Maintenance, Repair, and Improvements.  

 

211



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 12 of 15 

7.1. Maintenance and Repair. Landlord shall generally maintain and keep the Premises in good 
order, including all interior and exterior doors, wall and floor surfaces, wiring, plumbing and drain 
pipes, and the building's exterior walls, roof, and foundation. During the term of this Agreement, 
Tenant shall pay the cost of all repairs for any damage done to the Premises by itself, its guests or 
invitees, or any agents that it hires. If the Landlord makes repairs on behalf of the Tenant, the cost 
of the repairs will be added as additional rent for the following month. Upon the end of the lease 
term, Tenant agrees to leave the Premises clean, in good order and repair and in substantially the 
same condition as at the time of the commencement of license, excluding wear and tear.  
 

7.1.1. Access. Tenant shall permit the Landlord to use and maintain pipes, ducts, and 
conduits in and through the Premises, and to erect the same, provided that Tenant’s 
usable space is not unreasonably diminished and the Tenant’s use and enjoyment of the 
Premises is not unreasonably interfered with.  
 
7.1.2. Right of Entry and Inspection. Landlord and Landlord’s representatives and agents 
shall have the right to enter the Premises, including the Office Space, at any time and 
without notice in case of an emergency, and otherwise at reasonable times and with 
reasonable advance notice to the Tenant to examine the Premises and to make 
alterations, improvements, repairs, or additions as are required, provided the Tenant’s 
use and enjoyment of the Premises is not unreasonably interfered with and that the 
Landlord shall repair and refinish the affected areas. The Landlord shall provide 
reasonable written notice of any need to conduct repairs or other work beyond normal 
maintenance and routine repairs.  

 
7.2. Alterations. Tenant shall make no alteration, additions, or improvements to the Premises 
without obtaining the prior written approval of the Landlord. Any approval of alterations or 
improvements shall be at the sole discretion of the Landlord.  
 
7.3. Improvements. All building repairs, alterations, additions, improvements, and fixtures 
(except such business trade fixtures belonging to the Tenant as can be removed without damage 
to the Premises or building) shall belong to the Landlord and remain on and be surrendered with 
the Premises as part of the Premises at the expiration of this Agreement.  
 
7.4. Janitorial & Landscaping Services. Landlord shall furnish and pay for janitorial and 
landscaping services required to maintain the Premises in a neat, clean, and sanitary condition for 
the operation of the Tenant’s business.  

 
8. Utilities. Landlord shall furnish and pay for all electricity, water, sewer, garbage, and other utility 
services used on the Premises. [include description about phone/internet utility options for Tenant] 
 
9. Liens. Tenant shall not allow any lien of any kind, type or description to be placed or imposed 
upon the Premises.   
 
10. Indemnification. Tenant shall release, indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Landlord and its 
officers, agents, and employees from and against any and all loss, liability, claims, costs, or damages that 
may occur or be claimed with respect to any person or property on, in or about the Premises resulting 
from any act done or omission by or through Tenant and Tenant’s staff, agents, employees, customers, 
visitors, or invitees on the Premises by reason of Tenant’s use or occupancy of the Premises.  

212



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 13 of 15 

 
11. Insurance. Tenant shall procure and maintain in force, at its expense, during the term of this 
Agreement, and furnish certificates to Landlord for the following insurance: 

 
11.1. Commercial General Liability Insurance.  Tenant must secure and maintain a Commercial 
General Liability policy covering bodily injury and property damage, providing limits of at least 
$1,000,000 per Occurrence and a General Aggregate of at least $2,000,000.  
 
11.2. Worker's Compensation and Employers Liability Insurance. Tenant must secure and 
maintain a Workers Compensation and Employer Liability policy where required by law.  

 
12. Damage to Property on Premises. Tenant agrees that all property of every kind and description 
kept, stored, or placed in or on the Premises will be at Tenant’s sole risk and hazard and that the Landlord 
shall not be responsible for any loss or damage to any of such property resulting from fire, explosion, 
water, steam, gas, electricity, or the elements, whether or not originating on the Premises, caused by or 
from leaks or defects  in or breakdown of plumbing, pipes, wiring, heating, or any other facility, 
equipment, or fixture or any other cause or act and whether or not resulting from the negligence of the 
Landlord or anyone for whom the Landlord may be responsible.  

 
13. Waiver of Subrogation. Neither the Landlord, nor Tenant shall be liable to the other for loss arising 
out of damage to or destruction of the Premises, when such loss is caused by any of the perils which are 
or could be included within or insured against by a standard form of fire insurance with extended 
coverage, including sprinkler leakage insurance, if any. All such claims for any and all loss, however caused, 
hereby are waived. Such absence of liability shall exist whether or not the damage or destruction is caused 
by the negligence of either the Landlord or the Tenant or by any of their respective agents or employees. 
It is the intention and agreement of Landlord and Tenant that the rent reserved by this Agreement has 
been fixed in contemplation that each party shall look to its respective insurance carriers for 
reimbursement of any such loss, and further, that the insurance carriers involved will not be entitled to 
subrogation under any circumstances against any party to this Agreement. Neither Landlord, nor Tenant 
shall have any interest or claim in the other’s insurance policy or policies, or the proceeds thereof, unless 
specifically covered as an also-named insured.  

 
14. Damage by Fire or Casualty. In case the Premises are destroyed or damaged by fire or other 
casualty, as to become uninhabitable, then in such event, this Agreement shall terminate from the date 
of such damage or destruction and Tenant shall immediately surrender such Premises and all interest in 
the Premises to Landlord, and Tenant shall pay rent only to the time of such surrender.  
 
15. Assignment & Subleasing. Assignment of this lease or subletting of the Premises is prohibited 
under this Agreement. Any attempt of Tenant to assign this lease or sublet the Premises will automatically 
terminate this Agreement.  
 
16. Default by Tenant. Each of the following shall be deemed a default by Tenant under this 
Agreement: 

 
(a) Nonpayment of the whole or any portion of the rent, or any other sum or sums of money 

due to Landlord from Tenant under the provisions of this Agreement; 
 

213



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 14 of 15 

(b) Nonperformance by Tenant of any other covenant or condition contained in this 
Agreement; or 

 
(c) Abandonment of the Premises by Tenant. 

 
Within thirty (30) days after written notice from the Landlord demanding performance by Tenant with 
respect to any such default, Landlord may immediately terminate this Agreement and reenter upon the 
Premises and remove all persons therefrom, and in addition or in lieu of such action, Landlord may, at its 
option, pursue any other remedy provided by law or in equity for the enforcement of the Landlord’s rights 
under the provisions of this Agreement.  
 
17. Termination. This Agreement terminates as follows: 

 
(a) At the expiration of the Term of this Agreement; 

 
(b) By the mutual written consent of both Parties;  

 
(c) Provided either party is not in default under this Agreement beyond the applicable cure 

period, by either party unilaterally giving at least ninety (90) days’ prior written notice to 
the other party; or 

 
(d) Per the provisions of Paragraphs 14, 15, or 16.  

 
18. Surrender at End of Term. At the expiration of the Term of this Agreement or upon earlier 
termination, Landlord will have the right to enter and take possession of the leased Premises, and Tenant 
shall deliver the same without process of law. Tenant shall be liable to Landlord for any loss or damage, 
including attorney fees and court costs incurred, as a result of Tenant’s failure to comply with this 
obligation.  
 
19. Relationship of the Parties. Nothing in this Agreement is intended, or is to be deemed to create a 
partnership or joint venture between the parties. Tenant shall at no time hold itself out as a subsidiary or 
affiliate of Landlord. Further, nothing contained herein shall be deemed or construed by Tenant, nor by 
any third parties, as creating a relationship between Landlord and any officers, employees, volunteers, 
suppliers, contractors, or subcontractors used by Tenant. 

 
20. Notices. Any notice under this Agreement must be in writing and will be effective when actually 
delivered in person or three (3) days after being deposited in the U.S. mail, registered or certified, postage 
prepaid and addressed to the party at the address stated in this Agreement or such other address as either 
party may designate by written notice to the other. Mailing addresses for the parties are as follows: 

 
20.1. Landlord. [contact & address]. 

 
20.2. Tenant. [contact & address]. 

 
21. Oregon Law.  This Agreement is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the 
State of Oregon, where the licensed Premises are located, and venue for any legal action will be in the 
county where the licensed Premises are located.  

 

214



MOU FOR GOVERNANCE OF A FAMILY RESOURCE CENTER 
City of Woodburn – Love INC  Page 15 of 15 

22. Severability. If any provision of this Agreement or the application thereof shall, for any reason and 
to any extent, be invalid or unenforceable, neither the remainder of this Agreement, nor the application 
of the provisions to other persons, entities or circumstances shall be affected, but instead shall be 
enforced to the maximum extent permitted by law. 
 
23. No Waiver. No waiver by either party of any breach of any of the covenants or conditions 
contained in this Agreement to be performed by the other party will be construed as a waiver of any 
succeeding breach of the same or any other covenant or condition.  

 
24. Modifications and Integration. No modification, amendment, discharge or change of this 
Agreement, except as otherwise provided, shall be valid unless the same is in writing and signed by the 
party against which the enforcement of such modification, amendment, discharge or change is sought. 
This document constitutes the entire, final, and complete agreement of the parties pertaining to the 
subject matter hereof, and supersedes and replaces all prior or existing written and oral agreements 
between the parties or their representatives relating to the Premises. 
 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement effective as of the last date of signature 
specified below. 
 
 
LANDLORD: 
Love INC, an Oregon nonprofit corporation 
 
 
 
        
[name, title] 
 
  
Date 
 
 
 
TENENT: 
[name, entity] 
 
 
 
        
[name, title] 
 
  
Date 

 

215



Agenda Item 
 

 

Agenda Item Review: City Administrator ___x___    City Attorney __x____    Finance ___X__ 

 September 23, 2019 
 
 
TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council  
 
FROM: Scott Derickson, City Administrator 
 
SUBJECT: Intergovernmental Agreement with the City of Silverton for Building 

Division services 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
 
Make a motion to authorize the City Administrator to sign a new 
Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with the City of Silverton for building 
inspection and plan review services. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
The Woodburn Building division has had IGA’s with other building departments in 
the past, including with the City of Silverton, all of which have expired.  
  
DISCUSSION: 
 
The City of Silverton Building Department has requested to renew an IGA with 
the City of Woodburn Building Department. The new IGA is very similar in 
verbiage to the previous IGA with Silverton. The main revisions are an increase to 
the hourly rate from $65 per hour to $100 per hour, and Section VII additional 
verbiage added by our city attorney clarifying the relationship of the parties. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
For the jurisdiction the financial impact is minimal. 
 

216



IGA Inspections and Plan Review  Page 1 

INTERGOVERNMENTAL AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF SILVERTON AND THE CITY OF WOODBURN 

FOR INSPECTIONS AND PLAN REVIEWS 
 
This Agreement is made pursuant to ORS 190.010 between the City of Silverton, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Oregon, hereinafter called “Silverton”, and the City of Woodburn, a 
municipal corporation of the State of Oregon, hereinafter called “Woodburn”. 
 

I. Recitals 
1. Silverton and Woodburn have determined that they have a need for qualified 

personnel to perform inspections and plan reviews in lieu of their own 
employees who may be ill, on vacation, or otherwise temporarily unable to 
perform their duties, and; 

2. Silverton and Woodburn employ inspectors who are qualified and licensed to 
perform such inspection and plan review duties, and; 

3. It is the mutual desire of Silverton and Woodburn that each agency provide 
personnel to provide these backup services to the other agency as needed, 
therefore, 

4. This agreement is being brought forth to allow Silverton, by and through its 
Community Development Department’s Building Inspection Division, to provide  
inspections and plan reviews on an as-needed basis to cover Woodburn’s 
inspection staff, and for Woodburn to provide the same services upon request 
for Silverton. 
 

II. SILVERTON OBLIGATIONS 
Silverton shall: 
1. Perform inspections and plan reviews on behalf of Woodburn, as requested by 

Woodburn. 
2. Comply with all ORS and OAR requirements and regulations pertaining to the 

inspection and plan review programs. 
3. Provide State of Oregon certified/licensed inspectors to perform all inspections. 
4. Complete Inspection Report Form provided by Woodburn. 
5. Provide identification upon entering job site and state the reason for the site 

visit. 
6. Provide a copy of the completed inspection report to Woodburn within 24 hours 

of completion of the inspection. 
7. Comply with the inspection notification requirements of applicable ORS and 

OAR. 

217



IGA Inspections and Plan Review  Page 2 

8. Provide Woodburn a monthly request for payment to be submitted with a list of 
the inspection requests and plan reviews completed listing each day and number 
of hours performing plan reviews. 

9. Send a request for inspection to Woodburn the morning of the requested date of 
inspection after first verifying with the Woodburn Building Official that adequate 
staffing exists to provide Silverton with backup services.  (Inspection request 
form shall include the site location, type of inspection needed, and permit 
information). 

10. Remit payment to Woodburn within 30 days of receipt of monthly request for 
payment by Woodburn.  Woodburn shall submit final invoice for work 
completed under this agreement not later than 30 days after expiration date of 
the agreement. 
 

III. WOODBURN OBLIGATIONS 
Woodburn shall: 

1. Perform inspections and plan reviews on behalf of Silverton, as requested by 
Silverton. 

2. Comply with all ORS and OAR requirements and regulations pertaining to the 
inspection and plan review programs. 

3. Provide State of Oregon certified/licensed inspectors to perform all 
inspections. 

4. Complete Inspection Report Form provided by Silverton. 
5. Provide identification upon entering job site and state the reason for the site 

visit. 
6. Provide a copy of the completed inspection report to Silverton within 24 

hours of completion of the inspection. 
7. Comply with the inspection notification requirements of applicable ORS and 

OAR. 
8. Provide Silverton a monthly request for payment to be submitted with a list of 

the inspection requests and plan reviews completed listing each day and 
number of hours performing plan reviews. 

9. Send a request for inspection to Silverton the morning of the requested date 
of inspection after first verifying with the Silverton Building Official that 
adequate staffing exists to provide Silverton with backup services.  (Inspection 
request form shall include the site location, type of inspection needed, and 
permit information). 

 
 

218



IGA Inspections and Plan Review  Page 3 

10. Remit payment to Silverton within 30 days of receipt of monthly request for 
payment by Woodburn.  Woodburn shall submit final invoice for work 
completed under this agreement not later than 30 days after expiration date 
of the agreement. 

 
IV. MUTUAL FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS 

1.  Silverton and Woodburn agree to pay each other for services provided under 
this agreement at the rate of $100 per hour, with a minimum of two hours for 
each daily occurrence.  These rates may be adjusted annually (in writing) to the 
mutual satisfaction of both parties. 

2. Payment under the terms of this agreement is separate from and in addition to 
the payments made under any existing agreements between Silverton and 
Woodburn. 

3. All requests for payment shall be submitted to: 
 
City of Woodburn 
Ted Cuno, Building Official 
270 Montgomery Street 
Woodburn, OR 97071 
 
City of Silverton Building Inspection 
Daryl Jones, Building Official 
306 South Water Street 
Silverton, OR 97381 
 

4.  All requests for payment shall include documentation described in Section II (8) 
and Section III (8) to justify payment under this agreement. 

5. Silverton and Woodburn certify that at the time the agreement is written, 
sufficient funds are available and authorized for expenditure to finance costs of 
this agreement. 
 

V.  TRAVEL AND OTHER EXPENSES 
No additional fees are a part of this agreement. 
 

VI. RESPONSIBLE PARTIES FOR ADMINISTRATION 
a. The primary organizations and officials responsible for conducting the 

administrative requirements of this agreement are: 
 

219



IGA Inspections and Plan Review  Page 4 

City of Woodburn:  Ted Cuno, Building Official 
City of Silverton:     Daryl Jones, Building Official 

 
VII. RELATIONSHIP OF THE PARTIES. Nothing in this Agreement is intended, or is to be 

deemed to create a partnership or joint venture between the parties. Both parties shall 
remain solely responsible for the employment and direct supervision, scheduling, safety, 
and performance of its employees while they are assigned to work under this Agreement. 
This responsibility also includes, among other employer obligations, providing for workers 
compensation coverage, payroll and wages, and associated benefits.  
 

VIII. NON-PERFORMANCE 
Neither party shall be held responsible for delay or failure to perform when such 
delay or failure is due to fire, flood, epidemic, strikes, acts of God or the public 
enemy, unusually severe weather, legal acts of public authorities, or delays or 
defaults caused by public carriers, which cannot be reasonably foreseen or provided 
against.  Either party may terminate the agreement, effective with the giving of 
written notice, after determining such delays or failure will reasonably prevent 
successful performance in accordance with the terms of this agreement. 
 

IX. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION 
Woodburn shall, to the extent permitted by the Oregon Constitution and by the 
Oregon Tort Claims Act, indemnify, defend, save, and hold harmless the City of 
Silverton and its officers and employees from any and all claims, suits, and liabilities 
which may occur in the performance of this agreement. 
 
Likewise, Silverton shall, to the extent permitted by the Oregon Constitution and by 
the Oregon Tort Claims Act, indemnify, defend, save, and hold harmless the City of 
Woodburn and its officers and employees from any and all claims, suits, and 
liabilities which may occur in the performance of this agreement. 
 
Each party shall insure or self-insure and be independently responsible for the risk of 
its own liability for claims within the scope of the Oregon Tort Claims Act (ORS 
30.260 to 30.300) 
 

X. NONDISCRIMINATION 
The parties agree to comply with all applicable requirements of Federal and State 
civil rights and rehabilitation statutes, rules and regulations in the performance of 
this agreement. 
 

220



IGA Inspections and Plan Review  Page 5 

XI. COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS 
The parties agree that both shall comply with all Federal, State, and local laws and 
ordinances applicable to the work to be done under this agreement.  The parties 
agree that this agreement shall be administered and construed under the laws of 
the State of Oregon. 
 

XII. AMENDMENTS 
The terms of this agreement shall not be waived, altered, modified, supplemented 
or amended except by written instrument signed by both parties, with the exception 
of the annual review and modification of rates.  This agreement may be extended 
upon mutual written agreement for a period not to exceed two years from original 
expiration date. 
 

XIII. TERMINATION 
This agreement may be terminated by mutual consent by both parties or by both 
party upon 30 days’ notice, in writing, and delivered by certified mail or in person. 
 

XIV. TERM OF AGREEMENT 
This Agreement shall become effective on the date on which every party has signed 
this Agreement.  This Agreement shall expire, unless otherwise terminated, or 
extended by amendment, on July 1, 2021. 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be signed in their respective 
names by their duly authorized representatives as of the dates set forth below. 
 
 
THE CITY OF SILVERTON   THE CITY OF WOODBURN 
 
 
______________________________             ______________________________ 
Christy Wurster        Scott Derickson                              
City Manager     City Administrator 
 
______________________________             ______________________________ 
Date      Date 

 
 

221


	Council Meeting Minutes September 9, 2019
	Crime Statistics through 08-2019
	Arrests by Offenses_08.2019
	Criminal Offenses_08.2019
	Ordinance Violations_08.2019

	Ordinance - TSP and Exhibits A-C
	Ordinance - TSP 9-17-19 (m.g.)
	Woodburn TSP Final September 2019 - Exhibit A
	Blank Page

	Woodburn TSP Exhibit B - CP text amendments 9-17-19
	Blank Page

	Woodburn TSP Exhibit C- Analysis and Findings 1
	Analyses & Findings
	Comprehensive Plan Policies, OAR’s & Statewide Planning Goals
	660-012 Transportation Planning Rule (“TPR”)
	Local TSP’s and amendments to Plans must comply with the provisions of this rule.  One of the objectives of completing this update was to review the existing TSP for compliance. Table 2 of the Attachment 103 includes an itemized list of recommended am...

	CONCLUSION
	Blank Page


	DLCD Staff Report and Ordinance
	DLCD TA Application - Staff Report
	Ordinance - DLCD Grant Authorizing Resolution 09-17-19

	Option to Purchase Staff Report and Agreement
	CDBG Option to Purchase 970 Cascade Dr_ Staff Report
	UBACKGROUNDU:
	UDISCUSSIONU:
	UFINANCIAL IMPACTU:

	CDBG Option  Purchase and Sale Agreement

	MOU Love Inc.
	CDBG Love INC MOU - Staff Report
	UBACKGROUNDU:
	UDISCUSSIONU:
	UFINANCIAL IMPACTU:

	Love INC MOU (draft2) - 09.16.19_

	IGA Silverton Staff Report and Agreement
	IGA Silverton Staff report
	091719_IGA Woodburn Silverton (m.g.)

	Catholic Charities Staff Report and Exhibits.pdf
	Catholic Charities Staff Report
	Exhibit 1 - Catholic Charities Staff Report
	Blank Page

	Exhibit 2 - Catholic Charities Staff Report
	Blank Page

	Exhibit 3 - Catholic Charities Staff Report
	Blank Page

	Exhibit 4 - Catholic Charities Staff Report
	Blank Page

	Exhibit 5 - Catholic Charities Staff Report
	Blank Page

	Exhibit 6 - Catholic Charities Staff Report
	Blank Page

	Exhibit 7 - Catholic Charities Staff Report
	Blank Page

	Exhibit 8 - Catholic Charities Staff Report
	Blank Page

	Exhibit 9 - Catholic Charities Staff Report
	Blank Page





